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material, social, financial, technological and 
human relationships.

Abitare In

The city
IS LIKE A FABRIC

in which the

FORM
a system of

Warp and Weft
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625 €/m2 of net 
saleable area
Average purchase cost
Net saleable area

HIGHLIGHTS

Abitare In S.p.A.

HIGHLIGHTS

Abitare In S.p.A.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS
at 30.09.2020

139 m €*
Value of inventory

46 m €*
Landed property loans

5861
(Apartments)

225.8 m €
(total value)

33% 
Loan To Cost

Order book

Notarial deeds 
completed

at 24.11.2020

4802
preliminary contracts signed

125,000 m2 7 
Degraded areas recovered through urban 
regeneration projects

78,000 m2 7
Concreted areas  
converted to green spaces

69.0 m €
Down payments/deposits
(from customers with 
contracts)

143.8 m €
Landed property loans  
approved

118 m €
Approved insurance ceilings for the 
issue of sureties8

KEY NON-FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Notes:
1) No. of apartments, considering an average surface area of 92 m2. The actual number of apartments built and for which contracts have been signed 
- without prejudice to the combined floor area (m2) - may vary depending on the level of customisation of the real estate units.
2) May differ from the no. of apartments depending on the actual size of the apartments sold. In the most recent transactions, Abitare In has noted a 
significant and progressive increase in the average size of apartments sold.
3) Does not include 12,000 m2 - equal to 130 standard-size units - promised for sale to the Korian Group for the construction of senior living units.
4) Includes 12,800 m2 of net saleable area - equal to 140 standard apartment units - currently being assessed for development into co-living units
through the subsidiary Homizy S.p.A.
5) Of which 12,700 m2 of net saleable area of social housing.
6) Of which 139 social housing apartments.
7) Based on planned and completed units.
8) Guaranteeing deposits and down payments from customers and for town planning costs

196
Units delivered
(number)

233,000 m2 5
net saleable area

2,5301-6 
(Apartments)

Development 
pipeline 3-4

81.4 m € 
Units delivered
(amount)
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Scan the QR code with your smartphone or tablet 
to open the multimedia content

Stilisti Urbani
Made in Milan
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Abitare In S.p.A.

This is US
Founded in 2015 - bringing with it over 15 years of 
experience of its founding shareholders Luigi Gozzini 
and Marco Grillo - within just a few years Abitare In has 
become the major player in the Milan res-
idential property development market, 
boasting an order book of 17 projects in 
the pipeline, equivalent to a total of over 
2,500 apartments.
Building on its unrivalled sector 
know-how and, above all, its highly spe-
cialised and innovative mindset, digital 
capabilities and specialism, the Company 
has developed an unprecedented 
business model that involves creating a 
completely customisable "home" product 
(#Tailoremadehomes) that benefits from 
the economies of scale typical of an in-
dustrialised model.
Abitare In is registered in the special 
“Innovative SMEs” section of the 
Companies’ Register and has been listed 
on the AIM Italia stock market since 
April 2016. The translisting on the STAR 
market, for which the related procedures commenced a 
few months ago, is due to be completed within the first 
few months of 2021.
Abitare In completes urban regeneration projects, de-
molishing disused or abandoned buildings and improving 
the residential fabric of the city by building new family 
homes with a high aspirational value and a strong visual 
and architectural impact. 
While the know-how used in selecting the areas, 
designing the projects and obtaining the required au-
thorisations is managed completely in-house and con-
stitutes the core element of Abitare In’s uniqueness, 
the actual construction of the projects is contracted 
out to primary construction firms, thus eliminating the 
associated risk, thanks also to the extensive use of 
technology that ensures that the Company is constantly 

updated on the status of the sites and is able to take 
prompt action, if needed.
Its real estate projects have always been enormously 

successful, even in the years of the 
financial crisis. The Company has 
developed and fine-tuned its product 
and marketing strategy through strong 
branding and the use of state-of-the-
art marketing and Customer Relation-
ship Management (CRM) tools.
The latest innovative project is 
Abitare In’s proprietary e-commerce 
platform for selling homes under con-
struction. The Company will use the 
new platform to offer customers an 
extremely immersive and complete 
buying experience, delivered through 
innovative technology: the artificial in-
telligence of a virtual assistant available 
24 hours a day, an online apartment 
configurator (similar to those used in 
the automotive industry), the possibil-
ity of virtually visiting the showrooms 
thanks to virtual reality technology, the 

possibility of conducting meetings via videoconferenc-
ing and the digitisation of all the documentary and con-
tractual processes.

In fact, Abitare In’s business model is unique in the Italian 
market, so much so that it has attracted support from 
leading national and international operators of primary 
standing, in both the real estate and financial sectors, 
who have joined the shareholder base and accompanied 
the Company along its growth path. The Group's "com-
partmentalised" structure and the way in which it sells its 
products (first we sell, then we build) makes the projects 
self-financing and ensures the financial soundness of 
the Company.
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THE REVOLUTIONARY E-COMMERCE 
PLATFORM FOR BUYING OUR HOMES 

ONLINE
Abitare In is the result of bringing together 
the visions of its founding sharehold-
ers, Luigi Gozzini and Marco Grillo, who 
recognised the need to disrupt the tradi-
tional dynamics of the real estate market 
by introducing innovation, computerisa-
tion and industrialisation processes used 
in other sectors.
Our strategy and our business model have 
always been driven by significant invest-
ments in research so that we can continue 
to deliver innovative and cutting-edge 
products to the market. The current 
situation brought on by the spread of 
Covid has pushed us to be even more 
courageous and to speed up the research 
and development processes we have 
been working on for some time to adapt 
our product range to the new purchasing 
preferences that are taking hold at an 
even faster pace because of the health 
emergency.
The most recent milestone in this on-going 
process of innovation is the launch of 

the revolutionary e-commerce platform 
that offers our customers an increasingly 
secure, conscientious and complete buying 
experience. 
This new resource, which is an absolute 
novelty in the real estate sector, also at 
global level, for the level of detail, the 
unprecedented User Experience and the 
total integration with business processes, 
involves the use of extremely advanced 
technologies and solutions: from the 
artificial intelligence of a virtual assistant 
which is available 24 hours a day, to an 
online apartment configurator (like those 
in the automotive sector), from the pos-
sibility of virtually visiting the project 
showrooms thanks to virtual reality to that 
of conducting meetings via videoconfer-
encing, from the digitisation of all the doc-
umentary and contractual processes to the 
possibility of making all payments online.
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The Group’s 
new company
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HOMIZY 
Build to Share

Making all those who choose Milan to enhance their personal and professional growth “FEEL AT 
HOME”

Designed mainly with young professionals in mind: young people, aged 18 to 35, who 
relocate from their home towns for work or who want to fly the nest to become more inde-
pendent. 

This target, more than any other, is experimenting with a new way of working, more fluid and constantly 
evolving, requiring a greater level of adaptability, which marries well with housing solutions that are 
more dynamic, integrated with the main services, that facilitate togetherness, sociality and interper-
sonal relations. Young professionals seek and choose co-living solutions not so much for economic 
reasons but because they are consciously looking for more services better suited to their needs, but 
still aren’t ready to take the “big step” of buying a house.

Transforming the “home” into A SHARING EXPERIENCE to bring  
people together.

MISSION

TARGET

Homizy Homizy

Homizy is the Group’s new line of business focused on building CO-LIVING apartments for the Milan rental market.

Homizy is the residential version of the sharing economy: property, space and services are shared to create new social-
ising opportunities through the pervasive use of technology, ensuring the most efficient management and optimisation 
of resources.

The Homizy product, so-called “build to share”, will be 
on-trend and smart residential complexes designed and 
built specifically with co-living services in mind, aimed at 
providing more efficient management and maintenance, 
innovative services and social spaces. The product is ex-
clusively residential - it is not classed as student accom-
modation or as services apartments (too specific and re-
strictive, as well as already more widely available on the 
market). The entry of the Abitare In Group in the rental 
market will enable it to maximise the use of know-how 
acquired over the years. In fact, the new buildings will 
mainly be developed by recovering and/or demolishing 
and rebuilding existing structures - in full keeping with 
the urban regeneration concept - and will consist of large 

THE HOMIZY PRODUCT

apartments with several bedrooms, en-suite or with 
shared bathrooms, and shared living and kitchen areas. 
To a lesser extent, the projects will also include studio 
apartments and multiple communal areas designed for 
various activities, such as co-working spaces, bike labs, 
utility areas, leisure spaces. All Homizy buildings will 
feature “two level” sharing: the first level, within each 
apartment, consists in sharing communal areas (kitchen 
and living area) and broadband. The second level, within 
each building, consists in sharing the main services 
included to support the management of the structure 
and encourage social interaction.
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SYNERGIES 
with Abitare In

platforms, design, development and services

TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATION

areas with higher growth potential than other areas of 
Milan

MAXIMISING MARKET 
OPPORTUNITIES

in selecting the areas and executing pre-construction 
works

EXPERTISE OF ABITARE IN

different customer targets that complement each other

CONVERGENCE OPPORTUNITIES

Homizy will not use resources that Abitare In has 
allocated to its core business. It will be funded 
independently

DIFFERENT ECONOMIC RESOURCES

HomizyHomizy

The Company’s aim is to make the most of 
Abitare In’s economies of scale and know-how 
in order to quickly gain a competitive edge 
in an extremely favourable segment of the 
residential market. In fact, although the 
co-living business is a little more “well known" 
at international level, it is still in the very early 
stages of development in Italy, and abroad, 
with supply still limited and fragmented. In the 
Milan market, Homizy will offer a product in 
the monthly price range of Euro 550 to Euro 
900 per room, all inclusive.

CO-LIVING - MARKET SCENARIO

19 20/ Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 /



22Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2019 // Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020

Smart Co-Living
On-trend and smart residential complexes designed and built specifically with co-living services 
in mind, aimed at providing more efficient management and maintenance, innovative services and 
social spaces.

A unique and innovative product 
to satisfy a new type of demand, moving ahead of the market to rapidly gain a position of 
LEADERSHIP.

Abitare In know-how
Making the most of Abitare In’s economies of scale and know-how, Homizy offers Milan a product 
in the price range of Euro 550-900 per room, all inclusive.

HOW
we can do it

Homizy Business Model

1

2

3
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1 https://www.istat.it/it/files//2020/09/CS-abitazioni-Q22020.pdf

The last few months have been challenging and there 
is a high level of uncertainty as to what effects the 
pandemic has had on the economy, the market and on 
people’s lives. Covid has temporarily paused “reality” 
and the effects are not likely to be transitory. 
In fact, the pandemic has had an accelerating and catalyst 
effect on phenomena and behaviours that were already 
under way but have now become more established. 
The most obvious example is remote working. Because 
people are forced to stay at home, buying a house - 
always a top priority for Italian families - has become 
even more important in recent months. The quality of 
the home, the rethinking of living spaces to adapt to 
new needs (remote working, remote learning, etc.) and 
the healthiness and efficiency of the living environment 
are now at the very heart of people’s search for a new 
home.
The new demand for a “home” product is ever more 
focussed on aspects that are unlikely to be satisfied 
by older properties but which are instead perfectly 
consistent with the characteristics of new builds - 
Abitare In’s core business. Families searching for a 
home today are looking for outdoor space, whether 
it be the private loggias and terraces of the individual 
apartments or the communal gardens, shared services, 
the invaluable bonus of being able to personalise space 
and live in a healthy living environment, with focus on 
environmental impacts and energy efficiency. These are 
aspects that make a difference.
According to the information we have available, acquired 
both internally from projects under development and 
externally from other operators and sector analyses, 
there are no signs of falling demand in the new build 
residential sector. Quite the opposite - customer 
propensity to buy has increased. Although the past 
year’s performance figures for the residential sector 
are not entirely significant, due to the impacts that the 
lockdown has had primarily on buying older properties, 
the results published by leading market analysts confirm 
an increase in the number of transactions (especially 
for new builds) and in purchase prices (for the second 

Focus on: Milan

MILAN RESIDENTIAL MARKET - SCENARIOS 
AND PROSPECTS 

quarter, the 2020 ISTAT report indicates a 3% increase 
at national level, rising to 16% in Milan).
The gap between demand and supply, which has been 
evident in Milan for a few years now (especially for new 
builds), is widening further due to the fall in supply, 
mainly caused by a temporary slowing of the activities 
of large funds (especially international funds) and the 
inevitable delays in obtaining authorisations from the 
Public Administration.
Being based in Milan and operating in the urban 
regeneration sector, the Company has also had the 
opportunity to closely observe the social dynamics that 
are affecting our city: with the spread of the pandemic, 
Milan has proved to have a competitive edge over other 
cities, thanks to the persistently high quality of life and 
relationships. In Italy, the gravitational pull of Milan has 
increased in recent years when it comes to attracting 
talent - young people and professionals who relocate to 
the city to take advantage of the excellent universities 
and employment opportunities. 
We like to define Milan as an “e-scootable city” - a 
city on a human scale, where residential areas and 
services have long co-existed without creating specialist 
“districts” like in so many other European and global 
cities but, instead, by forming different “centres” around 
which neighbourhoods have developed.
Another issue which the pandemic has certainly put 
the spotlight on is sustainability, in all of its aspects. 
For this reason, we believe that the expected trend 
towards decentralisation, the “flight from city”, will not 
take place: a city like Milan - unlike the decentralised 
model that involves creating new services outside cities, 
building on green space, creating links to sewerage 
systems and the electricity grid, increased traffic - has 
one of the most sustainable urban development models 
in the western world.
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Location: 
Abitare in Maggiolina,

Milan
July 2020

AMBITION AND STRATEGY

The aim of Abitare In S.p.A. is to satisfy the housing 
aspirations of today’s families, starting from Milan 
- one of the most interesting markets in Europe 
- and to achieve this by adopting innovative and 
scalable industrial business models, with a focus on 
economies of scale.
The primary objectives of our 
business activity are product focus 
and customer satisfaction.

To accomplish these objectives, we 
develop redevelopment and urban 
regeneration projects in semi-cen-
tral areas of the city. We take disused 
industrial sites located in consoli-
dated areas of the city’s fabric and 
transform them into new, modern 
and elegant residential buildings.
The extremely positive demographic trend seen in 
recent years has transformed Milan into a market 
that offers good returns in the “first-time buyer” 
sector - a sector in which Abitare In is able to offer 
solutions that combine style, comfort and function-
ality with an optimal use of resources at company 
level.
We design and implement exclusive projects in 
the affordable segment of the market, taking in-
spiration from new design and technology trends, 
using state-of-the-art materials, offering higher 
quality products that meet both current and future 
housing needs and with focus on sustainability, 

psychophysical wellbeing and privacy.
We adopt an innovative industrial strategy of selling 
new off plan property, designed and tailor-made to 
satisfy the market demand and the requirements 
of individual buyers, with a view to satisfying the 
needs of all customers. Our marketing strategy is 
based on promotional campaigns that, on a case-
to-case basis, aim to satisfy the housing aspira-

tions of the chosen target market.
The customer is at the core of our 
business activity. We realise the 
complexities of buying a new home 
for families and that is why we offer 
customers a dedicated service to 
guide them through the whole 
buying experience. 
We also focus highly on the urban 
requalification and regeneration of 
the areas we redevelop, recovering 
disused buildings and “creating” 
extra green areas in addition to 

those existing prior to our works. In detail, our 
projects always involve demolishing the existing 
structures on densely built-up sites, and never 
building on green areas.
Our products and their customisability are the 
key to our success. By combining European best 
practices with “Made in Milan” design, we have built 
a winning business model that makes us unique.

Vision & Mission

AMBITION
and Strategy
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Construction to order
We use a proprietary design model to create a wide range of different products in real time, all 
completely customisable to the requirements of individual customers: TAILOR MADE HOMES.
We offer the possibility to completely customise the real estate units while maintaining the 
efficiency (in terms of timing and costs) typical of “serial” production.

Scalable business model
With the use of cutting-edge technology, we are able to industrialise and automate all stages of 
our projects, thus making our business model scalable, also through PRODECTO, a proprietary 
product developed to integrate the different platforms and software used.

Go to market
To ensure the complete efficiency and optimisation of our model, we have developed a commercial 
strategy based on “off plan sales”, whereby the real estate units are sold before the construction 
works start: FIRST WE SELL, THEN WE BUILD.
Our commercial strategy is also effectively supported by project-dedicated showrooms and pro-
motional campaigns.

Made in Milan
We design and build stylish and contemporary products for our customers, that they feel 
represent them, always keeping a keen eye on Milanese design. Our projects go beyond  
the concept of “housing” to become “homes”.
We interpret the “home” in the widest sense - as an emotion, a lifestyle - and have therefore 
created the so-called HOME SYSTEM in collaboration with the best interior design brands on 
the market.

Urban regeneration
All our developments are SUSTAINABLE and involve demolishing the existing buildings and re-
developing the site by rebuilding new structures, with a high degree of social consensus and a low 
impact on the environment.

HOW
we do it

Business Model

Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 /

Location: 
Abitare in Maggiolina,
Milan
January 2020
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HOW
it works

By adopting innovative and scalable business models and combining international best practices  
with the distinctive Milan style, we have created our
UNIQUE AND WINNING BUSINESS MODEL

Satisfying the housing aspirations of today’s families
MISSION

Urban regeneration

Project planning and 
financing

Design

First we sell, then we build.
Down payments from customers 
and landed property loans make the 
projects self-financeable.

We design  
tailor-made apartments.
Design based on proprietary and 
standardised typological models: 
“model 1”.

Sale

All our developments are based 
exclusively on demolishing the 
existing buildings and redeveloping 
the site by rebuilding new structures, 
with a high degree of social 
consensus and a low impact on the 
environment.

R&D >4.5% of production value
Promotional budget > 10%
Marketing & Communications > 5% of 
revenue

Business Model

PRODUCT 
tailor-made home

CUSTOMER  
home = emotion

Construction

“Home” interpreted in the 
widest sense of the word
(furniture, mortgage, 
insurance, after-sale, 
maintenance)

The home as an emotion, 
a lifestyle, a means of 
communication to satisfy 
people’s aspirations

Use of BIM technology.
Use of systems that take into account 
energy savings and acoustics. Tendering 
process open only to major businesses in 
the sector
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THE SUSTAINABILITY
of our business model

Business Model

The mission of Abitare In is to satisfy the housing needs 
of today’s families by offering a completely customisable 
“home product” in regenerated urban areas, involving 
the demolition of disused buildings and the construction 
of new real estate complexes with the highest energy 
efficiency standards and ample green areas.  

The context in which we operate involves different 
interests and our goal is therefore to ensure the sustain-
ability of our projects not only in economic terms but 
also from a social and environmental standpoint. 

We firmly believe in a business model that is not 
purely profit-driven but that generates value for all 
those involved: our shareholders, our customers, our 
employees and our city.
To do this, we work constantly on several fronts:

GOVERNANCE
• We have fine-tuned a business model that offers 
guarantees to our shareholders thanks to the corporate 
structure, the way in which the projects are funded and 
the timing of the developments (first we sell, then we 
build).
• Given that our market - the housing market - involves 
families, the public administration and citizens, we have 
opted to list the Company on the Stock Exchange to 
ensure the highest standards of transparency and reli-
ability.
• Our operations conform to all best practices of 
corporate governance, from the appointment of an in-
dependent director in our Board of Directors to the 
adoption of the “231 Model” and the Code of Ethics, 
which we ask our employees and collaborators, and our 
partners and suppliers, to abide by.
• With reference to the construction firms to which 
we entrust the construction work, we conduct in-depth 
assessments of their reliability and only select firms that 
comply with the best practices to protect workers.

ENVIRONMENTAL
• We focus highly on the impact that our projects have 
on the environment and all our developments meet very 
high energy efficiency standards and include extensive 
green areas.
• We have a positive impact on the fabric of the 
city, through urban regeneration projects that help to 
improve the quality standard of the homes we offer 
to our customers but also the overall wellbeing of the 
neighbourhoods in which we operate.

SOCIAL
• We dedicate time and resources to providing training 
opportunities for our employees and collaborators, with 
focus both on professional matters and on creating a 
positive and proactive working environment.
• We consider diversity not as a barrier but as a real 
opportunity for growth and enrichment for all.
• We believe that people from different backgrounds, 
different age groups, origins, cultures and abilities can 
bring different points of view to the Company and 
make original contributions to the development of our 
business activity.
• At Abitare In, not only do we avoid any form of dis-
crimination but focus on growing a culture that respects 
and encourages individuality so that all those who 
gravitate around our world feel respected and valued.
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CORPORATE BODIES

CORPORATE BODIES

Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l.

Milano City Village s.r.l.

Trilogy Towers s.r.l.

Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l.

Porta Naviglio Grande s.r.l.

Savona 105 s.r.l.

Board of Directors 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  Luigi Francesco Gozzini
Chief Executive Officer    Marco Claudio Grillo 
Board member     Eleonora Reni 
Independent Board members    Giuseppe Vegas 
                                                                             Nicola Picchi

Board of Statutory Auditors  
Chairman      Ivano Passoni
Standing statutory auditors    Marco Dorizzi, Matteo Ceravolo 

Substitute statutory auditors    Fanny Butera, Mariateresa Giangreco

Auditing firm      BDO Italia S.p.A.

Abitare In Development 3 s.r.l., Abitare In Development 4 s.r.l., Abitare 
In Development 5 s.r.l., Abitare In Development 6 s.r.l.,
Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l., Milano Progetti s.r.l, My City S.r.l.,
Hommi s.r.l., Housenow s.r.l., Porta Naviglio Grande s.r.l., Milano Living 
s.r.l., Mivivi s.r.l., Smart City s.r.l., Volaplana s.r.l., Alibranda s.r.l.

Homizy S.p.A.
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 Abitare In is like a tailor...
who makes tailor-made suits.

LUIGI, FOUNDER

We establish synergies and a relationship 
of trust with our customers

MARCO, FOUNDER

over 5000 m2 to green space. The 126 
apartments built will generate an energy 
saving of around 800,000 kwh/year and 
lower CO2 emissions of around 300,000 
kg/year.  
We are also closer to completing the steps 
necessary for the move to the STAR market. 
Abitare In is ready for the challenge of this 
new market and aims to attract interest from 
an increasingly broader group of national 
and international investors and realise its 
potential to the full.
The expectations for the coming year 
confirm our exceptional growth path. The 
demand for new homes - more efficient and 
sustainable, healthier, with terraces, loggias, 
gardens and services in the communal areas, 
and custom-designed - will continue to be 
one of the main drivers of the city’s economy 
and we are ready, thanks also to the solidity 
of our structure, IT systems and technology, 
to grasp any new opportunities that come 
our way. 

Dear Shareholders,

The year just about to end has seen us all, 
as individuals and as a community, face 
a totally unexpected and unpredictable 
situation that has prompted us to do our 
best to adapt to the “new normal” and to 
continue, without interruption, our growth 
project.
Notwithstanding the difficulties, 2020 
has been a year of confirmation for our 
Company. Confirmation that our business 
model generates returns and that our 
choice to focus on innovation, family and 
sustainability - which we consider to be 
fundamental - is still, maybe even more so 
now, a highly strategic choice.
The health emergency, the lockdowns and 
the new socialising rules have forced us to 
speed up and strengthen our research and 
development activities in order to adapt 
to new market demands and prepare for 
new trends. In detail, we have made huge 
strides this year to fine-tune the way we 
market our products and we have created 
the world’s first integrated platform for 
buying and customising a home entirely 
online. We are extremely proud of this 
project, which has involved years of 
investment but delivered exceptional 

Luigi & Marco

results and enormous potential for further 
development. 
The 2020 figures also offer a very positive 
indicator of the solidity of our project: 
notwithstanding the challenges of the 
spread of the pandemic, Abitare In’s 
performance was excellent in terms of 
Revenue (+63.9% vs. prior year) and EBT 
(+30.5% vs. prior year), while ensuring the 
availability of substantial cash and cash 
equivalents without having to relinquish 
investments in growth. 
This year has been particularly important 
as it also marked the end of the works and 
the delivery of the first project launched 
after the listing: Abitare in Maggiolina - an 
exceptional project, considered to be one 
of the most stunning residential projects in 
Milan. We have handed over new homes to 
over 120 families, fulfilling the commitment 
that we made to our shareholders and our 
city - to satisfy the housing aspirations of 
families, whilst consistently focussing on 
the sustainability of our projects. Through 
the Abitare in Maggiolina project alone, 
we have regenerated an area of over 9000 
m2 - the site of a disused industrial building 
which presented serious environmental 
and safety problems - and converted 

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

WeAre#StilistiUrbani
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PROJECTS
under development

Marketed
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BUILDING A   BETTER CITY

Location: 
Abitare in Maggiolina,
Milan (January 2020)
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By constantly applying the founding Values of our philosophy, we are always ready to seize new market opportunities and to promote the 
benefits of developing real estate in an ethical and enriching way, in which  

the individual and the community play a major role.
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We put all our knowledge and 
strengths into play to protect people 
and the environment. We believe in 
the importance of giving a new lease 
of life to abandoned areas, creating 
innovative projects that respect tradi-
tions. Conservation of the territory is 
a right and a duty, which we exercise 
and fulfil with great foresight and total 
dedication. 

We pursue continuous and constant 
social progress by embracing the chal-
lenges that research and studies reveal 
to us every day. The desire to improve 
our processes, our structure and our 
projects is our biggest strength - this 
enables us to be forerunners as well as 
innovators. 

To restore dignity to the city is to re-
store dignity to its people. The central-
ity of people, and their expectations, 
needs and dreams, is of utmost impor-
tance and the founding element of all 
our past, present and future projects. 

We pursue continuous and constant 
social progress by embracing the chal-
lenges that research and studies reveal 
to us every day. The desire to improve 
our processes, our structure and our 
projects is our biggest strength - this 
enables us to be forerunners as well as 
innovators. 

We strongly support and promote the 
importance of preserving and improv-
ing the environment around us. We 
constantly strive to convey a conscien-
tious message to future generations, 
so that they continue to consider the 
environment as a fundamental asset to 
be protected.

OUR VALUES

45 46/ Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 /



47 48/ Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2019 Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2019 /

Abitare In’s urban regeneration projects find 
their roots in the Company’s Values. The 
constant and faithful application of those 
Values is evident not only in the architectur-
al concept itself but also in all the facilities 
provided for in the projects and at the re-
development sites. Abitare In’s Values are 
ingrained in all phases of the real estate de-
velopment process, creating the basis for the 
end product to fully reflect the Company’s 
philosophy and the current level of social 
progress.
   

Recovering
industrial sites to

open them up
to citizens

Reviving 
whole neighbourhoods

• Green Space
• Ending Land Consumption
• Study of Needs
• Services for Citizens
• Improved Security
• Iconic Architecture 

BUILDING TO  REGENERATE

Abitare In
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Location: 
Abitare in Maggiolina
(virtual photo),
Maggiolina neighbourhood,
Milan

HANDING BACK SPACE TO THE CITY, 

expanding it inwards.

+ More Green spaces       - Fewer Disused sites 

Over time, change in cities has been driven by social, political, economic 
and cultural conditions and each historical era has left its mark in terms 

of architectural stratification.  

Cities have inherited huge, now disused, urban sites from 
past decades: industrial sites, railway stations and military 
barracks, now abandoned creating so-called urban voids. 
Citizens may not be aware of the vastness of the city’s 
disused sites as they are hidden away behind inaccessible 
boundaries: high walls and fences are very effective in 
blocking the perception of the territory. 

As if that part of the city is a black hole: it does not exist 
and citizens have no experience of it. 
Recovering these disused areas means mending the 
urban fabric and handing back fragments of the city to 
the community - spaces long forgotten whose identity 
had vanished. 
Urban quality is dependent on the awareness with which 
these projects are approached. “Rebuilding in the built 
environment” says Renzo Piano - a challenge that only the 
best builders can take on given the difficulties involved in 
redesigning something that already exists.
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Location: 
Abitare in Poste,
Ortica neighbourhood,
Milan

Providing
new lifeblood 
to the territory.
Abitare In has an honourable goal: to rebuild in the built environment to 
regenerate in a sustainable way.
With Abitare In, Milan is walking in the footsteps of a movement that is already 
under way in major European capitals, and is leading the way in Italy. It is creating 
architectural gems, set like precious stones in the consolidated fabric of the city, 
to give new lifeblood to the territory. 
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The colours of regeneration
Abitare In develops the art of regenerating the city through projects which, like patches of colour on the 

urban fabric, tell stories of new ways of life and living.

Like a tailor who makes suits and mends tears in the fabric, or a painter who applies bright colours to a canvas, 
Abitare In takes a leading role in the “urban regeneration” under way in Milan, through residential projects with a 

strong impact. From small to large scale, from technical choices to aesthetics, from the spirit to the mind: all these 
aspects speak the language of regeneration, to shape a better place to experience and live in. A shared philosophy 

which Abitare In has made its raison d’être.

Those who have watched Abitare In 
over the years will know that “urban 
regeneration” is one of the pillars 
of the Company. We believe in the 
importance of giving new life to 
Milan’s disused areas by developing 
new, aesthetically pleasing and 
innovative residential projects that 
improve the quality of life and the 
environment, in that they minimise 
the use of land and protect the 
landscape.

Innovation and sustainability are also 
keywords. From the present we look 
to the future, offering customers 
state-of-the-art technological 
solutions that guarantee comfort and 
style. We respect the environment 
but also the balance of the economy 
and the wellbeing of our customers. 
For this reason our projects are built 
to last, to reduce waste and have an 
environmental impact close to zero.
We mend the tears in the city’s 
fabric with sensitivity, competence 
and farsightedness. It is also for this 

reason that we are #StilistiUrbani: 
with our projects we mend the 
tears in the urban fabric created by 
abandoned or disused sites. Through 
a timely but strategic regeneration 
process, we give new lifeblood to 
degraded areas, opening them up 
to citizens, giving them back to the 
local community.
The language is the one we know 
best: the language of housing. 
We all know how important it is 
to feel good at home and how the 
relationship between “quality of life” 
and “happiness” governs people’s 
physical and mental wellbeing. 
And, of course, if all individuals are 
happy, society will also benefit. This 
is our way of contributing to the 
overall equilibrium of the city: giving 
people spaces to live well, that meet 
modern needs.

Our research never stops: in addition 
to focussing on the architectural and 
construction quality of our projects, 
we continually explore the latest 

sociological and cultural trends to 
offer our customers internal amenities 
befitting the modern way of life. 
This translates into state-of-the-art 
projects - unique and iconic in terms 
of choice of layout, systems installed, 
materials used and the lifestyle they 
offer. Each building is different but 
all have a common aim: to inspire 
a new sense of confidence in the 
neighbourhood, also by promoting 
and spreading a new “living culture”.
We like to think of Milan as a palette, 
and of our projects as patches of 
colour. Not faded, static marks but 
dynamic splashes of colour that can 
inspire other actions. A chain reaction 
that has the sole aim of enhancing 
the territory and restoring quality to 
urban areas. Milan will then become a 
beautiful painting, richly detailed and 
nuanced.
Abitare In’s contribution stems from 
a broad vision, that starts from a 
large-scale view of the city, to zoom in 
on the neighbourhood and eventually 
close in on the building and each 

single apartment.
 
“That feeling of serenity and harmony 
with you at its core”: the individual is 
always the most important piece of 
the puzzle, the focus around which 
everything revolves. A broad vision like 
“urban regeneration” will have short 
and long-term positive effects on the 
individual and on society as a whole: 
it is the urbanisation breakthrough of 
the century, the guiding spirit of each 
project, a philosophy that Abitare In 
has made its raison d'être and which 
has secured its place in the Milan 
property market.

From abandoned, disused sites,
sad and faded urban voids, we repaint the 

city with the colours of quality living

Abitare In’s projects paint new patches of 
colour, with green sustainability and the 

gardens at their centre.

THE QUOTE

You take delight not in a city's 
seven or seventy wonders, but in 
the answer it gives to a question 

of yours.

Italo Calvino, writer
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SeMiniAmo is a Corporate Social Responsibility 
project developed by the communication agency 
Zack Goodman in collaboration with the Municipality 
of Milan. In partnership with our Company, the care 
of green spaces and the integration of “vulnerable” 
people at the basis of the project have now been 
transversally extended from the city centre to the 
suburbs. 
To date, through the work of the landscaping experts 
of “Nespoli Vivai”, seMiniAmo has redeveloped a 
total of 6,500 square meters of greenery. Abitare 
In is a partner in this operation, adopting the 
seMiniAmo project and sharing its mission and 
values. Abitare In is devoted to regenerating and 
transforming the city, developing elegant and 
sustainable projects that integrate perfectly with the 
urban environment. The Company does not build 

on new land but transforms disused industrial sites 
into new residential areas with iconic architecture. 
Innovation, sustainability, quality materials and 
design are the keywords of the “Abitare In model”. 

Marco Grillo, CEO of Abitare In, comments: 

“We are happy to support a unique project like 
seMiniAmo, giving back new green areas to the 
city of Milan and supporting, at the same time, the 
integration of people in difficulty in the world of work. 
We immediately liked the project’s mission because 
the values underlying seMiniAmo are the same as 
those fostered by Abitare In: sustainable development, 
urban regeneration, social inclusion and attention to 
the needs of citizens are the values that guide the 
day-to-day modus operandi of our Company.”

FROM THE CITY CENTRE TO THE SUBURBS

Abitare In with in the photo:
Luigi Gozzini, Chairman of Abitare In
Marco Grillo, CEO of Abitare In
Pierfrancesco Maran, Municipal Councillor
Riccardo Belli, CEO of Zack Goodman s.r.l. 
/SeMiniAmo, Milan (September 2020)
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Back to School 2020
with focus on environmental sustainability

Location: 
Istituto Narcisi

Milan (September 2020)

A plant to grow for the students of primary and 
secondary schools in Milan: an initiative launched by 
Abitare In and SeMiniAmo to promote a sustainable 
action for the city. The Municipal Councillor for Town 
Planning, Green Areas and Agriculture, Pierfrancesco 
Maran, and the President of Municipality 6, 
Santo Minniti, hand out plant growing kits to students. 
Thursday 17 September 2020.
The project involves over a thousand students of 
three of Milan’s primary and secondary schools, 
starting from the Istituto Narcisi. The students 
will receive a plant growing kit, which includes 
everything needed to plant Dahlia seeds and take 
care of the plant as it grows. A tree will also be 
planted at each school. Just as each kit will get 
each child involved in sowing and taking care of 
their own little plant, seMiniAmo will take care of 
the tree. Growing the plant therefore becomes a 
symbol of mutual commitment to the environment. 
The initiative has also been sponsored by local 
politicians and representatives of civil society and will 
involve the Municipal Councillor for Town Planning, 
Green Areas and Agriculture, Pierfrancesco Maran, 
and the President of Municipality 6, Santo Minniti, 
who, at 2:30 pm on 17 September, at the end of 
the school day, will meet the students of the Narcisi 
primary school to hand over the kits prepared by 
the Opera in Fiore social cooperative.
Marco Grillo, CEO of Abitare In, commented: “We 
have been collaborating with seMiniAmo for some time 
now with initiatives to support the local green areas and 
to take care of the city’s environment. These projects 

merge perfectly with Abitare In’s mission and modus 
operandi, especially in the field of sustainability: an 
extremely important value that will allow us to create 
an environment enabling us to live well today and even 
better tomorrow. Grow Up Together embodies all of this 
and we just loved the idea of celebrating with students 
their return to school, especially at such a challenging 
time, as is 2020, in the hope of new beginnings and 
confidence in the future.”
Abitare In is devoted to regenerating and 
transforming the city, developing elegant and 
sustainable projects that integrate perfectly with the 
urban environment. The Company does not build 
on new land but transforms disused industrial sites 
into new residential areas with iconic architecture. 
Innovation, sustainability, quality materials and 
design are the keywords of the “Abitare In model”. 
SeMiniAmo has regenerated 6,500 m2 of green 
areas, planted more than 80 long trunk trees, 
sowed 25,000 seedlings and planted over 1,000 
shrubs and 1,700 plants of 40 different species. At 
social level, seMiniAmo has involved more than 25 
people in taking care of the green areas under the 
project.

in the photo:
Marco Grillo, CEO of Abitare In
Riccardo Belli, CEO of Zack Goodman s.r.l. 
/SeMiniAmo, Milan (September 2020)
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#Tailor 
Made 
Homes
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#TAILOR
MADE
HOMES.

Yours.
Home.

Unique.

Endless possibilities

Like a tailor makes fitted suits for individual customers, Abitare In uses a completely revolutionary tool to 
shape tailor-made homes.

TailorMadeHomes

“Tailor Made Homes” is the revolutionary approach 
developed by Abitare In to meet people’s needs. A 
completely new and flexible tool that places emphasis 
on the end customer’s central role in planning the layout 
of space.

Thanks to this system, customers can transform their 
ideas, guided by a qualified professional, into the home 
they have always desired. Like a suit made to measure to 
achieve a perfect fit, the home becomes a reflection of 
your essence.

Is there anything more intimate and personal than the 
domestic environment? Something that simultaneously 
defines and reflects our deepest inner self but over which, 
inevitably, we have limited control for obvious technical 
reasons? So how can we overcome this impasse? How can we 
shape a home to make it absolutely perfect for us? 

Abitare In has the answer: the revolutionary “Tailor Made 
Homes” system. The inspiration comes from the world of 
fashion, from the “made-to-measure” sector. We can ask a 
tailor to make a suit that fits us perfectly but we cannot do 
the same for an apartment. Or at least... we couldn’t until now. 
A home is like a suit: it has to fit perfectly and make us “feel 
good”. It needs to bring out “the best version of ourselves”.
Abitare In takes the guise of a tailor who makes fitted suits 
for individual customers. It establishes synergies and a 
relationship of trust with customers, interprets their needs 
and transforms them into exclusive and original tailor-made 
projects. With the support of the professionals of Abitare In, 
each customer will live in a tailor-made home, shaped and 
customised to best reflect their attitudes and needs, taste 
and style.

After all, our home is a reflection of who we are, it reflects our 
taste and personality but also our needs and desires. A home 
represents the most intimate part of our life but, undeniably, 
it is also a showcase through which we manifest ourselves to 
others - the sublimation of the inner self, a status symbol. The 
home is our private refuge but also a place were we meet and 
share, an image of our ambitions, tastes and approach to life.

Abitare In’s ability to meet increasingly more specific 
customer requests, combined with its in-depth research into 
housing trends, has led to the development of a tool that 
allows maximum flexibility in the design phase, with active 
participation of the customer. This completely new and 
revolutionary approach puts the needs and preferences of 
the end customer at the very centre of the process. Abitare In 
is therefore able to create apartments with the features you 
have always wanted in your home, and guide you through 
the process step by step, with a Personal Architect always 
there to help.
Like a tailor, the Personal Architect transforms your 
requirements  into a tailor-made home. Step by step, you can 
decide the layout of the space and place it inside the building 
in your preferred position. The apartment you have always 
dreamed of, on the floor and with the aspect of your choice. 

Both fashion and architecture intercept changes in people 
and cities and develop their own interpretation of them: the 
former dressing the people and the latter dressing the cities.

The city therefore assumes the texture of a piece of fabric, in 
which the warp and weft coexist in harmony, giving shape to 
an increasingly more complex system of social, technological 
and human relationships. A continuous flow of relationships, 
cultural exchanges, goods and people. A fabric that evolves 
continually, faithfully reflecting the identity of the place and 
the people who live there. That is why Abitare In merges 
fashion and architecture, assuming the role of #StilistiUrbani.

Tailor Made Homes
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136,4 mq commerciali

43,7 mq logge

 #Comfort 1
BILOCALE

Superfici Totali

SELEZIONA PLANIMETRIA
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CLICCA E SCOPRI 
LA VISTA DALLA TUA CASA

Choose the type 
of apartment

CHOOSE

A comfortable home must first of 
all meet the space requirements 
of its inhabitants: identifying the 
architectural floor area that best 
meets their needs is the starting 
point in the search for any new 
home. Start customising your 
home by choosing the type of 
apartment you prefer among 
those available and then decide 
the layout, step by step: Abitare 
In has thought of everything 
to make your experience truly 
unique.

Position your home 
on a specific floor

POSITION

Ground floor with garden, top 
floor with views, east or west 
facing: with the customisation 
tool you can now choose not only 
the size of the apartment but, for 
the first time, also the floor and 
the orientation.  
An extraordinary revolution in the 
approach to design, which puts 
the end user at the centre  
of the decision-making process, 
favouring a flexible and modular 
system adaptable to different 
circumstances. 

Design the internal layout 
of your apartment

DESIGN

The possibilities are endless: 
shape your home by choosing 
an internal layout that meets 
your specific needs. Open 
plan or separate kitchen, 
more living space or maybe 
another bathroom... all possible 
scenarios that bring you closer 
to realising your dream home.

Customise 
the finishes

CUSTOMISE

Live in a home that perfectly 
reflects who you are: unleash 
your creativity and customise 
your rooms to your style by 
choosing the finishes from 
the vast catalogue of selected 
partners. Whatever your taste, 
find the combination that 
best reflects your personality, 
without sacrificing quality and 
the excellence of renowned 
brands. You have just 
discovered how Abitare In can 
fulfil your dream of a tailor-
made home.

Se
t U

p

Step A

Choose the type of apartment 
and the floor plan

Position your home 
on the floor your prefer

Customise 
the finishes and the materials

Cr
ea

te

Step B

Design the internal layout 
of your apartment
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The tools of innovation
Digital Showroom: how Abitare In encourages the active participation of customers 

in the custom design of their apartment. Support tools and devices to become “the creator of 
your home”.

Tailor Made Homes

There are shops for everything: the same applies 
to housing. The starting point of each project is a 
showroom: the reference point for all information 
and the venue of launch events, offering the first 
introduction to the world of the new residential 
project. A physical space where you can find the 
right answers.

Crossing the doorstep of an Abitare In showroom 
is the start of a voyage of discovery, not only 
of a new way of living the home but of a truly 
revolutionary approach to buying a home. It is 
about freeing yourself from anxiety and fear to 
make way for enthusiasm for an exciting new 
concept.

Experience
SENSORY SHOWROOM 

The showroom uses different tools to tell the 
story of the new residential project in a simple 
and effective way. Using new, more advanced 
technologies, Abitare In has transformed a sim-
ple table into an information device.

The Digital Desk contains the full set of informa-
tion on the project, narrated through spectacu-
lar images, captivating infographics and detailed 
floor plans. With the 4.0 tables, answers to all 
questions can be found quickly with a simple 
touch of the screen.

Consciousness
DIGITAL SHOWROOM 

The purchase of the first home is so important 
that it still tops the wish list of Italian families. 
Owning a home carries different symbolic and 
psychological significance for each person 
but the end aim is always to achieve personal 
wellbeing, self-fulfilment and happiness. 

Even in the preliminary phase of selecting the 
offer, the purchase of a new home can be an 
emotionally stressful experience. Buyers may 
be anxious about investing time and money in a 
decision that may not turn out to be what they 
expected.
Building on its experience and continual research, 
Abitare In has created a package of solutions and 
services to help customers through the process. 
The aim is to provide practical support to help 
buyers focus on their wish list to find the best 
solution. No unexpected surprises.

The person is at the core of the decision-
making process: that’s why all of the tools 
have the sole aim of supporting customers in 
their decisions, helping them  to translate the 
technical architectural terminology into the 
simple, understandable language of sensitivity 
and emotions.

A 360-degree service helps customers navigate 
the process and make informed decisions.

Tailor Made Homes
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Tailor Made Homes

Style and quality are essential parameters in 
choosing the finishes of the apartments. In 
the material room you can touch and feel the 
materials and explore first-hand the details, 
colours, textures and formats of the range of 
materials available.

To discover at a glance the materials best suited 
to your taste.The visualisation of the various 
combinations and customisations available 
is immediate, offering practical support in 
choosing and defining the details that will make 
each room of your home unique.

Emotions

Feeling

MEDIA ROOM 

MATERIAL ROOM

Each project is a story: the story of the creator, 
of its inhabitants, of those who understand its 
essence and choose to enjoy the lifestyle it 
offers. In the media room customers can take a 
360° tour to experience in advance the emotion 
of living the spaces.

With the support of cutting-edge technologies 
and devices, the media room plunges users into 
a completely immersive experience to discover 
every architectural detail and the services on 
offer in the new apartments. Familiarising with 
the space is a decisive step towards making an 
informed purchase.

The customer is never left alone: the experience of a Personal 
Architect is there for support at every step of the process, from 
the decision to buy to the customisation of the interiors. A 
professional who can help customers focus on their desires and 
translate them into needs.

The best solutions to meet their needs are identified together, 
making the whole experience of buying a home relaxed and secure. 
Tailor-made apartments, created with the effective contribution 
of all those involved.

Attention
PERSONAL ARCHITECT 
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Your Masterpiece. Your Home.
Building a closer relationship between Art and the home - the path followed by Abitare In in 

designing tailor-made homes that meet the needs of its customers.

The human soul, because of its natural inclination, is in 
constant search of “beauty”. The cultural environment in 
which we are raised enables us to see beauty in art, in all 
things that we consider “harmonious” and “balanced”, which 
somehow makes us feel at peace with the world.

We live in a time where our senses are bombarded with a 
constant stream of stimuli, all the more so in a dynamic, 
modern, avant-garde city like Milan, rich in works of art 
that make it one of the most interesting cities in Europe, a 
unique place where testimonies of the past coexist with the 
disruptive innovations of the modern world.
From the Duomo to Sant’Ambrogio, from Brera to Mudec, 
citizens can experience art in every corner of Milan. Together 
we have realised that it is only when our artistic heritage is 
shared with and involves individuals that it can manifest its 
vitality and inspirational power to the full. So here we are, 
active participants of this collective sentiment: especially 
in these uncertain times, beauty is what allows us to feel 
united. 

There is nothing like beauty sublimated by art to spur one to 
search, to open one’s mind to ever richer emotional experiences. 
This is why we strongly believe in the power of art as the engine of 
unlimited effectiveness. 

The creative spirit and the inherent sensitivities of art are the 
principles that guide Abitare In in the development of iconic projects. 
In Milan, the concept of “art” is manifested in different ways, 
intimately related to its culture: fashion, design and architecture are 
but a few of the voices through which the cultural and intellectual 
ferment of the city is expressed, conscious of the importance of 
form and its aesthetic value.

Art can take various forms. The ones we are most familiar with, 
given the sector we operate in, are architecture and sculpture, 
which in some ways are very similar. Both speak the same language: 
they shape form and volume, matter and space, they rise into three 
dimensions that stimulate the human mind to explore. For years we 
have forged urban sculptures to adorn the city of Milan. Today we 
are going one step further. The Company has formed extraordinary 
collaborations with masters and artists to merge urban regeneration 
projects with art. This approach enables us to give concrete form to 
our appreciation for aesthetics and artistic work as “the food of the 
soul”, and hence, also to the human-centric vision at the basis of 
residential architectural projects. Our latest developments embody 
the approach that we will continue to follow for years to come: to 
accompany our customers on an emotional journey that touches 
the strings of the soul. And we will do so by sharing beauty and the 
value of the work of art with the community.

Each project will see the evocative support of art, through the 
narration of form, materials, colours and textures: the traditional 
narrative of architecture will coexist with the emotional power 
of art so as to more forcefully express the intimate heart of each 
project, to activate a process that is not purely about the economics 
of the project but about enrichment for the whole community.

With this action, we want to be involved in the make-up of our 
beautiful city, through dialogue between the art installations and 
the context in which they are placed.

Abitare In + Art
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Abitare In + Art
Beauty is possible, but also strategic. Beauty, associated with creativity and innovation, has forever 

been a multiplier of opportunities to enhance wellbeing, in every field.

“This is how art becomes closer to people, to everyday 
life and the spaces we share: we install art in our 
showroom, in the homes of our customers, not as a 
narcissistic protagonist but as a co-participant and 
co-actor, at the same level of architectural and urban 
development.”

This is how Marco Grillo, CEO of Abitare In, describes 
the vision that guides the Abitare In + Art project, 
launched in collaboration with Collezione Privata 
Castello Pozzi and its President Rinaldo Denti. A 
completely new format for the sector, which once 
again underlines the Company’s progressive thinking.

Abitare In + Art is a new initiative of Abitare In, leader 
in the Milan residential property development sector, 
which aims to bring human and artistic expression 
closer to the professional narrative of new housing 
projects. The initiative involves installing works of art 
in both company display areas and at launch events, 
and, subsequently, in the communal areas of the new 
residential projects.

The campaign was created in collaboration with 
Collezione Privata Castello Pozzi, recently revived by 
its President, Rinaldo Denti, who commented: “When 
we are able to bring our great contemporary heroes 
back to life in our homes [...] then we feel close to Art 
as it tells our story, our experience of life”. Like, for 
example, the works of art and fine art reproductions 
signed by Ottavio Missoni and Elio Fiorucci on display at 
the viale Umbria showroom. Grillo continues: “So let’s 
consider art on the one hand and architecture on the 
other. The two worlds are related, they walk alongside 
each other on different paths, without intertwining. 
They speak to a different audience, with two languages 
that are not always comparable. As someone once said: 
Art is self-expression and architecture is not, it has a 
function and needs to consider the context it exists 
in.” As a company of Stilisti Urbani, Abitare In believes 
in the Art-Architecture union as a vision for the urban 
regeneration of our cities.

The partnership with Castello Pozzi is as innovative 
as it is fitting, in terms of both affinity between the 
people involved and affinity with the Company’s 
philosophy. Now an exhibition centre in the heart of 

City Life, Castello Pozzi was built at the beginning of 
the 20th century for one of Milan’s most prominent 
and iconic entrepreneurs: Claudio Tridenti Pozzi. The 
context was one in which Milan had already managed 
to assert itself on the international scene as Italy’s 
most avant-garde city, which Tridenti Pozzi capitalised 
on with flair and mastery.
Despite being inexplicably consigned to oblivion for 
several decades, he has now made a comeback on the 
city’s cultural and artistic scene, thanks to the work 
of Rinaldo Denti. Through his meticulous research 
at the Archives of Castello Sforzesco, the President 
of Castello Pozzi has reconstructed the history and 
the collection of Tridenti Pozzi, rediscovering the life 
and the works of a rather brilliant man. Precursor of 
modern concepts like “luxury brand”, “designer” and 
“marketing campaign”, he had the ability to bend the 
tools of the age to his entrepreneurial logic, with an 
enlightened eye constantly turned towards the future. 

A leading figure in the world of fashion, Tridenti 
Pozzi contributed to the creation of a unique and 
recognisable brand and style of dress, communicated 

through advertising channels never thought of 
before: posters on the new means of transport. In 
addition to clothing, he also designed and made a 
range of accessories, which won him awards at the 
6th Milan Triennial exhibition. 
It is not surprising therefore that Abitare In has 
chosen to associate its name with a pioneer like 
Tridenti Pozzi, who, like Abitare In, had the ability to 
merge art with business in an absolutely innovative 
way. 

Following the launch, Abitare In + Art was hailed 
as a success by both professionals of the sector 
and the public. The possibility to discover art and 
explore a new emotional dimension fascinates 
the end consumer and adds value to the homes. 
Because “The force and intensity that they [Art and 
Architecture] are able to communicate should not 
be seen separately but rather in unison, paired and 
merged together to communicate a new message 
that is even richer and more loaded with content”.

Abitare In + Art
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THE QUOTE

Genius: the embrace
Two towers that embrace each other, symbolising the ties between art and science. 

That is where genius comes from, the union between architecture and engineering that distinguished great artists
like Leonardo, who was everything: artist, scientist and precursor.

Leonardo’s death.
The story of the sculpture could be the narrative 
of architecture: the poetics at the basis of the 
two forms of artistic expression, different but 
intimately related, is the same. The art installation 
becomes, in this case, the emotional narrative 
of architecture, the natural expression of its 
intrinsic values, that go well beyond the structural  
and functional aspects of the science. Each building 
is a piece of the city, a space that becomes a place, 
a place that becomes the set of everyday life. Not 
simply bricks and mortar.

It is something much deeper: it is the poetic and 
artistic expression of the essence of Abitare In’s 
urban regeneration projects. With a human gesture, 
an embrace, the artist demonstrates the aim of 
architecture to unite in a gesture of human participation 
and sharing, to become the representation of a single 
element: sustainable architecture.

The Abitare In + Art initiative introduces a new way of 
exploring the intimate dimension of architecture. And 
for the first time, art becomes a feature of the garden 
of the home.

The sculpture, forged by the artist Antonio La 
Rosa, winner of the competition launched by the 
municipality of Vinci in 2019, is now installed at the 
showroom but will eventually become part of the 
gardens of the Palazzo. 

“When a monumental work celebrating such an 
important figure from the past, as is Leonardo da 
Vinci, manages to cross the threshold of modernity, 
transforming the undisputed values of the Italian 
Genius into modern, concrete ideas that help us 
live better, then the work of art will have come into 
existence in a remarkable embrace of space and 
time.”These are the words chosen by Rinaldo Denti, 
President of the Unione Cavalieri di Leonardo da Vinci, 
to describe the sculpture selected by the municipality 
of Vinci to celebrate the 500th anniversary of 

“Genius: the embrace” is the first work of art of
the Abitare In + Art initiative, presented at the
opening of the “Palazzo Naviglio” showroom.  
The event was attended by all those who contributed to 
the project, to promote and share the initiative with the  
large audience. 

Innovation is the specific 
instrument of entrepreneurship,

the act that endows resources with 
a new capacity 

to create wealth.

Peter F. Drucker, economist
Work of Art: Genius: the embrace
Location: Palazzo Naviglio showroom
November 2019

Abitare In + Art
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Love Art 4 All

This original and hypnotic house of luminous cards 
is a work of art created by two icons of the glob-
al fashion industry, Elio Fiorucci with his sister  
Floria Fiorucci and Ottavio Missoni, presented as art-
ists in their own right.

Art and fashion are a symbiotic and inseparable 
pairing, two worlds that contaminate and stimulate 
one another. Elio Fiorucci, who died in 2015 after 
a long career in fashion, was a true Milanese, an 
eclectic figure who perfectly embodied this dualism. 
It was the end of the 60s, when the British influence 
of Swinging London reigned supreme, that Fiorucci 
opened his first store in Galleria Passarella. A 
creative, irreverent and revolutionary genius,  he was 
the first to apply the artistic concept of Ready-Made 
to textiles, giving us truly avant-garde pieces. 

The bond between art, fashion and design can also 
be seen in the architecture of the store itself, which 
explores the relationship between sculpture, music 
and new technology. Defining Fiorucci as just a 
designer is therefore reductive: throughout his career 
he researched, experimented and communicated 

with great immediacy and spirit of observation. 
Missoni is one of the most famous, loved and 
recognisable fashion and design brands in the 
world. Synonymous with luxury knitwear, Missoni 
was founded in 1953 in the province of Varese by 
Ottavio and Rosita Missoni. Their constant research, 
experimentation and incredible innovative spirit 
established the brand as a worldwide success from 
the 1970s onwards: by day and by night, in winter 
and summer, the most distinguished women and 
men wore the comfortable zig-zag jumpers, wool 
and cotton thread cardigans, fringed lurex dresses, 
striped skirts and “slub” fabrics. The colour 
nuances, the forms and the printed fabrics became 
the real “trademark” of the brand, making Missoni 
garments recognisable at first sight.

The experience of Fiorucci and Missoni 
teaches us that art is everywhere: in 
the little things, in simplicity, in the  
ability to combine different images to create new 
original ones full of meaning. While perseverance, 
tenacity and determination are fundamental 
factors in conducting effective research, a touch of 
sane insanity, creativity and imagination 

are irreplaceable values in any artistic 
process. Rational and irrational, reason  
and sentiment, logic and creativity: pairings that 
Abitare In also applies.

Love Art 4 All stems from the ingenious creativity, 
spirit of generosity and ideas of Fiorucci and 
Missoni, in collaboration with the artist and printer 
Giuliano Grittini, and the innovative President of 
Castello Pozzi Rinaldo Denti. The idea came to 
them during a meeting: amidst evocative images, 
symbolic values and entrepreneurial visions, the 
opportunity emerged to celebrate Fiorucci’s style as 
an artist and an intellectual through a monumental 
work with strong historical and cultural content. It 
was 2014.

Fiorucci wanted to celebrate not only himself 
but also his friend and colleague Missoni, using a 
combination of light, shapes, colours and meanings 
that, starting from fashion, art and design, could 
be enjoyed by everyone and not just by a limited 
audience.

Work of Art: Love Art 4 All
Location: Castello Pozzi
July 2020

Abitare In + Art

“Fiorucci coordinates iconographic choices that perfectly encapsulate half a century 
of art and history; on the other hand, Missoni, like an old “master of art”, composes 

textures of refined chromaticism that evoke the tempo of entrancing musical scores.” 
Hence the creation of the work of art Love Art 4 All, a tribute to the idea of “art for all”.
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With its hermetic meanings, Love Art 4 All is a work of art created for everyone, a form 
of “democratisation” of art itself, a combination of images and light that everyone can 
interpret according to their own sensitivity, inspiration and background. A futuristic-

looking work of great social and cultural value.

A work of art for all

Abitare In + Art

Love Art 4 All remained in Milan for 5 years, located in 
front of Castello Pozzi, in the City Life area, on a seemingly 
anonymous thoroughfare dotted with greenery, in the 
midst of posh residential buildings. Suddenly something 
catches the attention of passers-by, arousing  curiosity 
and, at times, bewilderment. Instagrammers and 
photographers alike have spread this work of art around 
the world showing it to millions of people through 
the web, without ever realising its author, its story, its 
meaning.

Everyone was free to dream and see in it what they 
wanted, according to the spirit of democratisation 
inherent in the work itself. The meeting between Rinaldo 
Denti and Marco Grillo was unequivocally a sign of 
destiny. The former brought with him the artistic-cultural 
and historical values that perfectly complemented the 
latter’s enlightened sensitivity and entrepreneurship. 
A worthy and important location for Fiorucci’s work 
needed to be found, a place that could accommodate 
and celebrate not only the figure of the brilliant Milanese 
designer, so dear to Milan and its citizens, but also the 
work itself, so intimately linked to him. Milan and its 
citizens deserved to re-embrace their fellow citizen with 
a tribute worthy of his importance and legacy.

Hence the decision to make the “Tribute to Elio Fiorucci” 
a reality by combining it with the real estate project of 
Savona 105, the place where the work of art will find its 
permanent home. In a context where one can breathe in 
the spirit of art, design, fashion, culture and humanity, 
the creativity and magic of the work find their place 
alongside the elegance, modernity and beauty of the 
building, in a celebration of values that will last forever. 
For all to enjoy.

Work of Art: Love Art 4 All
Location: Castello Pozzi

(July 2020)
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ICONIC   PROJECTS
Location: Savona 105
(virtual photo - park at night)
via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona
Milan
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This report is interactive

Palazzo Naviglio - project Savona 105 - project

WATCH OUR
VIDEOS

Scan the QR code with your smartphone or tablet 
to open the multimedia content

READ MORE 

Scan the QR code with your smartphone or tablet 
to open the multimedia content

MULTIMEDIA
CONTENT
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Location:
Abitare in Poste
Neighbourhood:
Ortica Milan

ABITARE IN POSTE
The residential complex is located on the former 
site of the East Milan Post Office distribution 

centre, dating back to the 60s/70s. 

Abitare In Poste has retained the typical character of a 
"village": three architectural structures aligned to create 
an internal courtyard - which still bears the old post office 
sign as a tribute to the history of the place - and a shared 
green area. 
The bulk of the structure has sharp, clean volumes and is 
dark in colour to minimise its architectural mass. 

In contrast, the light wood detailing of the parapets 
slips out like drawers. The configuration of the parapets 
and openings is spontaneous in appearance, following 
a composition logic that reflects a sense of balance, 
symmetry and proportion. The design of the ground floor 
makes a feature out of the different levels, roofed and 
unroofed areas, green tanks that become planter boxes, 
steps and ramps, monumental features that play with 
light to embellish the shared areas and pathways.

The residential complex Abitare In Poste springs from 
the Company’s strong focus on urban regeneration 
and from the desire to restore dignity to one of Milan’s 
historic villages - the Ortica neighbourhood. A place full 
of history and art, as told in the songs of great artists like 
Enzo Jannacci and Giorgio Gaber, and by film directors 
like Vittorio de Sica. While the historic settlement of 
farmhouses and inns no longer exists, it has preserved its 
charm and authenticity intact: a place where you can still 
breathe the spirit of the authentic Milanese way of life. A 
place rich in traditions and Values, it has become an “open-
air museum”, where the Milanese history of the twentieth 
century is told through the murals. An itinerary through 
images, from the Martinitt orphans to the women of the 
Resistance, from Cardinal Ferrari to the partisan Morandi. A 
mural narrative that tells the stories of the “short century” 
that forged the identity of the neighbourhood and Milan.
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Location:
Abitare in Poste
Neighbourhood:
Ortica Milan

Location:
Abitare in Poste
Neighbourhood:

Ortica Milan
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ABITARE IN MAGGIOLINA
In the Abitare in Maggiolina project, architecture and nature merge 
and liaise to create a unique backdrop in the heart of the Maggiolina 
neighbourhood, known for its natural beauty spots on the Martesana 
and for its orchards and splendid villas. 

Abitare in Maggiolina has altogether transformed an 
abandoned, run-down area - where once stood the headquar-
ters of the daily newspaper Il Giorno - with a development that 
embodies the idea of merging residential housing with the re-
discovered value of nature, private and shared, for adults and 
children alike.

The icon of the project is the system of suspended white 
floors, of an evident formal clarity, which rise one after the 
other, leaving free and flexible the space between them.

Each terrace becomes a supporting structure for nature to 
develop. 
A skilful alternation of hanging parapets gives a green tone to 
the outdoor private areas, transforming them into authentic 
high-rise gardens, irresistible features, corners of paradise to 
enjoy the Milan skyline from.
The materials used for the external cladding and the interiors 
also echo the effects and the forms of nature.

All glazed components, from the generous openings to the 
parapets, soften the bulk of the two buildings - Sky Tower and 
Maggiolina Gardens - making them light and contemporary.

Linking the residential development to the city, an enormous 
park offering a completely immersive experience: lawned 
and paved areas, environments where a range of shrubbery 
creates a natural backdrop.

Location:
Abitare in Maggiolina 

Sky Tower detail
via privata Tarvisio

Neighbourhood: Maggiolina
Milan (June 2020)
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Location:
Abitare in Maggiolina 
Sky Tower 
via privata Tarvisio
Neighbourhood: Maggiolina
Milan (October 2020)
 

Location:
Abitare in Maggiolina 
Sky Garden
via privata Tarvisio
Neighbourhood: Maggiolina
Milan (October 2020)
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Location: Milano City Village 
(virtual photo)

via Cornelio Tacito
Viale Umbria area

Milan

An abandoned building, an inaccessible boundary. 
Long shadows stretch across an empty street. 
Spaces within the city but unknown to the 
community. The former industrial site at via Tacito 
was a perfect example of urban void, which has 
finally been given a brand new lease of life with 
the Milano City Village project. 

The design concept takes inspiration from the 
square, as a centralising element, a catalyst of 
social interaction and an accelerator of relation-
ships, a space placed at the centre, metaphorically 
and physically, of the built complex. 

In keeping with the style of the typical Milanese 
inner courtyards, Milano City Village has its own 
internal space, a place where one can rediscover 
the essence of the human dimension. 
A courtyard that is a piazza, a meeting place, a 
zone of passage or a space to relax in, to rediscover 
a sense of communion with oneself and the 
community.

In Milano City Village the mosaic effect of the 
facade features ample, deep loggias, jutting out 
here and there like delightful suspended terraces. 
The contrast between solids and voids enlivens 
the facades and creates a new architectural 
landscape: an urban scenario that was not there 
before, mending the tear between the consolidat-
ed historical city and the new city in expansion. 

The former industrial 
site at via Tacito was 
a perfect example of 
urban void, which has 
finally been given a 
brand new lease of life  
with the Milano City  
Village project. 

MILANO CITY VILLAGE:  
THE PRESENT THAT REWEAVES

THE ARCHITECTURAL PAST AND FUTURE 
by Abitare In®
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Location: Milano City Village
(virtual photo - loggia) 
via Cornelio Tacito
Viale Umbria area
Milan
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A courtyard that is a piazza, 
a meeting place, 
a zone of passage or a space to relax in.

Location: Milano City Village
(virtual photo - entrance) 
via Cornelio Tacito
Viale Umbria area
Milan
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Location: construction site 
Milano City Village
via Cornelio Tacito
Viale Umbria area
Milan (November 2020)
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TRILOGY TOWERS:  
GOLD, DIAMOND AND PLATINUM.  

THREE EVOCATIVE NAMES FOR THE  
ARCHITECTURAL COMPLEX  

IN THE PORTELLO AREA,
by Abitare In®

A new jewel emerges from the rubble of an urban void. 
A residential complex of three towers with evocative 
names: Gold, Diamond and Platinum.
Trilogy Towers hands back a precious fragment of the city 
to the community in the form of a brand new residential 
complex, with architectural and compositional features 
that give renewed vitality to the local area. 

The project is based at Via Gallarate, in the north-west 
area of Milan, which has been known as an experimen-
tal district from the early 20th century. Once home to 
important industries, the area now offers enormous re-
generation opportunities. It is no coincidence that the 
area is on axis with the City Life - Tre Torri and Portello 
projects, two major urbanisation initiatives that have 
recently transformed the face of the city of Milan.  

Trilogy Towers is unique for the meticulous design of 
the facades, finely chiselled as if by the skilled hands of 
a goldsmith. Stylish metallic detailing makes the surfaces 
precious and iridescent. Like a jewel. 
The interplay of solids and voids, the juxtaposition 
of different materials and the different depths of the 
elements convey movement and dynamism to the facade.

“There’s no 
 place 
 like home”.
Lyman Frank Baum, author

Location: Trilogy Towers, Milan
(virtual photo)

via privata Somalia 1
Neighbourhood: Portello 

Milan
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Location: Trilogy Towers, Milan
(virtual photo - interiors)
via privata Somalia 1
Neighbourhood: Portello 
Milan
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Location: Trilogy Towers, Milan
(virtual photo - loggia)
via privata Somalia 1
Neighbourhood:
Portello Milan

Not only a physical living 
space - also a place of 
significant psychological and 
introspective importance.

The outdoor but sheltered space 
of the loggia is the element 
that connects the internal and 
external dimension of home 
living, acting as a mediator 
between the private and public 
sphere. Having an almost 
‘epidermal’ function, in which the 
outer perimeter of the building 
forms a barrier from the outside 
world yet forming a vital relation-
ship with it, still providing all the 
protection the person needs. 
All Abitare In projects promote 
a philosophy of ensuring the 
psychophysical wellbeing of 
residents. In fact, housing sat-
isfaction is linked to a number 
of general factors such as the 
quality of the spaces and the 
furnishings, the sense of privacy 
and security, the perception of 

self-fulfilment and self-defini-
tion through status symbols, as is 
the home. Abitare In’s unrelent-
ing research is aimed precisely 
at defining a method that can 
be applied across the board to 
ensure that every citizen can 
achieve complete housing satis-
faction. 

The protagonist of the architectural
composition is the loggia: at Trilogy Towers 
the loggias are ample and deep, doubling
as outdoor living rooms.
 THE LOGGIAS OF TRILOGY TOWERS
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Location: Trilogy Towers, Milan
via privata Somalia 1
Neighbourhood: Portello
Milan (July 2020)
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Location: Palazzo Naviglio 
via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7

Neighbourhood: Giambellino  
Milan

PALAZZO NAVIGLIO:  
THE EVOLUTION OF SUSTAINABILITY

 by Abitare In®

Palazzo Naviglio steps into the Milanese panorama 
with a new approach to residential property design, 
introducing, in the historic Giambellino neighbourhood, 
a building with a very low environmental impact  
that promotes sustainability as a lifestyle in the broadest 
sense. 

A contemporary building - two staggered structures with 
large loggias overlooking the city and the Naviglio canal. 
Light bamboo and metal slats enliven the facade, drawing 
sinuous profiles like branches.
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Location: Palazzo Naviglio 
via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7 

Neighbourhood: Giambellino
Milan

Air, water, light, wood, green: the palette, in pastel 
tones, evokes the natural elements and narrates a deep 
and intimate relationship between man and nature, an 
expression of harmony and mutual wellbeing.

Cutting-edge technology, very low emissions: from plaster 
that purifies the air, capturing pollutants, to the rainwater 
collection and organic waste management systems - ex-
pressions of a strong green philosophy.

TECHNOLOGY FOR THE ENVIRONMENTThe bamboo wood covering, a material with a completely 
neutral ecological impact, creates a naturally warm and 
enveloping atmosphere. 
From Nature for Nature. 
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Location: 
Palazzo Naviglio

via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7 
Neighbourhood: Giambellino

Milan (September 2020)

Location: 
Palazzo Naviglio

via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7 
Neighbourhood: Giambellino

Milan (December 2020)
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SAVONA 105:  
NEW ELEGANCE TO BE EXPERIENCED,

by Abitare In®

When the search for beauty has a name: Savona 105.
A residential project that feeds on the ferment of the local context

to synthesise it into elegant proportions and iconic details.

They call it “creative regeneration”: a process that 
gives new life to disused and abandoned material, 
through culture, art and design. By subtraction we 
discover the essence of space, reinterpreted in a 
contemporary way.

This is the new nature of the Tortona neighbourhood 
in Milan, the protagonist of a collective cultural 
revival in the name of creativity, art and fashion. A 
symbolic language spoken also by Savona 105, the 
new residential complex that has joined the chorus 
of regeneration.

Savona 105 underlines once again Abitare In’s 
ability to identify strategic areas of intervention 
for Milan. After Palazzo Naviglio in the Giambellino 
neighbourhood, Abitare In has moved just a short 
distance to one of the areas with the highest level 
of great cultural ferment: Tortona. With a project 
designed as a tribute to the stimulating process of 
“creative regeneration”.

Location: Savona 105
(virtual photo - entrance)

via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona
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The former industrial site of the Tortona neighbourhood is located 
behind the Porta Genova railway station, where, up until the period after 
World War II, the factories of some of the city’s most important brands 
once stood: Nestlé, General Electric, Poste Italiane and OSRAM. As the 
industrial system was dismantled little by little, many of the sites were 
gradually abandoned from the 1970s onwards.
In recent years, in response to city’s drive for innovation, the area has 
been given a second lease of life: the abandoned warehouses have 
inspired many prominent figures of the world of culture. Artists and 
designers have been falling over each other to grab a spot in the disused 
buildings, seduced by the industrial style and huge spaces of the factories. 
Consecrated as cathedrals of the new cultural spirit, these spaces are 
reborn in the name of creativity.
Workshops, lofts, exhibition spaces and creative hubs have become 
today’s expression of the area’s natural aptitude for experimentation 
and innovation, where the former manufacturing activities now cede 
their place to the more prestigious world of fashion and design. A scene 
of such cultural ferment, with a natural leaning towards aesthetics and 
unpretentious elegance, provides fertile ground for a project inspired by 
the value of simplicity, as a form of grace and class.

Elegant, distinguished, unique, simple and symbolic are the words chosen 
by Abitare In to convey the essence of Savona 105, which embodies 
the whole value and history of such an important neighbourhood for 
Milan. It is a “mature” project, aware of what it is and what it wants to 
communicate, without excesses. The architectural composition enhances 
the forms and brings out the fine and delicate details, almost silent and 
difficult to imitate. Like the name it bears, Savona 105 moves away from 
the superfluous to express itself using simple and recognisable forms, with 
a design that has a strong but elegant personality. The number “105” is its 
distinctive sign, its signature, its unique, inimitable and iconic symbol. The 
balanced geometries provide the background for precious details, created 
simply with plaster painted in different shades or with tone-on-tone 
textured finishes on the surface to generate dynamic vibrations. Details 
that go almost unnoticed, except to the trained eye: the hidden details 
that conceal elegance at its finest.

The building’s enveloping atmosphere accompanies an experience of daily 
wellbeing, designed to meet the most current needs of city living.

Immersed in a park where green rooms alternate with paved areas, the 
ground floor of the building accommodates multiple services, taking 
inspiration from hotels and the smart city concept: the former so that each 
resident can feel like a welcome guest every day, the latter to improve the 
organisation of daily activities. The internal amenities make it easier to 
organise everyday activities to leave more time for passions. A way to 
achieve a better quality of life.

Location: Savona 105
(virtual photo - loggia at night)
via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona
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QUALITY AND ELEGANCE
Apart from having a functional value, the home also has a symbolic significance: it is the 

place where we live our lives, the intimate sphere of our inner-self. It is the place where we 
can be ourselves, where we can visualise and indulge in our dreams. It is the place where 

quality of life takes root, where the search for happiness begins.

An apartment tells the story of its inhabitants. The actors: the 
people, with their tastes, dreams and ambitions. The set: the 
rooms of the home that interpret their personality. Savona 105 
tells stories of timeless elegance, pure essentiality and good 
living.The functional layouts allow for movement and action, 
the airiness and brightness of the rooms flood the space with 
positive energy, the deep open loggias are an invitation to 
enjoy the outdoor space as a natural extension of the living 
room. Every line in Savona 105 is the result of thoughtful 
consideration of what is needed to improve everyday living 
ensuring, at the same time, simple elegance.
The mood retraces the colour palette of the facade and draws 
its style from the pure lines and curves which, in a silent but 

never monotonous way, make the whole composition unique. 
The textural and tactile surfaces give character to the interiors, 
without domineering but enhancing the details of the space. 
Rigour yields to the warmth of human presence and the 
signs of everyday life: the expressive power of Savona 105 is 
manifested precisely here, in its being a silent protagonist in 
the background of life.
Abitare In has incorporated all of its interior design research 
into this project too, both in the logic of the space and layout 
and in its design. Once again the result is surprising for its ability 
to show end customers how to experience the home in a way 
that channels energy, resources, needs and desires towards a 
single objective: to enjoy the best living experience in their 
own homes. For Abitare In, living well is the secret to achieving 
mental and physical wellbeing. Translated: happiness.

Location: Savona 105
(virtual photo: Loggia)
via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona

Location: Savona 105
(virtual photo - interior)
via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona
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Location: Olimpia Garden 
(virtual photo)

via Pecori Giraldi 5
Neighbourhood:
Corvetto Milan

OLIMPIA GARDEN:  
YOUR HOME IMMERSED IN THE 
GREENERY, A SHORT DISTANCE 

FROM THE CITY CENTRE 
Just a short walk from the underground station, Olimpia 
Garden (www.olimpiagarden.it) is Abitare In’s new 
complex of 138 apartments across three buildings (two 
of which already built), with a large private park and a 
number of communal areas.
The complex offers different types of apartments, all 
delivered "turnkey" including furniture packages designed 
specifically by Abitare In’s Interior Designers to create an 
efficient and stylish product.
Unlike Abitare In’s standard format - "build to order" 
through demolition and reconstruction - Olimpia Garden 
is being built on an existing complex and is currently in 
the stage of completion. 

The project is located in an urban context that is 
undergoing large-scale development and redevelopment, 
straddling the highway that will link the Olympic Village 
due to built for the 2026 Winter Olympics and the new 
Milan Arena, Palaitalia, to be built in the Santa Giulia 
neighbourhood.

As this is not one of Abitare In’s standard developments, 
the Olimpia Garden project will be marketed through 
more traditional systems, excluding therefore event-type 
promotional campaigns.
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Location: Olimpia Garden
(virtual photo) 

via Pecori Giraldi 5
Neighbourhood:
Corvetto Milan

An oasis of peace and tranquillity, sheltered from the 
chaos of the city but within easy reach with a wide range 
of transport links on your doorstep. Creative workshops, 
service hub, sports centre: breathe in the crisp air of 
change.

A unique opportunity
to live the future

Between the city centre and the local 
neighbourhood

A peaceful, pleasant setting where you can 
rediscover the pleasure of waking up every 
morning surrounded by nature or relax in and 
enjoy the outdoors from your private terrace 
or the garden.

A place where you can enjoy your own privacy, 
take refuge after a long day at work, feel the 
warmth of your family, be yourself.
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Stilisti
Urbani
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	 	30.09.2020	 	30.09.2019	

Property,	plant	and	equipment 1 																		6,460,386			 																		6,395,023			
Intangible	assets 2 																		1,264,744			 																					989,358			
Equity	investments	in	other	companies 3 																		2,296,000			 																		1,006,000			
Deferred	tax	assets 4 																					883,153			 																					874,697			
TOTAL	NON-CURRENT	ASSETS 																10,904,283			 																		9,265,078			
Inventory 5 														139,058,289			 														109,933,867			
Trade	receivables 6 																					585,837			 																								86,515			
Other	current	assets 7 																14,386,768			 																10,954,689			
Current	tax	assets 8 																		1,702,618			 																		2,312,989			
Current	financial	assets 9 																																	-					 																					156,760			
Cash	and	cash	equivalents 10 																35,480,995			 																21,690,755			
TOTAL	CURRENT	ASSETS 													191,214,507			 													145,135,575			
TOTAL	ASSETS 													202,118,790			 													154,400,653			
Share	capital 																					129,677			 																					127,728			
Reserves 																37,163,534			 																35,967,457			
Profit	(loss)	carried	forward 																11,354,847			 																		4,994,026			
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 																		9,197,205			 																		6,374,925			
EQUITY	ATTRIBUTABLE	TO	THE	OWNERS	OF	THE	PARENT 																57,845,263			 																47,464,136			
Profit	and	reserves	attributable	to	non-controlling	interests 																					498,217			 																																	-					
EQUITY 11 																58,343,480			 																47,464,136			
Non-current	financial	liabilities 12 																39,224,134			 																52,819,918			
Employee	benefits 13 																					246,904			 																					120,876			
Other	non-current	liabilities 14 																					481,445			 																					140,281			
Customer	down	payments	and	deposits 15 																45,256,329			 																22,868,809			
Deferred	tax	liabilities 3 																		4,058,460			 																		4,069,322			
TOTAL	NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES 																89,267,272			 																80,019,206			
Current	financial	liabilities 12 																22,405,876			 																					995,672			
Trade	payables 16 																12,499,970			 																		6,815,276			
Other	current	liabilities 17 																		5,621,730			 																		4,400,760			
Customer	down	payments	and	deposits 15 																12,131,074			 																14,268,463			
Current	tax	liabilities 18 																		1,849,389			 																					437,140			
TOTAL	CURRENT	LIABILITIES 																54,508,039			 																26,917,311			
TOTAL	LIABILITIES 													143,775,310			 													106,936,517			
TOTAL	LIABILITIES	AND	EQUITY 													202,118,790			 													154,400,653			

0																																	 - 																													

Annual Report at 30 September 2020

Consolidated
FINANCIAL REPORT

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Location: coming next in 2021
(virtual photo - architectural detail)

Neighbourhood: Naviglio Grande
Milan

128Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 /127 / Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020



Note 	30.09.2020	 	30.09.2019	
Revenue	from	sales	and	services 19.1 41,368,522												 300,780																		
Change	in	inventory	for	new	sites	purchased 19.2 20,600,000												 8,632,844															
Change	in	inventory	for	progress	of	works 19.3 8,527,320															 35,203,274												
Other	revenue	 19.4 2,580,491															 428,882																		
TOTAL	REVENUE 19 73,076,333												 44,565,780												
Property	purchased	for	redevelopment (20,600,000)	 (8,632,844)	
Raw	materials,	consumables,	supplies	and	goods (151,142)	 (66,915)	
Services 20.1 (38,375,241)	 (22,277,850)	
Rentals	and	similar (119,023)	 (87,934)	
Production	costs (38,645,406)	 (22,432,699)	
Personnel	expenses 20.2 (3,589,598)	 (1,377,469)	
Depreciation/Amortisation	 20.3 (709,682)	 (526,853)	
Impairment	losses	and	provisions 20.4 (44,066)	 (35,070)	
Other	operating	expenses 20.5 (1,392,872)	 (755,309)	
TOTAL	OPERATING	EXPENSES 20 (64,981,624)	 (33,760,244)	
EBIT 8,094,709															 10,805,536												
Financial	income 21 5,192,375															 18,302																				
Financial	expenses 21 (2,076,406)	 (1,369,719)	
EBT 11,210,678												 9,454,119															
Income	taxes 22 (2,028,550)	 (3,079,194)	
PROFIT	(LOSS)	FOR	THE	YEAR 9,182,128															 6,374,925															
Of	which:
Net	profit	(loss)	attributable	to	non-controlling	interests (15,077)	 - 																											
Net	profit	(loss)	attributable	to	the	owners	of	the	Parent 9,197,205	 6,374,925															

Earnings	per	share 23 3.59																									 2.50																									
Diluted	earnings	per	share 23 3.54																									 2.47																									

	30.09.2020	 	30.09.2019	
SHARES 2,554,560 2,554,560
Stock grant 39,183 29,508
DILUTED SHARES 2,593,743															 2,584,068															

Other	comprehensive	income
That	will	not	be	subsequently	reclassified	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	year
Employee	benefits 2,543	 2,543	
Tax	effect (610)	 (610)	
Total 1,933	 1,933	
That	will	be	subsequently	reclassified	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	year
AFS	financial	assets
Tax	effect
Total -                   -                   
Total	change	in	OCI	reserve 1,933	 1,933	
Comprehensive	income	for	the	period 9,184,061															 6,376,858															

Earnings	per	share
Diluted	earnings	per	share

Note 	30.09.2020	 	30.09.2019	
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,182,128										 6,374,925										
Other	comprehensive	income
That	will	not	be	subsequently	reclassified	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	year
Employee	benefits (49,357)	 2,543	
Tax	effect 11,845	 (610)	
Total (37,512)	 1,933	
Comprehensive	income	for	the	period 9,144,616										 6,376,858										

Earnings	per	share 23 3.58																				 2.50																				
Diluted	earnings	per	share 23 3.53																				 2.47																				

CHECK - 																						 - 																						
	30.09.2020	 	30.09.2019	

SHARES 2,554,560 2,554,560
Stock grant 39,183 26,710
DILUTED SHARES 2,593,743										 2,581,270										

Share	capital Share	premium	reserve Legal	reserve
Stock	grant	

reserve
FTA	reserve OCI	reserve

Profit	carried	
forward	from	
previous	years

Profit	for	the	year Total

Equity	
attributable	to	
non-controlling	

interests

Total

Equity	at	1	October	2018 127,728																			 35,375,765																													 16,327																	 -																								 282,731															 (9,641)																		 2,445,890														 2,557,356														 40,796,156													 40,796,156												
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 6,374,925														 6,374,925																 6,374,925														
Actuarial	valuation	of	TFR 1,933																				 1,933																							 1,933																						
Stock	grant	plan 291,122																 291,122																			 291,122																	
rounding -																												 -																										
Allocation	of	the	profit	for	the	year 9,220																				 2,548,136														 (2,557,356)												 -																												 -																										
Equity	at	30	September	2019 127,728																			 35,375,765																													 25,547																	 291,122															 282,731															 (7,708)																		 4,994,026														 6,374,925														 47,464,136													 47,464,136												

Share	capital Share	premium	reserve Legal	reserve
Stock	grant	

reserve
FTA	reserve OCI	reserve

Profit	carried	
forward	from	
previous	years

Profit	for	the	year Total

Equity	
attributable	to	
non-controlling	

interests

Total

Equity	at	1	October	2019 127,728 35,375,765 25,547 291,122 282,731 (7,708)																					 4,994,026 6,374,925																	 47,464,136																	 47,464,136															
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,197,205																	 9,197,205																			 (15,077)																			 9,182,128																	
Actuarial	valuation	of	TFR (37,512)																			 (37,512)																							 (37,512)																						
Stock	grant	plan 1,949																												 1,510,607																																					 (291,122)																	 1,221,434																			 1,221,434																	
Change	in	scope	of	consolidation -																															 513,294																		 513,294																					
rounding -																															 -																														
Allocation	of	the	profit	for	the	year 14,104																				 6,360,821																	 (6,374,925)																 -																															 -																														
Equity	at	30	September	2020 129,677																							 36,886,372																																			 39,651																				 -																											 282,731																		 (45,220)																			 11,354,847															 9,197,205																	 57,845,263																	 498,217																		 58,343,480															

Share	capital Share	premium	reserve Legal	reserve
Stock	grant	

reserve
FTA	reserve OCI	reserve

Profit	carried	
forward	from	
previous	years

Profit	for	the	year Total

Equity	
attributable	to	
non-controlling	

interests

Total

Equity	at	1	October	2018 127,728																			 35,375,765																													 16,327																	 -																								 282,731															 (9,641)																		 2,445,890														 2,557,356														 40,796,156													 40,796,156												
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 6,374,925														 6,374,925																 6,374,925														
Actuarial	valuation	of	TFR 1,933																				 1,933																							 1,933																						
Stock	grant	plan 291,122																 291,122																			 291,122																	
rounding -																												 -																										
Allocation	of	the	profit	for	the	year 9,220																				 2,548,136														 (2,557,356)												 -																												 -																										
Equity	at	30	September	2019 127,728																			 35,375,765																													 25,547																	 291,122															 282,731															 (7,708)																		 4,994,026														 6,374,925														 47,464,136													 47,464,136												

Share	capital Share	premium	reserve Legal	reserve
Stock	grant	

reserve
FTA	reserve OCI	reserve

Profit	carried	
forward	from	
previous	years

Profit	for	the	year Total

Equity	
attributable	to	
non-controlling	

interests

Total

Equity	at	1	October	2019 127,728 35,375,765 25,547 291,122 282,731 (7,708)																					 4,994,026 6,374,925																	 47,464,136																	 47,464,136															
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,197,205																	 9,197,205																			 (15,077)																			 9,182,128																	
Actuarial	valuation	of	TFR (37,512)																			 (37,512)																							 (37,512)																						
Stock	grant	plan 1,949																												 1,510,607																																					 (291,122)																	 1,221,434																			 1,221,434																	
Change	in	scope	of	consolidation -																															 513,294																		 513,294																					
rounding -																															 -																														
Allocation	of	the	profit	for	the	year 14,104																				 6,360,821																	 (6,374,925)																 -																															 -																														
Equity	at	30	September	2020 129,677																							 36,886,372																																			 39,651																				 -																											 282,731																		 (45,220)																			 11,354,847															 9,197,205																	 57,845,263																	 498,217																		 58,343,480															

Statement of Changes in EquityConsolidated Income Statement

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Location: Trilogy Towers, Milan
(virtual photo - architectural detail)

Neighbourhood: Portello
Milan
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30.09.2020 30.09.2019
Operating	activities
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,182,128																				 6,374,925																				
Income	taxes 1,597,592																				 3,079,194																				
Financial	income (5,192,375)																			 (18,302)																								
Financial	expenses 2,078,290																				 1,318,087																				
(Gains)/losses	on	the	sale	of	companies -																																 53,846																										
Net	accruals	to	provisions 426,341																								 112,484																								
Accrual	to	stock	grant	reserve 1,221,434																				 291,122																								
Impairment	and	depreciation/amortisation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	intangible	assets 709,682																								 526,853																								
Cash	flows	before	changes	in	net	working	capital 10,023,091																		 11,738,209																		
Decrease/(increase)	in	inventory (29,124,422)																	 (44,246,774)																	
Increase/(decrease)	in	trade	payables 5,684,694																				 2,552,082																				
Decrease/(increase)	in	trade	receivables (499,322)																						 (1,645)																											
Change	in	other	current/non-current	assets	and	liabilities	 18,899,360																		 10,950,716																		
Net	financial	income/expenses	collected/paid (1,750,169)																			 (1,125,206)																			
Taxes	paid (250,724)																						 (136,371)																						
Use	of	provisions (10,394)																								 (20,671)																								
Cash	flows	from	(used	in)	operating	activities	(A) 2,972,114																				 (20,289,660)																
Investing	activities
Investments	in	property,	plant	and	equipment (363,525)																						 (773,941)																						
Disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment -																																 -																																
Investments	in	intangible	assets (686,906)																						 (695,555)																						
Disposal	of	intangible	assets -																																 -																																
Other	equity	investments -																																 (1,006,000)																			
Sale	of	company,	net	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents -																																 (96,662)																								
Cash	flows	from	(used	in)	investing	activities	(B) (1,050,431)																			 (2,572,158)																			
Financing	activities
Bank	loans	raised 27,971,111																		 26,799,620																		
Bank	loan	repayments	 (20,683,510)																	 (174,733)																						
Change	in	current/non-current	financial	liabilities 55,973																										 16,530																										
Net	change	in	current	financial	assets 156,760																								 (40,030)																								
Share	capital	increase	against	consideration 4,368,223																				 -																																
Cash	flows	from	(used	in)	financing	activities	(C) 11,868,557																		 26,601,387																		
Net	cash	flows	in	the	period	(A)+(B)+(C) 13,790,240																		 3,739,569																				
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	year 21,690,755																		 17,951,186																		
Increase/(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	from	1	October	to	30	September 13,790,240																		 3,739,569																				
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	end	of	the	year 35,480,995																		 21,690,755																		

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (indirect method)

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Pursuant to Article 4 of Legislative Decree 38 
of 28/02/2005 - governing the exercise of the 
options provided for in Article 5 of Regulation (EC) 
No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and 
of the Council of 19/07/2002 on the application 
of international accounting standards - the parent 
company has voluntarily exercised 
the option to adopt the international 
financial reporting standards (here-
inafter also “IFRS”), as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards 
Board ("IASB") and endorsed 
by the European Commission, 
in drawing up its consolidated 
financial statements. The abbrevia-
tion “IFRS” shall be understood to 
include all “International Financial 
Reporting Standards”, all “Interna-
tional Accounting Standards” (IAS) 
and all interpretations issued by the Internation-
al Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC - 
formerly “Standards Interpretations Committee”, 
SIC) that, as at the date of approval of the Consol-
idated Financial Statements, have been endorsed 
by the European Union in accordance with the 
procedure set out in Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 
of the European Parliament and of the Council of 
19 July 2002. The IFRS have been applied con-
sistently across all the periods considered in this 
document.

No departure from the applicability of the IFRS 
was made in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements.

These financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial 
statements of the Abitare In Group 
at 30 September 2020 include the 
statement of financial position, the 
income statement, the statement 
of comprehensive income, the 
statement of changes in equity, the 
statement of cash flows and the 
notes, all prepared in accordance 
with the IFRS.
The schedules of the statement of 
financial position provide a classifica-

tion of current and non-current assets and current 
and non-current liabilities where: (i) non-current 
assets include positive balances with a normal 
operating cycle beyond 12 months; (ii) current 
assets include positive balances with a normal 
operating cycle within 12 months, and cash and 
cash equivalents; (iii) non-current liabilities include 
payables beyond 12 months; (iv) current liabilities 
include payables within 12 months. 

Finally, the statement of cash flows was prepared 

NOTES TO THE
Consolidated financial 

report
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND MEASUREMENT CRITERIA
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using the indirect method to determine cash flows 
from operating activities. Under this method, profit 
(loss) for the year is adjusted to account for the 
effects of non-cash transactions, any deferral or 
provision allocated for previous or future opera-
tional receipts or payments and any revenue or 
expense items associated with cash flows from 
investing or financing activities.
Unless otherwise specified, all amounts shown in 
the consolidated financial statements and in the 
notes are in Euro. The figures shown in the financial 
statements and in the notes are rounded up/down 
to ensure consistency with the figures shown in 
the statement of financial position and the income 
statement.
Pursuant to IFRS 8, no information is provided 
in relation to operating segments as this is not 
deemed to be material.

SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements report the 
earnings, cash flows and financial position of the 
Company and of the subsidiaries in which the 
Company holds the majority of voting rights.
The following companies are included in the scope 
of consolidation (on a line by line basis):
- Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l., with registered 
office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota 
Capital Euro 100,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by 
Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Abitare In Development 3 s.r.l., with 
registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 
10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned 
(100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Milano City Village s.r.l., with registered 
office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota 
Capital Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by 
Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Milano Progetti s.r.l., with registered office 
in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In 
S.p.A.;
- MyCity s.r.l., with registered office in Milan 
at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 
10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;

- Trilogy Towers s.r.l., with registered office in 
Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In 
S.p.A.;
- Abitare In Development 4 s.r.l., with 
registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 
10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned 
(100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Abitare In Development 5 s.r.l., with 
registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 
10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned 
(100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Abitare In Development 6 s.r.l., with 
registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 
10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned 
(100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l., with 
registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 
10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned 
(100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Savona 105 s.r.l. (formerly Abitare In Devel-
opment 8 s.r.l.), with registered office in Milan at via 
degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000 
– wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Homizy S.p.A., with registered office in 
Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Share Capital 
Euro 10,000 – 88.44% owned by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Hommi s.r.l., with registered office in Milan 
at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 
10,000 – 88.44% owned by Abitare In S.p.A. 
through Homizy S.p.A.;
- Housenow s.r.l., with registered office in 
Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – 88.44% owned by Abitare In S.p.A. 
through Homizy S.p.A.;
- Mica s.r.l., with registered office in Milan 
at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 
10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Milano Living s.r.l., with registered office in 
Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In 
S.p.A.;
- Mivivi s.r.l., with registered office in Milan 
at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 
10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;
- Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l., with registered office 

in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In 
S.p.A.;
- Smartcity s.r.l., with registered office in 
Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In 
S.p.A..
Compared with the previous year, the following 
companies are now included in the scope of con-
solidation:
- Alibranda s.r.l., with registered office in 
Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In 
S.p.A.;
- Volaplana s.r.l., with registered office in 
Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital 
Euro 10,000 – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In 
S.p.A..
During the year, following the capital increase 
approved for the subsidiary Homizy - with the entry 
of non-controlling shareholders - the percentage of 
ownership has decreased to 88.44%.

The subsidiaries prepare separate interim financial 
statements in accordance with the provisions 
applicable in Italy and in compliance with the Italian 
Accounting Standards. The Italian accounting 
standards adopted have therefore been aligned 
with the IFRS to make the financial statements 
of subsidiaries consistent with the accounting 
standards adopted by the Group

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA 

Revenue and inventory recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent at which the 
economic benefits are achieved by the Company 
and the related amount can be reliably determined, 
regardless of the collection date. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consider-
ation which the entity has the right to receive in 
exchange for the transfer of goods or services to 
the customer, taking into account the agreed con-
tractual terms and the commitments undertaken.

Pursuant to the provisions of IFRS 15(35), an entity 

transfers control of the good or service over time, if 
at least one of the following conditions is met:
  
a) the customer simultaneously receives and 
consumes all of the benefits provided by the entity 
as the entity performs; 
b) the entity's performance creates or 
enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) 
that the customer controls as the asset is created 
or enhanced; 
c) the entity’s performance does not create an 
asset with an alternative use to the entity and the 
entity has an enforceable right to payment for per-
formance completed to date.

In the case at hand, the condition under point c) 
above is met.

In the foregoing cases, revenue from sales can be 
recognised according to models based on inputs 
(e.g. resources consumed, labour hours expended, 
costs incurred, machine hours used, etc.) or outputs 
(e.g. surveys of performance completed to date, 
appraisal of results achieved, time elapsed and 
number of units produced/delivered). 

With regard to the business model currently 
adopted by the Company, the possible cases are:

a) real estate projects for which the prelimi-
nary conveyance agreements have yet to be signed;
b) real estate projects for which, although the 
preliminary conveyance agreements have been 
signed, the conditions under the aforementioned 
paragraph 35 are not met;
c) real estate projects for which the preliminary 
conveyance agreements have been signed and the 
conditions under the aforementioned paragraph 35 
are met;
d) conveyancing completed after finalising 
the related final conveyance agreement (by public 
deed).

In cases a) and b), inventory is recognised at the 
lower of its purchase price, inclusive of directly at-
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tributable ancillary costs, and its estimated realisable 
value based on market trends. Work in progress 
has been recognised on the basis of the expenses 
incurred in the period. Losses on contracts, if any, 
are recognised in the income statement in the year 
in which they became known.
Changes in inventory, depending on whether or 
not the associated real estate development has 
commenced, are recognised through profit or 
loss, respectively under “Change in inventory for 
new sites purchased” or “Change in inventory for 
progress of works” respectively. 

In case c), inventory is measured using the 
percentage completion method in reference to 
construction costs (input-based model) and recog-
nising, for pre-sold real estate units (i.e. units for 
which the prospective buyer has signed a prelim-
inary contract), a portion of the margin expected 
upon completion of the real estate development.  
Contractual amendments, that is, any changes 
to the original stipulations (e.g. price changes for 
customisation of pre-sold real estate units), are 
recognised as an adjustment to revenue and, con-
sequently, to the profit margin of the contract, on 
the date such amendments are approved by the 
prospective buyer. In addition, when it is likely that 
total contract costs will exceed contract revenue, 
the expected loss is recognised in the income 
statement. The related change is recognised in the 
income statement under “Change in inventory for 
progress of works”.

In case d), on the date on which the final 
conveyance agreement takes effect, revenue from 
the sale is recognised in the income statement 
under “Revenue from sales and services” and the 
decrease in inventory is recognised under “Change 
in inventory for progress of works”.

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially 
recognised at purchase or production cost, including 
other directly attributable costs. Interest expense 
linked to the construction of property, plant and 
equipment is capitalised and amortised over the 
residual useful life of the asset to which it refers.

Costs incurred after purchasing the assets and 
the cost of replacing some parts of this category 
of assets are capitalised only if they increase the 
expected future economic benefits of the asset 
they refer to. All other costs are recognised in profit 
or loss when incurred. If the cost of replacing some 
parts of the assets is capitalised, the residual value 
of the replaced parts is recognised in profit or loss. 
If significant parts of such assets have different 
useful lives, such parts are recognised separately in 
accordance with the component approach. 
Items of Property, plant and equipment are carried 
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and ac-
cumulated impairment losses in accordance with 
IAS 36. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the asset’s estimated useful life for the 
company and reviewed yearly. Any changes, where 
necessary, are applied prospectively. The following 
main economic-technical rates have been used:

Intangible assets

These items are initially recognised at purchase 
and/or production cost, including any directly at-
tributable costs incurred to prepare the asset for 
use at the place and in the condition necessary for 
it to be able to function in the manner expected 
by the company management. Any interest 
expense accrued during and in relation to the de-
velopment of other intangible assets is recognised 
directly through profit or loss. Production costs do 
not include research costs, which are recognised 
directly through profit or loss in the period in which 
they are incurred.
Vice-versa, development costs can be capitalised if 
the following conditions are satisfied: i) the project 
is clearly identified and the associated costs can be 
identified and measured reliably; ii) the technical 

feasibility of the project has been established; iii) 
there is a clear intention to complete the project 
and sell the intangible assets generated by the 
project; iv) a potential market exists or, in the case 
of internal use, the usefulness of the intangible 
asset has been established for the production of 
the intangible assets generated by the project; 
v) adequate technical and financial resources to 
complete the project are available.
Intangible assets acquired through business com-
binations are recognised at their fair value at the 
acquisition date if such value can be measured 
reliably. Software licences purchased are capital-
ised on the basis of the costs incurred to purchase 
them and prepare them for use. Amortisation is 
on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated 
useful life. Intangible assets with a finite useful life 
are stated less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, to be calculated 
in accordance with the methods described in the 
following Section. 
The following main economic-technical rates have 
been used:

LEASED ASSETS

Leases are classified as finance leases if they 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee.  All other types of leases 
are considered operating leases.

The assets underlying finance leases are recognised 
as Group assets at their fair value at the date the 
contract is entered into, or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The cor-
responding liability towards the lessor is included 
in the statement of financial position as a finance 
lease liability. Lease payments are broken down into 
principal and interest payments so as to obtain a 
constant interest rate for the outstanding liability. 
Financial expenses are recognised directly through 
profit or loss in the period.

The depreciation of these assets is reflected in the 
annual consolidated statements applying the same 
criteria used for property, plant and equipment.
Operating lease payments are recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the length of the contract. 
Rewards received or to be received as an incentive 
to enter into operating leases are also recognised on 
a straight-line basis over the length of the contract.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

At the end of each year, the Group reviews the 
carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets to determine whether any 
impairment of the assets has occurred. If confirmed, 
the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated 
to measure any impairment losses.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS IN OTHER COMPANIES 

Equity investments in companies in which the 
Group does not hold control or exercise significant 
influence, generally reflecting an investment of less 
than 20%, are recognised at cost and subsequent-
ly measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are 
recognised through profit or loss.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Business combinations in which the Group obtains 
control of a business are recognised in accordance 
with IFRS 3, applying the acquisition method. In 
detail, identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date, that 
is, at the date on which control of the business 
was obtained, exception made for deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, assets and liabilities linked to 
employee benefits and assets held for sale, which 
are recognised in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards. Any difference between the 
consideration transferred in a business combination 
and the fair value of assets or liabilities is recognised, 
if positive, as goodwill under intangible assets or, if 
negative, as income through other comprehensive 
income, after verifying the correct measurement 
of the current values of the acquired assets and li-
abilities and the consideration. If the value of the 

Category Depreciation rate

Property 3%
Plant and machinery 30%
Furniture and fixtures 10%
Other assets 20%

Category Amortisation rate

Development costs 20%

Other assets 20%
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assets and liabilities of the acquired business is 
measured on a provisional basis, such operation 
must be concluded within twelve months after 
the acquisition date, taking into account only 
information that relates to facts and circum-
stances existing at the acquisition date. The 
recognised provisional values are adjusted ret-
rospectively in the reporting period in which the 
aforementioned operation is concluded. Other 
transaction costs are recognised through other 
comprehensive income when they are incurred.
The consideration transferred in the business 
combination is equivalent to the fair value at 
the acquisition date of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities assumed and the equity instru-
ments issued for the purpose of the acquisi-
tion, and also includes any contingent consid-
eration, that is, any portion of the consideration 
whose amount and payment are dependant on 
future events. The contingent consideration is 
recognised on an Acquisition-Date Fair Value 
basis and any subsequent changes in fair value 
are recognised through other comprehensive 
income if the contingent consideration is a 
financial asset or liability. Contingent consid-
eration classified as equity is not remeasured 
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity.
If control is obtained in subsequent stages, the 
consideration transferred in the business com-
bination is the sum of the fair value of the equity 
investment previously held in the acquired 
business and the consideration transferred for 
the additional equity investment. Any difference 
between the fair value of the equity investment 
previously held and its carrying amount is 
recognised through other comprehensive 
income. On obtaining control of the business, 
any amounts previously recognised under other 
comprehensive income are recognised through 
other comprehensive income or in another 
equity item if reclassification through other 
comprehensive income is not allowed.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Receivables falling due within normal business 

terms or which accrue interest at market values 
are not discounted and are recognised at nominal 
value. Receivables assigned without recourse are 
derecognised from the statement of financial 
position insofar as all of the related risks and 
benefits are substantially transferred to the 
assignee. 
Receivables from customers exclusively for 
services rendered are recognised when the 
services have been completely supplied and, 
thus, when the ensuing right to receive the 
payment arises. Financial assets other than re-
ceivables from customers are recognised at the 
settlement date. On initial recognition, financial 
assets of such type are measured at cost, 
equivalent to the fair value of the instrument, 
inclusive of directly attributable transaction costs 
and revenue. Receivables with a due date beyond 
one year, non-interest bearing or bearing interest 
below the market rate, are discounted at rates 
equivalent to the return on instruments that 
have comparable technical characteristics and 
risk/yield profiles. Following initial recognition, 
financial assets of this category are measured 
at amortised cost. The initial recognition value 
is therefore adjusted to take into account 
repayments of principal, any impairment and 
the amortisation of the difference between the 
amount repaid and the initial carrying amount. 
Amortisation is effected at the actual internal 
interest rate, which is the rate that equalises, at 
the time of initial recognition, the present value 
of the expected cash flows and the initial carrying 
amount (amortised cost method). Vice-versa, 
trade receivables are measured at historical cost 
and are not amortised in view of their short due 
date. If there is objective evidence of impairment, 
the asset’s value is reduced to the discounted 
value of expected future cash flows. Impairment 
losses are recognised through profit or loss. The 
asset’s value is reinstated in subsequent periods 
if the reasons for the impairment no longer apply, 
up to the value it would have had at amortised 
cost if no impairment had occurred.

IMPAIRMENT

IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise expected 

credit losses on all items such as loans and trade 
receivables, with reference to a period of either 
12 months or the entire contractual life of the 
instrument (lifetime expected credit loss). The 
Company applies the simplified approach and 
therefore recognises expected losses on all trade 
receivables on the basis of their residual contrac-
tual life. The Group has not seen any material 
impacts as it does not have receivables.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank 
current accounts and demand deposits and other 
short-term highly liquid financial investments 
that can be readily converted to cash and are not 
exposed to a significant risk of a change in value.

EQUITY

Share capital

The share capital consists of capital subscribed 
and paid to the Company. Costs associated exclu-
sively with the issue of new shares are classified 
as a reduction of the share premium reserve, less 
the deferred tax effect.

RESERVES

Reserves consist of equity reserves for specific 
uses. They also include the reserve created on the 
first-time adoption of the international financial 
reporting standards.
Retained earnings (losses)
These include earnings (losses) of previous years, 
specifically, the portion not distributed or set 
aside as reserve (in the case of profits) or not 
covered (in the case of losses).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share-based payment
The Abitare In Group grants additional benefits 
to some executives, employees and consultants, 
through “Stock Grant” plans. In accordance with 
IFRS 2 - Share-based payment, the aforesaid 
transactions are to be considered of the “equi-

ty-settled” type. Therefore, the total current 
value of the Stock Grants at the date on which 
the individual and/or Group targets are assigned 
is recognised as a cost in the income statement. 
Changes in the current value after the grant 
date do not affect the initial measurement. Re-
muneration expenses, equating to the current 
value of shares at the grant date, are recognised 
as personnel expenses on a straight-line basis 
over the period between the grant date and the 
vesting date, with a balancing entry in equity.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In the context of defined benefit plans, which 
also include the severance indemnities payable 
to employees pursuant to art. 2120 of the Italian 
Civil Code, the amount of benefits payable to 
employees can only be quantified after ter-
mination of employment and is linked to one 
or more factors, such as age, years of service 
and salary. Therefore, the related expense is 
recognised through profit or loss in the relevant 
period based on an actuarial calculation. The li-
abilities recognised for defined benefit plans 
are the present value of the obligation at the 
reporting date. Obligations for defined benefit 
plans are measured yearly by an independent 
actuary using the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of the defined benefit plan is 
established by discounting future cash flows at 
an interest rate equal to that of bonds (high-qual-
ity corporate) issued in Euro and that takes into 
account the length of the related pension plan. 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from such ad-
justments and any changes in the actuarial as-
sumptions are recognised through other compre-
hensive income.
As of 1 January 2007 the Budget Law 2007 
and the related implementing decrees have 
introduced significant changes to the way 
employee severance indemnities work, including 
the right of employees to decide who manages 
the severance indemnities accrued. In detail, 
employees can now decide to allocate new in-
demnities accrued to pension schemes or to 
let the company manage these amounts. If the 
amounts accrued are transferred to an outside 
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pension scheme, the Company is only subject to 
the requirement to pay a defined contribution 
to the chosen pension scheme and, from that 
date, the newly accrued amounts take the form 
of defined contribution plans and are no longer 
subject to actuarial valuation.

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

See the “IFRS 9” section below regarding the 
newly adopted standards.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Financial liabilities are classified, on initial recog-
nition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, under mortgages and loans or under 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments. 
All financial liabilities are initially recognised at 
fair value, to which directly attributable transac-
tion costs are added in the case of loans and debt.
The Company’s financial liabilities include trade 
payables, other payables and loans, including 
financial instruments and derivatives.
After initial recognition, loans are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognised through 
profit or loss when the liability is settled, as well 
as through the amortisation process.
The amortised cost is calculated by recognis-
ing the acquisition discount or premium, as 
well as fees and costs that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate. Amortisation at 
the effective interest rate is recognised under 
financial expenses in the income statement.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
obligation underlying the liability is settled, 
cancelled or fulfilled. If an outstanding financial 
liability is replaced with another of the same 
lender, at conditions that are substantial-
ly different, or where the conditions of an out-
standing liability are modified substantially, 
such replacement or modification is treated 
as a derecognition of the original liability and a 
new liability is recognised. Any difference in the 
carrying amount is recognised through profit or 
loss.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

Provisions for risks and charges are costs and charges 
of an established nature, the existence of which is 
certain or probable, but whose amount or timing 
is uncertain at the reporting date. Such provisions 
are set aside only if there is a present obligation 
arising from past events, whether deriving from a 
legal requirement, a contract or from the company’s 
statements or actions that create a valid expectation 
on the part of the parties involved (obligating events).
Provisions are recognised in the financial statements 
when the Group has a present obligation arising from 
a past event and it is probable that it will be asked to 
fulfil the obligation.
Provisions are based on the best estimate of the costs 
to be incurred to fulfil the obligation at the reporting 
date and are discounted when the effect is material.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes include current and deferred taxes. 
Income taxes are usually recognised through profit 
or loss, unless they refer to transactions or events 
recognised directly in equity. 
Income taxes are calculated by applying the tax rate 
applicable at the reporting date to taxable profit for 
the period. 
Deferred taxes are measured in accordance with the 
liability method, based on the temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of the assets and lia-
bilities and the amounts recognised for tax purposes. 
Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rate that is 
expected to apply when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be realised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if 
there is a legally enforceable offset right and when 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority.

USE OF ESTIMATES

In preparing the financial statements and the related 
notes in accordance with the IFRS, the management 

is required to make estimates and assumptions 
that have an impact on the value of revenue, costs, 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and 
on disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the reporting date. The final figures may differ from 
these estimates due to the uncertainty underlying 
the assumptions and the conditions on which the 
estimates are based. Consequently, any change in 
the conditions underlying the associated opinions, 
assumptions and estimates could have a significant 
impact on subsequent performance. Estimates are 
used to determine the fair value of real estate in-
vestments, financial instruments and derivatives. 
The management reviews the estimates and as-
sumptions periodically and, if necessary, these 
are backed by opinions and studies of indepen-
dent consultants of primary standing (e.g. property 
appraisal). The effects of any changes are reflected 
in the income statement.

The following estimates used in the financial 
statements and in the annual reports are deemed 
significant in that they involve extensive use of 
subjective opinions, assumptions and estimates: 
- Assessment of the progress of works and 
recognition of revenue: the method used is that of 
final cost based on the estimated cost to complete; 
this measurement is based on assumptions and 
estimates of the costs to complete and the related 
margins.
- Taxes: income taxes, related only to 
non-exempt operations, are estimated on the basis 
of the forecast of the actual amount that will be 
payable to the Revenue Agency in the annual tax 
return. Prepaid taxes are recognised on the basis of 
income forecasts for the coming years, taking into 
account the tax regime applicable to the Company, 
and are calculated at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the reporting periods in which the 
temporary differences will be realised or settled.
- Medium/long-term share-based incentive 
plans: these plans provide that the estimated 
number of rights accruing up to maturity is updated 
at the end of each reporting period. The measure-
ment is made with the help of external experts.

ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

IFRS 16 Leases
The measurement and recognition requirements 
applicable to lessees under IFRS 16 are essentially 
the same as the current accounting requirements 
in accordance with IAS 17. Lessees continue to 
classify all leases according to the same classifica-
tion principle set out in IAS 17, making a distinc-
tion between operating leases and finance leases. 
Compared to IAS 17, IFRS 16 requires a greater 
level of disclosure from lessees and lessors.
These amendments have had no impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The interpretation addresses the accounting 
treatment of income taxes when the treatment 
results in uncertainties that affect the application 
of IAS 12, and it is not applicable to taxes that do 
not fall within the scope of IAS 12, nor does it spe-
cifically include requirements related to interest or 
penalties related to uncertain tax treatments. The 
interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with 
Negative Compensation
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument may be measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through other com-
prehensive income, provided that the contracted 
cash flows are "solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amounts outstanding" (the 
SPPI test) and the instrument is classified in the 
appropriate business model. The changes to IFRS 
9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI test 
regardless of the event or circumstance that causes 
early termination of the contract and regardless 
of who pays or receives reasonable compensation 
for early termination. These amendments have had 
no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtail-
ment or Settlement
The amendments to IAS 19 establish the rules 
for accounting for plan amendments, curtail-
ments or settlements during the reporting period. 
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The amendments specify that when a plan 
amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs 
during the period, an entity is required to 
determine the service cost for the remainder 
of the period following the plan amendment, 
curtailment or settlement, using the relevant 
actuarial assumptions to remeasure the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) so that it reflects 
the plan benefits and plan assets after that 
event. An entity is also required to determine 
net interest for the period remaining after the 
plan amendment, curtailment or settlement: the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) that reflects 
the plan benefits and the plan assets after that 
event; and the discount rate used to remeasure 
the net defined benefit liability (asset). These 
amendments did not have any impact on the con-
solidated financial statements as the Group did 
not record any plan amendments, curtailments or 
settlements during the reporting period.

Amendments to IAS 28: Long-Term Interests in 
Associates and Joint Ventures
The amendments specify that an entity applies 
IFRS 9 for long-term investments in an associate 
or joint venture, for which the equity method is 
not applied but which, in substance, form part 
of the net investment in the associate or joint 
venture (long-term interests). These amendments 
did not have any impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS 2015-2017

Cycle IFRS 3 Business Combinations
The amendments clarify that when an entity 
obtains joint control of a business that is a 
joint operation, it applies the requirements for 
a business combination that has taken place in 
stages, including remeasurement at fair value of 
the previously held interest in the joint operation 
assets and liabilities. In doing so, the acquirer 
revalues the interest previously held in the joint 
operation. The entity applies these amendments 
to business combinations when the acquisition 
date falls on or after the first annual period starting 
on 1 January 2019. This amendment has had no 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements as there were no business combina-
tions in which joint control was obtained. IFRS 11 
Joint Arrangements - An entity that participates 
in a joint operation, without having joint control, 
may obtain joint control of the joint operation 
if the joint operation is a business as defined in 
IFRS 3. The amendments clarify that the interests 
previously held in such a joint operation are not 
remeasured. An entity applies such amendments 
to operations in which it has joint control for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. Early application is permitted. 
This amendment has had no impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements as there were 
no business combinations in which joint control 
was obtained.

IAS 12 Income Taxes
The amendments clarify that the income tax 
consequences of dividends are considered to be 
more directly linked to past transactions or events 
that generated the distributable profits rather 
than distributions to shareholders. Therefore, an 
entity recognises the income tax consequences 
of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehen-
sive income or equity consistent with the way 
in which the entity has previously recognised 
such past transactions or events. The entity shall 
apply these amendments to all reporting periods 
starting on or after 1 January 2019. Early appli-
cation is permitted. When an entity applies these 
amendments for the first time, it applies them to 
the tax consequences of dividends recognised 
from the beginning of the first annual period. The 
Group has not recorded any impact resulting from 
these amendments in its consolidated financial 
statements.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
The amendments clarify that an entity treats 
any borrowing undertaken to develop an asset 
as a non-specific borrowing if all the actions 
necessary to prepare that asset for use or sale 
are completed. An entity shall apply those 
amendments to borrowing costs incurred from 
the beginning of the period in which the entity 
first applies the amendments. An entity shall 
apply these amendments to all reporting periods 

starting on or after 1 January 2019. Early appli-
cation is permitted. Since the current practice 
of the Group is in line with these amendments, 
the Group has not recorded any impact resulting 
from these changes in its consolidated financial 
statements.

CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The accounting standards adopted by the Group 
have not changed with respect to those adopted 
in the annual report at 30 September 2019, 
with exception only to the abovementioned 
accounting standard IFRS 16 Leases. For the sake 
of completeness, the accounting standards and 
amendments subject to modification in the period 
and the standards not yet endorsed/applied are 
listed below.

Other accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations applicable from 01/01/2019 
(financial year 2019/2020)

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
In October 2017, the IASB published an 
amendment to IFRS 9 concerning “Prepayment 
Features with Negative Compensation”. The 
amendment confirms that when a financial 
liability measured at amortised cost is modified 
without resulting in derecognition, the associated 
gain or loss must be recognised immediately in the 
income statement. The gain or loss is measured 
as the difference between the previous cash flow 
and the adjusted cash flow arising from the mod-
ification. The amendment applies from 1 January 
2019 and has not had any significant impact on 
the financial statements or the disclosures.

IAS 28
The amendments issued in October 2017 
clarify that an entity is required to apply IFRS 9 
“Financial Instruments” to long-term interests in 
associates or joint ventures for which the equity 
method is not applied. The amendments apply 
from 1 January 2019 and have not had any sig-
nificant impact on the financial statements or the 
disclosures.

Annual amendments to IFRS 2015-2017 (IFRS 3, 
IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23)
In December 2017, the IASB published a range of 
annual amendments to the IFRS 2015-2017 (IFRS 
3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23). The amendments 
apply from 1 January 2019 and have not had any 
significant impact on the financial statements or 
the disclosures.

IAS 19
In February 2018, the IASB published a number 
of amendments to IAS 19, requiring companies 
to use updated assumptions to determine the 
cost and financial expenses each time the plan is 
amended. The amendments apply from 1 January 
2019 and have not had any significant impact on 
the financial statements or the disclosures.

IFRIC 23
In June 2017, the IASB published IFRIC 23 “Un-
certainty over Income Tax Treatments”, which 
provides guidance on how to reflect uncertain-
ties over the tax treatment of a specific circum-
stance when accounting for income taxes. IFRIC 
23 came into force on 1 January 2019 and has 
not had any significant impact on the financial 
statements or the disclosures.

Accounting standards, amendments and inter-
pretations which have been endorsed but are 
not yet applicable to/have not been applied early 
by the Company
For these amendments, the Company is still 
assessing the impacts on its financial position, 
earnings and cash flows.
Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in IFRS Standards (issued on 29 
March 2018)
The IASB has published a revised version of the 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, 
with first application scheduled for 1 January 
2020. The aim of the amendment is to update 
existing references in various standards and in-
terpretations that are now outdated.
The main amendments concern:
- a new chapter on measurement;
- improved definitions and guidance, with 
particular regard to the definition of liability;
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- clarifications on important concepts such 
as stewardship, prudence and measurement un-
certainty;
- clarifications on definitions and recogni-
tion criteria for assets and liabilities.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of 
Material (issued on 31 October 2018)
The IASB has published the amendments to IAS 
1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material, which aim 
to clarify the definition of ‘material’ to assist 
companies in assessing whether or not infor-
mation should be included in their financial 
statements. Information is considered material 
if its omission, misstatement or obscuring could 
influence the decisions of the readers of the 
financial statements. The amendments will 
become effective starting on 1 January 2020. 
However, earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 related 
to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (issued on 
26 September 2019)
The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 
39 and IFRS 7. These amendments provide 
temporary relief to allow for the continued use 
of hedge accounting during the period of uncer-
tainty preceding the reform to replace the current 
benchmark interest rate with an alternative 
risk-free interest rate. These amendments come 
into effect starting 1 January 2020. Earlier appli-
cation is permitted.
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS 
AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ENDORSED

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business 
(issued on 22 October 2018)
The IASB has published amendments to IFRS 3: 
Definition of a Business so as to make it easier to 
determine whether, in a transaction, a company 
has acquired a business or merely a group of 
assets that does not satisfy the definition of 
business under IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’. 
The amendments will apply to acquisitions taking 
place after 1 January 2020. Earlier application is 
permitted. The Group has not opted for the earlier 

application of these amendments.
IFRS 17 - ‘Insurance Contracts’ (issued on 18 
May 2017) with first application scheduled for 1 
January 2021. 
This standard does not apply to the Group.

IAS 1
In January 2020, the IASB published a number of 
amendments to IAS 1, clarifying that the classifi-
cation of a liability as “current” or “non-current” 
should be based on rights that are in existence at 
the reporting date. The amendments shall apply 
from 1 January 2022. 

IFRS 16 - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
In May 2020, the IASB published an amendment 
to IFRS 16, providing a practical expedient for 
accounting for leases, where these are renegoti-
ated as a consequence of Covid-19. The lessee 
can opt to account for the concession as variable 
lease payments in the period in which the reduced 
payment has been allowed. The Group will adopt 
these new standards, amendments and interpre-
tations based on the scheduled date of applica-
tion and will assess any potential impacts when 
these are endorsed by the European Union.

Location: Savona 105
(virtual photo - entrance)

via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona

Milan
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Property Plant	and	machinery General	equipment
Other	property,	plant	and	

equipment
Total	property,	plant	and	

equipment
Opening	balance
Cost 5,910,537	 14,300	 19,050	 779,833	 6,723,720	
Depreciation	(accumulated	depreciation) (199,622)	 (5,671)	 (1,429)	 (121,975)	 (328,697)	
Carrying	amount 5,710,915	 8,629	 17,621	 657,858	 6,395,023	
Changes	in	the	period
Increases	for	acquisitions 15,558	 8,817	 -	 339,150	 363,525	
Reclassifications	(of	carrying	amount) -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Depreciation	in	the	year (169,520)	 (5,223)	 (1,429)	 (121,990)	 (298,162)	
Decrease	in	accumulated	depreciation -	 -	 -	 (0)	 (0)	
Total	changes (153,962)	 3,594	 (1,429)	 217,160	 65,363	
Closing	balance
Cost 5,926,095	 23,117	 19,050	 1,118,983	 7,087,245	
Depreciation	(accumulated	depreciation) (369,142)	 (10,895)	 (2,858)	 (243,965)	 (626,859)	
Carrying	amount 5,556,952	 12,223	 16,193	 875,018	 6,460,386	

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Property 								5,556,952			 								5,710,915			 (153,963)	
Plant	and	machinery 													12,223			 															8,629			 3,594	
General	equipment 													16,193			 													17,621			 (1,428)	
Other	property,	plant	and	equipment 											875,018			 											657,858			 217,160	
Total 							6,460,386			 							6,395,023			 65,362	

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Development costs 																					992,224			 																					825,654			 166,570	
Concessions,	licences,	trademarks	and	similar	rights 																									8,657			 																							16,469			 (7,812)	
Assets	under	construction	and	payments	on	account 																							25,704			 																							19,325			 6,379	
Other	intangible	assets 																					238,159			 																					127,910			 110,249	
Total 																		1,264,744			 																					989,358			 275,386	

 

NOTES TO KEY ITEMS OF THE 
Statement of Financial Position

Note 1. Property, plant and equipment
The table below shows the breakdown of the item property, plant and equipment at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.

 The table below shows changes in Property, plant and equipment at the reporting dates 30 September 2020 and 30 September 
2019, by individual asset category.

Location: Savona 105,
(virtual photo - entrance lobby)
via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona
Milan

The item “Other property, plant and equipment” increased primarily due to costs incurred for the viale Umbria 32 and Savona 105 
showrooms, totalling Euro 315 thousand.

Note 2. Intangible assets
The table below shows the breakdown of the item Intangible assets at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.
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30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Deferred	tax	assets 883,153	 874,697	 8,456	
Payables	for	deferred	tax	liabilities (4,058,460)	 (4,069,322)	 10,862	
Net	position (3,175,307)	 (3,194,625)	 19,318	

30.09.2019
Recognised	in	Income	

Statement
Recognised	in	

Equity
	30.09.2020	

ACE	(aid	to	economic	growth) 44,402	 (44,402)	 																												-					 																												-					
Directors’	remuneration 																									-					 83,520	 																												-					 83,520	
Unpaid	employee	bonuses 																									-					 67,200	 																												-					 67,200	
Capital	increase	brokerage	fees 																									-					 																																	-					 36,766	 36,766	
Measurement	of	work	in	progress	in	accordance	with	IFRS	15 (4,976,428)	 (213,763)	 																												-					 (5,190,191)	
Leases	in	accordance	with	IAS	17 (7,424)	 (570)	 																												-					 (7,994)	
Employee	benefits	in	accordance	with	IAS	19 4,848	 1,925	 11,846	 18,619	
Derecognition	of	multi-year	costs	in	accordance	with	IAS	38 392,745	 (128,494)	 																												-					 264,251	
Interest	expense 62,306	 (62,306)	 																												-					 																												-					
Tax	losses	of	Abitare	in	Maggiolina	s.r.l. 118,852	 (118,852)	 																												-					 																												-					
Inventory	adjustment	to	reflect	intercompany	mark-up 1,166,074	 386,448	 																												-					 1,552,522	
Total (3,194,625)	 (29,294)	 48,612	 (3,175,307)	

Advances	on	inventory Real	estate	developments	under	way Finished	products
Abitare	in	Maggiolina	s.r.l. 																																									-					 																																																																	-					 												26,948,966			
Alibranda s.r.l. 																																21,651			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Abitare In Development 4 s.r.l. 																														615,383			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Abitare In Development 5 s.r.l. 																																65,432			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Abitare In Development 6 s.r.l. 																														137,500			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l. 																																									-					 																																																21,078,698			 																													-					
Savona 105 s.r.l. 																											2,194,321			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Mica s.r.l. 																														392,810			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Milano City Village s.r.l. 																																									-					 																																																35,582,135			 																													-					
Milano Progetti s.r.l. 																																									-					 																																																21,114,003			 																													-					
Milano Living s.r.l. 																																46,623			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Mivivi s.r.l. 																														259,043			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
MyCity s.r.l. 																																									-					 																																																			4,482,565			 																													-					
Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. 																																									-					 																																																11,520,520			 																													-					
Smartcity s.r.l. 																														117,579			 																																																																	-					 																													-					
Trilogy Towers s.r.l. 																																									-					 																																																14,481,060			 																													-					
Total 																											3,850,342			 																																														108,258,981			 												26,948,966			

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Real	estate	developments	under	way 									108,258,981			 								109,340,179			 (1,081,198)	
Advances on inventory 													3,850,342			 																593,688			 3,256,654	
Finished products 											26,948,966			 																											-					 26,948,966	
Total 									139,058,289			 								109,933,867			 29,124,422	

Development	costs
Concessions,	licences,	
trademarks	and	similar	

rights

Intangible	assets	
under	construction	
and	payments	on	

account

Other	intangible	assets Total	intangible	assets

Opening	balance
Cost 1,126,483	 24,382	 19,325	 181,572	 1,351,359	
Amortisation	(accumulated	amortisation) (300,829)	 (7,913)	 -																																			 (53,662)	 (362,001)	
Carrying	amount 825,654	 16,469	 19,325	 127,910	 989,358	
Changes	in	the	period
Increases	for	acquisitions 489,833	 -																																			 25,704																												 190,694	 706,231	
Reclassifications	(of	carrying	amount) -																																			 -																																			 (19,325)																											 -																																			 (19,325)	
Amortisation	in	the	year (323,263)	 (7,812)	 -																																			 (80,445)	 (411,520)	
Total	changes 166,570	 (7,812)	 6,379	 110,249	 275,385	
Closing	balance
Cost 1,616,316	 24,382	 25,704	 371,863	 2,038,265	
Amortisation	(accumulated	amortisation) (624,092)	 (15,725)	 -																																			 (133,704)	 (773,520)	

Carrying	amount 992,224	 8,657	 25,704	 238,159	 1,264,744	

The table below shows changes in Intangible assets at the reporting dates 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019, by 
individual asset category.

The increase in development costs reflects the Group’s investment in the BIM and VIRTUAL REALITY projects. These costs refer to 
services supplied by third parties. Development costs incurred by the Group refer to projects that satisfy the requirements of IAS 
38. 
The increase in other intangible assets is linked to the capitalisation of costs incurred to customise and develop the CRM platform, 
in particular to develop the e-commerce platform.

Note 3. Equity investments in other companies
On 22 May 2019, Abitare In S.p.A. entered into an investment agreement with the founding shareholders of the company Tecma 
Solutions S.p.A., also signing a tranche of Euro 1 million for the share capital increase approved by the latter company. Subsequent 
to the transaction, Abitare In holds a 10% equity investment in the share capital of Tecma Solutions S.p.A.
The carrying amount has increased by Euro 1,290 thousand owing to the revaluation arising from the adjustment of the carrying 
amount to fair value at 30 September 2020. The price at which Tecma S.p.A.’s shares were traded on the first day of listing on the 
AIM Italia segment, which occurred on 9 November 2020, was used as the fair value benchmark.

Note 4. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The net balance of deferred tax assets and liabilities at 30 September 2020 is as follows:

The net change in deferred tax assets and liabilities is as shown below:

The item “Finished products” refers entirely to apartments completed by the subsidiary Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l.. The item “Real 
estate developments under way” refers to projects under way and not yet completed at 30 September 2020 and includes costs 
incurred to purchase real estate to be developed for a total amount of Euro 57,526 thousand. The typical length of the production 
cycle in Abitare In Group’s sector is influenced by a number of factors, such as authorisation procedures and relations with the public 
administration in general, customer requests to customise properties and works planning.  In view of the above, the number of 
projects to be completed within 12 months cannot be reliably estimated. The item above mainly consists of inventory attributable to 
the subsidiaries Milano City Village (Euro 35,582 thousand), Milano Progetti s.r.l. (Euro 21,114 thousand), Abitare In Development 7 
s.r.l (Euro 21,079 thousand), Trilogy Towers s.r.l. (Euro 14,481 thousand), Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. (Euro 11,521 thousand) and My City 
s.r.l. (Euro 4,483 thousand). 
Advances on inventory refer to suspended costs linked to areas for which a preliminary contract has been signed.

Note 5. Inventory 
The table below shows the breakdown of Inventory at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.
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Profit	(loss) Equity
Abitare	In	S.p.A. 180,662 38,549,261	
IFRS	adjustment	to	profit	(loss)	and	equity	of	Abitare	In	S.p.A. 													291,054			 (694,860)	
Profit	(loss)	of	subsidiaries 									4,818,716			 4,818,716	
Effect	of	change	in	scope	of	consolidation 									3,891,695			 3,891,695	
Difference	between	carrying	amount	and	their	equity 																								-					 11,778,667	
Cash	and	cash	equivalents 									9,182,128			 58,343,480	

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Bank and postal accounts 								35,181,847			 								21,689,591			 													13,492,256			
Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 														299,148			 																		1,164			 																			297,984			
Cash	and	cash	equivalents 								35,480,995			 								21,690,755			 													13,790,240			

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Down	payments/deposits	on	real	estate	complexes	purchased 										9,499,729			 										7,063,000			 										2,436,729			
Other	current	assets 										4,887,036			 										3,891,689			 														995,347			
Other	current	assets 								14,386,765			 								10,954,689			 										3,432,076			

The item “Down payments/deposits on real estate complexes purchased” consists of:
- the payment of Euro 470 thousand for the purchase without recourse, from Banco BPM, of the receivable from Immobiliare 
Tacito of a nominal amount of Euro 11,000 thousand. The receivable is secured by a mortgage on the property situated in Milan, 
viale Tacito, near the other two real estate complexes owned by the subsidiaries Milano City Village s.r.l. and Milano Progetti s.r.l.;
- the down payment of Euro 700 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the Naviglio Grande area of 
Milan. The purchase is due to be finalised by 31 January 2021. The total agreed price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 
6,500 thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the date the final agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 1,375 thousand to acquire a 100% equity investment in a limited liability company, owner of a 
real estate complex in the Naviglio Grande area of Milan. The acquisition of the entire capital will be finalised by 30 November 2020 
for a total price of Euro 7,850 thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the date the final agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 1,000 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the area south of Porta Romana 
in Milan. Finalisation is subject to obtaining the urban planning implementation agreement. The total agreed price to acquire the 
entire capital is Euro 16,000 thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the date the final agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 1,075 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the Accursio area of Milan. The 
total agreed price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 11,000 thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the 
date the final agreement is signed. The notarial deed is due to be finalised by 31 December 2020;
- the down payment of Euro 2,750 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the Naviglio Grande area of 
Milan. The purchase is due to be finalised by 31 December 2020. The total agreed price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 
18,500 thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the date the final agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 502 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the NoLo area of Milan. The 
purchase is due to be finalised by 31 January 2021, with the possibility to postpone that date by six months. The total agreed 
price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 2,700 thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the date the final 
agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 500 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the Lambrate area of Milan. 
The purchase is due to be finalised by 31 January 2020. The total agreed price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 5,300 
thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the date the final agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 400 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the Lambrate area of Milan. The 
total agreed price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 2,100 thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the 
date the final agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 160 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the Certosa area of Milan. The 
purchase is due to be finalised by 31 December 2020. The total agreed price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 800 
thousand. The final payment of the price will be made on the date the final agreement is signed;
- the down payment of Euro 50 thousand to purchase the real estate complex situated in the Tertulliano area of Milan. The 
purchase was finalised on 2 November 2020. The total agreed price to purchase the real estate complex is Euro 250 thousand;
- the down payment of Euro 416 thousand to acquire development rights. The purchase was finalised in the last quarter of 
2020.
The item “Other current assets” mainly refers to:
- assets related to commission paid, totalling Euro 980 thousand, to acquire contracts of sale;
- prepayment of multi-year surety costs, totalling Euro 1,930 thousand;
- prepayment of furniture costs for the Maggiolina project, amounting to Euro 1,082 thousand.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents, fully reported in Euro, reflects liquid funds, cash-in-hand and cash equivalents at the 
respective reporting dates.
Cash and cash equivalents held at 30 September 2020 are unrestricted and not tied to a particular use.

Note 11. Equity
Equity has increased due to the recognition of the Stock Grant reserve and the change in the OCI reserve and in profit for the period.
The table below shows reconciliation between the parent company’s equity and net profit, restated in accordance with the 
international accounting standards, and the consolidated figures at 30 September 2020.

Note 11.1 Stock Grant Plans
On 18 December 2018, the shareholders’ meeting resolved to adopt a Stock Grant plan for the employees, collaborators and 
consultants of Abitare In S.p.A. and its subsidiaries. The plan refers to the granting of a maximum number of 40,040 ordinary shares 
of Abitare In S.p.A.  
The management has identified two methods by which the shares can be granted to the beneficiaries:
- The first is linked to setting individual targets for the persons identified, the achievement of which gives entitlement to 
a number of shares that varies on the basis of the type of target assigned, the position of the beneficiary and his/her seniority of 
service as an employee or collaborator. In this case, the shares will be issued in one tranche by 31 December 2019 and in a second 
tranche by 30 June 2020.
- The second is subject to the Company meeting specific financial targets and, in this case also, the number of shares issued 
varies on the basis of the beneficiary receiving them. In this case, since the achievement of the targets is evidenced by the half-
yearly financial statements at 31 March 2020, the shares will be issued by 30 June 2020.
During the previous reporting period and in the current period, the beneficiaries were sent letters containing the details of their 
individual stock grant plans, indicating the targets to be met, the shares to be granted and the grant date - by 31 December 2019 for 

Note 10. Cash and cash equivalents
The table below shows the breakdown of cash and cash equivalents at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.

Note 6. Trade receivables
Trade receivables amount to Euro 586 thousand (Euro 86 thousand at the end of the previous reporting period). These receivables 
are recognised net of the provision for bad debt. There are no past due receivables.

Note 7. Other current assets
Other current assets amount to Euro 14,387 thousand (Euro 10,955 thousand at the end of the previous reporting period).

Note 8. Current tax assets
Current tax assets (Euro 1,703 thousand) mainly refer to the VAT receivable (Euro 1,505 thousand).

Note 9. Current financial assets
The financial assets held at 30 September 2020 have been disposed of resulting in a capital gain of Euro 10 thousand.
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30.09.2020
Outstanding	at	1	October 														29,508			
Granted 9,675
Cancelled/not	vested 																							-					
Vested 														38,978			
Expired 																				205			
Outstanding	at	the	end	of	the	period 																							-					

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 30.09.2018
Annual	inflation	rate 1.00% 0.50% 1.50%
Annual	technical	discount	rate 0.60% 1.50% 1.55%
Annual	remuneration	increase	rate 2.50% 3.50% 3.50%

non-current	portion current	portion Total non-current	portion
current	
portion

Total CHANGE

Medium/long-term	bank	loans 38,614,405 22,337,465 60,951,870 52,350,303 947,079 53,297,382 7,654,488
Short-term	bank	loans 																												-					 																										-					 																											-					 -																										 12,894 12,894 -12,894
Other	financial	payables 609,729 68,411 678,140 469,615 35,699 505,314 172,826

Total 39,224,134 22,405,876 61,630,010 52,819,918 995,672 53,815,590 7,814,420

30.09.2020 30.09.2019

loan	type	(Euro/000) Borrower	company
Maximum	
amount	
available

Payable	within	
the	next	financial	
year

Payable	beyond	
next	financial	
year

Total	payable Start	date End	date Interest	rate
Mortgage	on	real	
estate/guarantees

Loan Abitare	In	S.p.A. n/a 321 769 1,089 17/07/23 01/07/27 Spread	+	Euribor n/a

Loan Abitare	In	S.p.A. n/a 8,500 																					-					 8,500 15/06/23 15/12/24 Spread	+	Euribor
Pledge	on	Abitare	in	

Maggiolina	s.r.l.	quotas

Loan Abitare	In	S.p.A. n/a 																							-					 5,164 5,164 24/09/24 24/09/29 Spread	+	Euribor n/a
Mortgage	loan Abitare	In	Development	3	s.r.l. n/a 182 2,400 2,582 23/06/22 01/07/37 Spread	+	Euribor 6,000
Landed	property	loan Abitare	In	Development	7	s.r.l. 17,000 103 11,783 11,886 29/05/24 01/06/26 Spread	+	Euribor 34,000
Landed	property	loan Abitare	in	Maggiolina	s.r.l. 25,200 5,500 																					-					 5,500 28/11/21 01/07/34 Spread	+	Euribor 50,400
Landed	property	loan Milano	City	Village	s.r.l. 50,000 65 11,174 11,239 01/08/22 01/01/33 Spread	+	Euribor 100,000
Landed	property	loan Trilogy	Towers	s.r.l. 19,700 																								3			 1,400 1,403 01/03/23 01/03/33 Spread	+	Euribor 39,400
Landed	property	loan Palazzo	Naviglio	s.r.l. 14,950 9 3,440 3,449 19/02/24 18/02/39 Spread	+	Euribor 7,000
Credit	facility	backed	by	landed	property Milano	Progetti	s.r.l. n/a 7,655 																					-					 7,655 30/06/22 extended* Spread	+	Euribor 15,000

Mortgage	loan MyCity	s.r.l. n/a 																							-					 2,485 2,485 18/05/23 01/06/38 Spread	+	Euribor 5,000
Total 22,337 38,614 60,952

Severance	
Indemnity	

Reserve	(TFR)

Directors’	
Severance	
Indemnity	

Reserve	(TFM) TOTAL
Balance	at	30	September	2017 35,765												 62,540																		 98,305																		
Financial	expenses 554																		 969																								 1,523																				
Advances	paid	and	settlements (4,108)													 (4,108)																			
Accruals 23,196												 46,906																		 70,102																		
Actuarial	gains	(losses) 6,853															 (3,002)																			 3,851																				
Balance	at	30	September	2018 62,260												 107,413																 169,673																
Financial	expenses 965																		 1,249																				 2,214																				
Advances	paid	and	settlements (20,671)											 (20,671)																	
Accruals 77,414												 35,070																		 112,484																
Actuarial	gains	(losses) 908																		 (3,451)																			 (2,543)																			
Balance	at	30	September	2019 120,876										 140,281																 261,157																
Financial	expenses 1,187															 701																								 1,888																				
Advances	paid	and	settlements (10,394)											 -																									 (10,394)																	
Accruals 102,275										 44,066																		 146,341																
Actuarial	gains	(losses) 32,960												 16,397																		 49,357																		
Balance	at	30	September	2020 246,904										 201,445																 448,349																

Note 12. Current and non-current financial liabilities
The table below shows the breakdown of non-current financial liabilities at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.

Short and long-term financial payables to banks include:

Note 13. Employee benefits
Pursuant to IAS 19R, the main economic-financial assumptions used in the actuarial valuations are detailed below:

The following changes in employee benefits were recorded in the relevant periods:

*end date extended up to the start date of the new loan, which was signed on 12 November 2020 upon approval of the relevant charges by the 
bank. The new credit facility backed by landed property amounts to Euro 10,500 thousand and ends on 31 March 2022.

The Loan Agreement entered into by Abitare In, for an amount of Euro 5,164 thousand at 30 September 2020, provides for the bank’s 
right to terminate the agreement in case of Abitare In’s non-satisfaction of the following parameters: (i) NFP/Equity ratio of 1.75 with 
reference to its consolidated financial statements, starting from the consolidated financial statements at 30 September 2020, and 
(ii) NFP/Equity ratio of 0.75 with reference to its separate financial statements, starting from the separate financial statements at 30 
September 2020.  
At 30 September 2020 the financial covenants had been fully satisfied. 
The item “Other financial payables” mainly includes the financial payable to the leasing company in relation to the purchase of the 
property located at Via Amadeo, 57 (Euro 452 thousand), the financial payable for the leaseback agreement entered into with BNL in 
relation to office equipment (Euro 117 thousand) and the financial liability arising from the valuation of the put option provided for in 
the shareholders’ agreements associated with the Homizy capital increase (Euro 104 thousand).

some beneficiaries and by 30 June 2020 for others - with the warning that the effect of the letters was subject to approval 
by the Board of Directors.
The number of shares to be issued is:
- No. 16,248 shares linked to meeting individual targets, to be granted by 31 December 2019 to No. 36 beneficiaries;
- No. 6,100 shares linked to meeting individual targets, to be granted by 30 June 2020 to No. 11 beneficiaries;
- No. 16,835 shares linked to the Group meeting specific financial targets, based on the half-yearly financial 
statements at 31 March 2020, to be granted by 30 June 2020 to No. 45 beneficiaries, subject to meeting the aforementioned 
targets.
On 18 December 2019, the Board of Directors approved the individual stock grant plans for the employees, collaborators 
and consultants of Abitare In S.p.A., thus ratifying the actions of the management with regard to the aforesaid individual 
stock grant plans. Furthermore, in view of the achievement of the individual targets of all of the beneficiaries of the shares 
granted by 31 December 2019, the Board of Directors has resolved to execute a first tranche of the free share capital 
increase approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 20 December 2018, which will be completed through the free issue, by 
31 December 2019, of No. 16,248 shares in favour of No. 36 beneficiaries, having the same characteristics as the shares 
currently outstanding. 
On 24 June 2020, the Board of Directors resolved to execute the second tranche of the free share capital increase 
approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 20 December 2018, to be completed through the free issue of No. 22,730 
shares in favour of No. 41 beneficiaries, having the same characteristics as the shares currently outstanding.

The table below indicates the number of stock grants in the reporting period:
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30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Town	planning	costs 																					2,047,495			 																					1,846,211			 201,284																									
Other	payables 																					2,989,495			 																					2,438,162			 551,333																									
Accrued	expenses	and	prepaid	income 																								532,682			 																										82,432			 450,250																									
Social	security	contributions	payable 																										52,058			 																										33,955			 18,103																												
Other	current	liabilities 																					5,621,730			 																					4,400,760			 																					1,220,970			

30.09.2020 30.09.2019
Abitare In Development 4 s.r.l. 														552,983			 																		62,400			
Abitare In Development 5 s.r.l. 																									-																							65,432			
Abitare In Development 6 s.r.l. 																49,052			 88,447
Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l. 											5,299,771			 178,928
Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. (19,856,408)									 21,593,055
Abitare	in	Poste	s.r.l. 																									-					 (410,656)																
Alibranda	s.r.l. 																21,652			 -																										
Homizy	S.p.A. 																			2,916			 -																										
Mica	s.r.l. 														392,810			 -																										
Milano	City	Village	s.r.l. 											6,058,958			 6,682,049
Milano	Progetti	s.r.l. 											3,273,777			 456,013
Milano	Living	s.r.l. 																46,623			 -																										
Mivivi	s.r.l. 														186,144			 72,900
MyCity	s.r.l. 														151,555			 156,010
Palazzo	Naviglio	s.r.l. 											6,390,332			 130,188
Savona 105 s.r.l. (formerly Abitare In Development 8 
s.r.l.) 1,995,841 198,481

Smartcity s.r.l. 117,578 -																										
Trilogy	Towers	s.r.l. 											3,843,736			 5,930,027
Total 											8,527,320			 										35,203,274			

Severance	
Indemnity	

Reserve	(TFR)

Directors’	
Severance	
Indemnity	

Reserve	(TFM) TOTAL
Balance	at	30	September	2017 35,765												 62,540																		 98,305																		
Financial	expenses 554																		 969																								 1,523																				
Advances	paid	and	settlements (4,108)													 (4,108)																			
Accruals 23,196												 46,906																		 70,102																		
Actuarial	gains	(losses) 6,853															 (3,002)																			 3,851																				
Balance	at	30	September	2018 62,260												 107,413																 169,673																
Financial	expenses 965																		 1,249																				 2,214																				
Advances	paid	and	settlements (20,671)											 (20,671)																	
Accruals 77,414												 35,070																		 112,484																
Actuarial	gains	(losses) 908																		 (3,451)																			 (2,543)																			
Balance	at	30	September	2019 120,876										 140,281																 261,157																
Financial	expenses 1,187															 701																								 1,888																				
Advances	paid	and	settlements (10,394)											 -																									 (10,394)																	
Accruals 102,275										 44,066																		 146,341																
Actuarial	gains	(losses) 32,960												 16,397																		 49,357																		
Balance	at	30	September	2020 246,904										 201,445																 448,349																

Note 15. Customer down payments and deposits
The item payments on account consists of deposits and down payments received against contracts entered into to sell real estate 
units under construction. In detail, the non-current liability for down payments and deposits, amounting to Euro 45,256 thousand, 
refers to the subsidiaries Milano City Village s.r.l., Trilogy Towers s.r.l., Palazzo Naviglio and Savona 105 (Euro 23,740 thousand, 
Euro 12,683, Euro 3,938 thousand and Euro 3,219 thousand respectively) and the current liability for down payments and deposits, 
amounting to Euro 12,131 thousand, refers to the subsidiaries Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. and AID7 s.r.l. (Euro 7,817 thousand and 
Euro 4,314 thousand respectively).

Note 16. Trade payables
Trade payables amount to Euro 12,499 thousand (Euro 6,815 thousand at 30 September 2019) and are recognised at nominal value. 
All payables fall due within the next year. They mainly refer to suppliers involved in production activities. There are no significant 
payables in currencies other than the Euro.

Note 17. Other current liabilities
The table below shows the breakdown of other current liabilities at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.

Payables arising from the phased payment of town planning costs refer to the subsidiaries Maggiolina s.r.l., Abitare in Development 
7 s.r.l. and Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. and amount respectively to Euro 665 thousand, Euro 636 thousand and Euro 746 thousand.
The item other payables mainly includes:
- Retention money payable to the contractor engaged to build the real estate projects of the subsidiaries Abitare in 
Maggiolina s.r.l., Milano City Village s.r.l. and Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l, amounting to Euro 1,936 thousand;
- Retention money payable to the contractor engaged to complete demolition works in the real estate project of the 
subsidiaries Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. and Milano Progetti s.r.l, amounting to Euro 292 thousand.
Accrued expenses and prepaid income mainly include:
- Payables to directors, amounting to Euro 336 thousand;
- Accrued expenses for IMU tax, amounting to Euro 182 thousand.

Note 18. Current tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities mainly refer to IRES tax payable, amounting to Euro 1,821 thousand.

Note 19.3 Change in inventory for progress of works
The item “Change in inventory for progress of works” breaks down as follows:

Note 19.4 Other operating revenue
Other operating revenue, amounting to Euro 2,580 thousand at 30 September 2020, mainly refers to revenue from promotional 
activities carried out for furniture suppliers (Euro 1,406 thousand), site rehabilitation costs refunded by the seller in accordance 
with the relevant agreement (Euro 674 thousand) and R&D tax relief (Euro 60 thousand).

The breakdown of revenue from sales and services by asset type and geographical area has been omitted insofar as it is immaterial.

Note 19. Revenue and changes in work in progress and finished products
Total revenue amounts to Euro 73,076 thousand at 30 September 2020 (Euro 44,566 thousand at 30 September 2019). The change 
is mainly due to the increase in the item “Revenue from sales and services”. 

Note 19.1 Revenue from sales and services
Revenue from sales and services, amounting to Euro 41,369 thousand at 30 September 2020, mainly refers to the sale of a residential 
unit by Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l.. 

Note 19.2 Change in inventory for new sites purchased
 At 30 September 2020 this item includes the costs incurred for the acquisition of the real estate complex by the subsidiaries 
Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. and Aid7 s.r.l., amounting to Euro 5,000 thousand and Euro 15,600 thousand respectively.

Note 14. Other non-current liabilities
At 30 September 2020, the item “Other non-current liabilities” consisted of the directors’ severance indemnity reserve (Euro 201 
thousand) and the provision for risks linked to the MBOs assigned to employees and accrued in the period (Euro 280 thousand). 
The following changes were recorded in the directors’ severance indemnity reserve:
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30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Legal, notarial and administrative consultancy 																								503,721			 																								462,272			 41,449	
Technical	consultancy 																								540,393			 																								393,862			 146,531	
Design	and	project	management 																					3,775,854			 																					2,328,942			 1,446,912	
Construction	costs 																			18,119,074			 																			14,168,019			 3,951,055	
Rehabilitation 																					2,395,658			 																								439,908			 1,955,750	
Demolition 																					2,611,359			 																					1,104,005			 1,507,354	
Directors 																								617,414			 																								318,565			 298,849	
Statutory	auditors,	auditing	firm	and	supervisory	body 																								114,555			 																										80,750			 33,805	
Marketing	and	advertising 																								697,750			 																								356,055			 341,695	
Furniture	costs 																					2,052,136			 																																			-					 2,052,136	
Brokerage	fees 																								580,906			 																								415,884			 165,022	
Sureties 																								652,117			 																								623,161			 28,956	
Insurance 																								208,972			 																								147,519			 61,453	
Town	planning	costs 																					3,093,150			 																																			-					 3,093,150	
Utilities 																								115,953			 																										80,730			 35,223	
Other 																					2,296,228			 																					1,358,178			 938,050	
Total 																			38,375,241			 																			22,277,850			 16,097,391	

Rehabilitation Demolition
TT 164,227.00 275,681.00
MCV 236,550.00 867,455.00

Design and project management 2020
304,376.00

2,932.00
11,840.00
42,224.00

€ 2,019

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Wages	and	salaries 								3,022,122			 										982,020			 2,040,102									
Social	security	costs 											450,374			 										204,341			 246,033													
Severance	indemnity	reserve	(TFR) 											102,275			 												77,414			 24,861															
Other	expenses 													14,827			 										113,694			 (98,867)														
Total	personnel	expenses 							3,589,598			 							1,377,469			 								2,212,129			

	Average	 	End-of-period	 	Average	 	End-of-period	
Executives 2																										 2																													 1																				 2																							
Office	workers 32																								 32																											 17																	 31																					
Total	 34																								 34																											 18																	 33																					

30.09.2020 30.09.2019

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
Amortisation of intangible assets 										411,520			 												270,377			 141,143											
Depreciation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 										298,162			 												256,476			 41,686													
Total	amortisation/depreciation 										709,682			 												526,853			 										182,829			

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 	Change	
current 																							1,999,257			 265,515																												 1,733,742																									
deferred 29,293																														 2,813,679																									 (2,784,386)																							
Income	taxes 																							2,028,550			 3,079,194																								 (1,050,644)																							

Note 20.1 Services
Costs for services break down as follows:

Note 20.2 Personnel expenses
The breakdown of personnel expenses is as follows:

Wages and salaries include:
- costs related to the stock grants assigned, amounting to Euro 1,221 thousand;
- bonuses payable to employees, amounting to Euro 422 thousand.

Note 20.3 Depreciation/Amortisation
The breakdown of “Depreciation/amortisation” is as follows:

The increase in depreciation/amortisation mainly reflects the incremental investments made in Development by the parent company 
Abitare In S.p.A..

Note 20.4 Impairment losses and provisions
The item “Impairment losses and provisions” consists exclusively of the accrual to the directors’ severance indemnity reserve.

Note 20.5 Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses amount to Euro 1,393 thousand and mainly include indirect taxes (including IMU tax amounting to Euro 
514 thousand), contractual penalties (Euro 300) and, for the remainder, subscriptions and membership fees and various losses.

Note 21. Financial income and expenses
At 30 September 2020, financial income amounted to Euro 5,192 thousand and mainly refers to:
- the re-measurement at fair value of the equity investment in Tecma Solution s.r.l., amounting to Euro 1,290 thousand;
- the capital gain on fundraising from third parties on Homizy, arising from the difference between the value of equity and 
the net carrying amount, amounting to Euro 3,892 thousand.  

Financial expenses amount to Euro 2,076 thousand and Euro 1,370 thousand respectively, at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 
2019. The change above is mainly due to the increase in average financial payables to banks.  

Employees
The table below shows the average/end-of-period number of employees by category at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019:

Current taxes consist of IRES tax (Euro 1,842 thousand) and IRAP tax (Euro 157 thousand).

Note 22. Income taxes
The table below shows the breakdown of income taxes at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019. 

Note 20. Operating expenses
At 30 September 2020 this item includes costs incurred for the acquisition of the real estate complex by the subsidiaries Palazzo 
Naviglio s.r.l. (Euro 5,000 thousand) and Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l. (Euro 15,600 thousand).
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	30.09.2020	 	30.09.2019	 Change
Net	profit	(loss)	attributable	to	the	owners	of	the	Parent	
(Euro)

9,182,128 6,374,925 2,807,203

No.	of	shares	outstanding 2,593,938 2,554,560 											39,378.00			
Number	of	potential	ordinary	shares 								29,508.00			 -															29,508			
Average	number	of	shares	outstanding	considered	in	the	
calculation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share

2,593,938 2,584,068 9,870

Earnings	per	share	(Euro) 3.54 2.50 																					1.04			
Diluted	earnings	per	share	(Euro) 3.54 2.47 																					1.07			

	30.09.2020	 	30.09.2019	 Change
Net	profit	(loss)	attributable	to	the	owners	of	the	Parent	in	
statement	of	comprehensive	income	(Euro)

9,144,616 6,376,858 2,767,758

No.	of	shares	outstanding 2,593,938 2,554,560 											39,378.00			
Number	of	potential	ordinary	shares 								29,508.00			 -															29,508			
Average	number	of	shares	outstanding	considered	in	the	
calculation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share

2,593,938 2,584,068 9,870

Earnings	per	share	(Euro) 3.53 2.50 																					1.03			
Diluted	earnings	per	share	(Euro) 3.53 2.47 																					1.06			

Item AID3	s.r.l. AID4	s.r.l. AID5	s.r.l. AID6	s.r.l. AID7	s.r.l. SV	105	s.r.l. AIM	s.r.l. MCV	s.r.l.
Revenue 78 137,034 78 8,606 2,239,682 2,097,412 195,892 961,169
Expenses 360,078 149,034 13,078 18,606 126,800 142,321 74,392 61,169
Interest	income	on	loans 23,958 33,584 8,482 26,908 42,113 57,384 -																	 134,873
Trade	receivables 48,575 565,468 112 14,015 2,819,432 2,162,156 936,387 88,187
Financial	receivables 1,213,518 2,557,825 71,527 1,247,739 2,009,526 2,762,997 700,000 6,586,046
CNM	Receivables	(from	national	and	
global	consolidation)

35,457 5,747 1,220 4,183 22,833 11,513 1,790,065 66,339

Trade	payables 151,007 -																		 -																	 -																									 -																						 -																						 -																	 247,530
Financial	payables -																						 15,500 16,500 14,000 8,106 5,000 4,620,000 -																					
CNM	payables	(for	national	and	global	
consolidation)

51,309 5,644 1,561 4,235 31,001 13,209 75,932 118,071

Item MyC	s.r.l. MI	s.r.l. ML	s.r.l. MP	s.r.l. TT	s.r.l. PN	s.r.l. SMC	s.r.l. MV	s.r.l.
Revenue 6,681 388,400									 -																	 78																										 390,286													 1,994,700										 -																	 87,360															
Expenses 6,681 145,400									 12,000											 78																										 22,516															 100,200													 6,000													 92,360															
Interest	income	on	loans 38,528															 13,729												 9,966													 212,006																 44,825															 35,969															 3																					 11,245															
Trade	receivables 144,068 421,897									 10,124											 2,967,152												 620,117													 945,994													 51,548											 87,394															
Financial	receivables 1,903,370										 838,729									 531,966									 10,518,829										 1,998,614										 1,667,850										 3																					 624,538													
CNM	Receivables	(from	national	and	
global	consolidation)

22,284															 2,038														 2,221													 37,961																		 27,790															 11,051															 500																 1,876																	

Trade	payables -																						 -																		 -																	 20,595																		 301,729													 -																						 -																	 -																					
Financial	payables -																						 57,000												 15,500											 -																									 -																						 15,000															 6,000													 9,000																	
CNM	payables	(for	national	and	global	
consolidation)

13,501 2,411														 2,392													 79,959																		 47,293															 25,033															 466																 1,990																	

Item AL	s.r.l. VL	s.r.l. HO	S.p.A. HM	s.r.l. HN	s.r.l. Total
Revenue 156 78 78 -																									 -																						 8,507,769
Expenses 156 78 78 -																									 2,500 1,333,526
Interest	income	on	loans -																						 -																		 1,567 -																									 -																						 695,141
Trade	receivables 160,500 422 56,820 34 34 12,100,438
Financial	receivables -																						 -																		 2,035 -																									 -																						 35,235,113
CNM	Receivables	(from	national	and	
global	consolidation)

-																						 -																		 7,915 -																									 74 2,051,067

Trade	payables -																						 -																		 -																	 -																									 -																						 720,861
Financial	payables -																						 -																		 1,157,098 -																									 2,500 5,941,203
CNM	payables	(for	national	and	global	
consolidation)

207
202																	 47,535											 540																								

-																						 522,491

Item AID3	s.r.l. AID4	s.r.l. AID5	s.r.l. AID6	s.r.l. AID7	s.r.l. SV	105	s.r.l. AIM	s.r.l. MCV	s.r.l.
Revenue 78 137,034 78 8,606 2,239,682 2,097,412 195,892 961,169
Expenses 360,078 149,034 13,078 18,606 126,800 142,321 74,392 61,169
Interest	income	on	loans 23,958 33,584 8,482 26,908 42,113 57,384 -																	 134,873
Trade	receivables 48,575 565,468 112 14,015 2,819,432 2,162,156 936,387 88,187
Financial	receivables 1,213,518 2,557,825 71,527 1,247,739 2,009,526 2,762,997 700,000 6,586,046
CNM	Receivables	(from	national	and	
global	consolidation)

35,457 5,747 1,220 4,183 22,833 11,513 1,790,065 66,339

Trade	payables 151,007 -																		 -																	 -																									 -																						 -																						 -																	 247,530
Financial	payables -																						 15,500 16,500 14,000 8,106 5,000 4,620,000 -																					
CNM	payables	(for	national	and	global	
consolidation)

51,309 5,644 1,561 4,235 31,001 13,209 75,932 118,071

Item MyC	s.r.l. MI	s.r.l. ML	s.r.l. MP	s.r.l. TT	s.r.l. PN	s.r.l. SMC	s.r.l. MV	s.r.l.
Revenue 6,681 388,400									 -																	 78																										 390,286													 1,994,700										 -																	 87,360															
Expenses 6,681 145,400									 12,000											 78																										 22,516															 100,200													 6,000													 92,360															
Interest	income	on	loans 38,528															 13,729												 9,966													 212,006																 44,825															 35,969															 3																					 11,245															
Trade	receivables 144,068 421,897									 10,124											 2,967,152												 620,117													 945,994													 51,548											 87,394															
Financial	receivables 1,903,370										 838,729									 531,966									 10,518,829										 1,998,614										 1,667,850										 3																					 624,538													
CNM	Receivables	(from	national	and	
global	consolidation)

22,284															 2,038														 2,221													 37,961																		 27,790															 11,051															 500																 1,876																	

Trade	payables -																						 -																		 -																	 20,595																		 301,729													 -																						 -																	 -																					
Financial	payables -																						 57,000												 15,500											 -																									 -																						 15,000															 6,000													 9,000																	
CNM	payables	(for	national	and	global	
consolidation)

13,501 2,411														 2,392													 79,959																		 47,293															 25,033															 466																 1,990																	

Item AL	s.r.l. VL	s.r.l. HO	S.p.A. HM	s.r.l. HN	s.r.l. Total
Revenue 156 78 78 -																									 -																						 8,507,769
Expenses 156 78 78 -																									 2,500 1,333,526
Interest	income	on	loans -																						 -																		 1,567 -																									 -																						 695,141
Trade	receivables 160,500 422 56,820 34 34 12,100,438
Financial	receivables -																						 -																		 2,035 -																									 -																						 35,235,113
CNM	Receivables	(from	national	and	
global	consolidation)

-																						 -																		 7,915 -																									 74 2,051,067

Trade	payables -																						 -																		 -																	 -																									 -																						 720,861
Financial	payables -																						 -																		 1,157,098 -																									 2,500 5,941,203
CNM	payables	(for	national	and	global	
consolidation)

207
202																	 47,535											 540																								

-																						 522,491

Note 23. Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent 
company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding in the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing the profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding in the period and of those potentially to be issued if the targets set in the stock grant plan are met.
The table below shows the breakdown of the item basic and diluted earnings per share at 30 September 2020 and 30 September 
2019. 

Related-party transactions

Pursuant to IAS 24, the related parties of the Group are companies and individuals that are able to exercise control, joint control or 
have significant influence on the Group and its subsidiaries. 
Intercompany transactions are of a business and financial nature and are generally formalised by contracts. Such transactions are 
carried out at arm’s length and are carefully monitored by the Board of Directors. The transactions carried out with such related 
parties refer to the normal operations of each single entity. No atypical or unusual transactions have been carried out with them.
Transactions with Group companies.
During the year, the Company carried out a number of business and financial transactions with the companies of the Group.
A summary of transactions carried out in the period is provided below.

The following related-party transactions were carried out in the reporting period:

- On 22 October 2019 the Company approved the signing of a comfort letter in favour of the subsidiary Nova City s.r.l. (now 
Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l.) to guarantee the amount granted to the subsidiary by UBI Banca under a landed property loan to acquire the 
property on which the Palazzo Naviglio real estate project will be built.
- On 21 January 2020 the Company approved the signing of a second comfort letter in favour of the subsidiary Palazzo 
Naviglio s.r.l. (formerly Nova City s.r.l.) to guarantee the amount granted to the subsidiary by UBI Banca under a landed property 
loan to acquire the property on which the Palazzo Naviglio real estate project will be built.
- On 18 March 2020 the Board of Directors of Abitare In S.p.A. approved the signing of the service agreement with Palazzo 
Naviglio s.r.l..
- On 12 June 2020 the Board of Directors approved the signing of a capitalisation commitment in favour of Banca Intesa, as 
guarantee for the landed property loan taken out by Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l. and also approved the pledge, again in favour of 
Banca Intesa, of the entire equity investment in Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l. to guarantee the fulfilment of the obligations under 
the landed property loan granted by it to AID7 s.r.l..

No related-party transactions were carried out outside the Group.

Commitments and guarantees provided by the Group

In addition to the transactions described in the section referring to related-party transactions, the following commitments, 
guarantees and contingent liabilities not reported in the statement of financial position are highlighted:
· capitalisation commitment in favour of Banca Popolare di Milano as guarantee for the loan which the bank has granted to 
Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. to build the Abitare in Maggiolina complex;
· surety to guarantee the fulfilment of the obligations undertaken by Milano Progetti s.r.l. in connection with the landed 
property loan agreement entered into with Intesa Sanpaolo;
· surety to guarantee the fulfilment of the obligations undertaken by Abitare In Development 3 s.r.l. in connection with the 
mortgage agreement entered into by the latter with Banca Reale S.p.A.;
· surety in favour of BPM to secure the loan granted by the latter to Milano City Village s.r.l. and capitalisation commitment, 
again in favour of BPM, as guarantee for the loan granted to Milano City Village s.r.l.;
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(in	Euro)
Note Carrying	amount Level	1 Level	2 Level	3

Assets
Equity	investments	in	other	companies 3 2,296,000 2,296,000														 -															 -																							
Trade	receivables 6 585,837 -																										 -															 585,837
Other	current	assets 7 14,386,768 -																										 -															 14,386,768
Current	financial	assets 9 0 0 -															 -																							
Cash	and	cash	equivalents 10 35,480,995 35,480,995 -															 -																							
Liabilities	
Non-current	financial	liabilities 12 39,224,134 39,224,134 -															 -																							
Other	non-current	liabilities 14 481,445 -																										 -															 481,445
Current	financial	liabilities 12 22,405,876 22,405,876 -															 -																							
Customer	down	payments	and	deposits 15 57,387,403 -																										 -															 57,387,403
Trade	payables 16 12,499,970 -																										 -															 12,499,970
Other	current	liabilities 17 5,621,730 -																										 -															 5,621,730

At	30.09.2020

Amounts	in	K€ 30.09.2020
Annual	statutory	audit 																												46			
Other	services 																													-					
Total 																												46			

Contingent liabilities 

There are no contingent liabilities requiring an increase in the provision for risks, in addition to the provisions already made or mentioned 
in these notes. 

Fees paid to the Auditing Firm

The table below shows the breakdown of the fees recognised for the six months ended 31 March 2020 for auditing services and other 
services supplied by the Auditing Firm BDO S.p.A..

· surety in favour of UBI to secure the loan granted by the latter to Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. and capitalisation commitment, 
again in favour of UBI, as guarantee for the loan granted to Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l;
· co-obligation commitment as assurance of the fulfilment of the obligations undertaken by Milano City Village s.r.l. in the 
context of an agreement entered into with Reale Mutua Assicurazioni for the provision of sureties on real estate under construction;
· the quotas held in the company Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. were pledged in favour of a bank to secure a loan granted to the 
parent company.

Financial risk management policy

See the Directors' report accompanying the consolidated financial statements for further information.

Information on the carrying amount and fair value of financial instruments

IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 require that financial instruments measured at fair value are classified on the basis of the quality of the inputs 
used to determine their fair value. More specifically, IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 provide for 3 fair value levels:
• level 1: financial assets and liabilities whose fair value is determined on the basis of quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets (regulated and over the counter) for identical assets or liabilities;
• level 2: financial assets and liabilities whose fair value is determined on the basis of inputs other than the quoted prices in 
level 1, but which, for such assets and liabilities, are directly or indirectly observable on the market; 
• level 3: financial assets and liabilities whose fair value is determined on the basis of unobservable market data. This 
category includes instruments measured on the basis of internal estimates using proprietary methods in accordance with sector-
specific best practices.
No transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy were made in the relevant periods.
The table below provides a summary of assets and liabilities measured at fair value at 30 September 2020, based on the level that 
reflects the inputs used to determine their fair value:

Location: Savona 105,
(virtual photo - entrance lounge)

via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona

Milan
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Description 30.09.2020 30.09.2019
Non-current	assets 10,904,285	 9,265,078	
Current	assets 191,214,505	 145,135,575	
TOTAL	ASSETS 202,118,790	 154,400,653	
Equity: 58,343,480	 47,464,136	
-	of	which	profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,197,205	 6,374,925	
Non-current	liabilities 89,267,272	 80,202,870	
Current	liabilities 54,508,038	 26,733,647	
TOTAL	LIABILITIES 202,118,790	 154,400,653	

Description 30.09.2020 30.09.2019
Non-current	assets 10,904,285	 9,265,078	
Current	assets 191,214,505	 145,135,575	
TOTAL	ASSETS 202,118,790	 154,400,653	
Equity: 58,343,480	 47,464,136	
-	of	which	profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,197,205	 6,374,925	
Non-current	liabilities 89,267,272	 80,202,870	
Current	liabilities 54,508,038	 26,733,647	
TOTAL	LIABILITIES 202,118,790	 154,400,653	

Description 30.09.2020
%	of	revenue	and	change	

in	inventory
30.09.2019 %	of	revenue

Revenue	from	operating	activities 41,368,522	 300,780	
Changes	in	inventory	of	work	in	progress	and	finished	products 8,527,320	 35,203,274	
Change	in	inventory	of	real	estate	complexes	purchased 20,600,000	 8,632,844	
Other	revenue	from	operating	activities 2,580,491	 3.53% 428,882	 0.96%
Total	revenue	from	operating	activities 73,076,333	 100.00% 44,565,780	 100.00%
Production	costs (59,245,407)	 -81.07% (31,065,543)	 -69.71%
ADDED	VALUE 13,830,927	 18.93% 13,500,237	 30.29%
Personnel	expenses (3,589,598)	 -4.91% (1,377,469)	 -3.09%
Other	operating	expenses (1,392,872)	 -1.91% (755,309)	 -1.69%
EBITDA	 8,848,456	 12.11% 11,367,459	 25.51%
Adjusted	EBITDA	(1) 10,069,890	 13.78% 11,367,459	 25.51%
Depreciation/amortisation,	impairment	and	other	provisions (753,748)	 -1.03% (561,923)	 -1.26%
EBIT	 8,094,709	 11.08% 10,805,536	 24.25%
Adjusted	EBIT	(1) 9,316,143	 12.75% 10,805,536	 24.25%
Financial	income	and	expenses	and	adjustments	to	financial	assets 3,115,969	 4.26% (1,351,417)	 -3.03%
EBT	 11,210,678	 15.34% 9,454,119	 21.21%
Adjusted	EBT	(1) 12,432,112	 17.01% 9,454,119	 21.21%
Income	taxes (2,028,550)	 -2.78% (3,079,194)	 -6.91%
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,182,128	 12.57% 6,374,925	 14.30%

Annual Report at 30 September 2020

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
accompanying the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Dear Shareholders,

This Directors’ report at 30/09/2020 was prepared 
pursuant to art. 40 of Italian Legislative Decree 
127/1991 to give a fair, balanced and comprehen-
sive view of the current situation of the Abitare In 
Group, its performance and operating result and 
the business activities carried out by the Group 
companies. Information is also given concerning 
the risks to which the Group is exposed.

COMPANY’S BUSINESS ACTIVITY

The Group is active in the development of residen-
tial property, exclusively in the metropolitan area of 
the city of Milan.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the IAS/IFRS international 
accounting standards. The transition to the IAS/
IFRS international accounting standards, which the 
Group has adopted on a voluntary basis according 
to the AIM Italia Issuers’ Regulation, reflects the 
need to present financial information in a univer-
sally accepted language in order to reach an in-
creasingly international audience of stakeholders. 
Moreover, by adopting those standards, the Abitare 
In Group has achieved the goal of further improving 
its own standards of information transparency and 
accuracy by presenting data that is more easily 
comparable with those of international competi-
tors. 

COMPANY FINANCIAL POSITION AND PER-
FORMANCE

The reporting period ended with a profit of Euro 
9,182,128.
The tables below provide a summary of the 
Company’s financial position and performance in 
the reporting period, with emphasis on the factors 
described above:

Location: Palazzo Naviglio 
(virtual photo - garden at night)
via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7
Neighbourhood: Giambellino
Milan

The value of consolidated revenue, equal to Euro 73.1 
million, is mainly the result of the composition of the 
following three items: 
(i) change in inventory for progress of works 
on real estate projects, amounting to Euro 8.5 
million, impacted by outgoing inventory linked to the 
completion of works and the finalisation of notarial 
deeds for the Abitare in Maggiolina project;
(ii) change in inventory for new sites purchased, 
amounting to Euro 20.6 million, and
(iii) revenue from sales referring to the sale of the 
apartments of the Abitare in Maggiolina project (81 
units out of 125 at 30/09/2020).

In detail, the change in inventory for progress of 
works amounts to Euro 8.5 million, net of the 
outgoing inventory linked to sales completed under 
the Abitare in Maggiolina project. More specifically, at 
30/09/2020, the progress of sites was equivalent to 
Euro 30.0 million vs. Euro 18.0 million at 30/09/2019.
With reference to the “change in inventory for new 
sites purchased”, the amount refers to the acquisition 
of the real estate complexes where work is currently 
under way on the “Olimpia Garden” and “Palazzo 
Naviglio” projects, while “Revenue from sales” refers to 

the sale of real estate units of the Abitare in Maggiolina 
complex, by the subsidiary of the same name, which 
was completed during the reporting period.

With reference to the 2019-2021 Business Plan 
approved by the Company on 27 September 2019, 
please note that the actual revenue indicated in the 
draft financial statements shows a difference of Euro 
25 million as a result of the deferred purchase of two 
real estate complexes, as per the press release dated 
2 October 2020, and for the remainder, the delay in 
some site works due to the “Covid-19” restrictions. 
Furthermore, EBT was impacted by higher “Covid-19” 
costs, which amounted to Euro 2.5 million in the 
reporting period.

The 2020 financial statements were also impacted - 
mainly with reference to EBT - by the recognition of 
the following extraordinary items not considered in 
the business plan:
- the non-application of the contracts standard 
(IFRS 15) to the Olimpia Garden project: since this 
operation differs from Abitare In’s standard operations, 
in that the property was part-built at the time of 
purchase, the Company has prudently opted not to 

(1): Adjusted due to higher notional costs (Euro 1.2 million) related to the application of IFRS 2 in relation to 
the allocation of the Stock Grant.
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apply the accounting standard and not to account 
for the share of profit. For the above reason, EBT 
is negatively impacted by Euro 4.5 million;
- the capital gain of Euro 3.9 million, 
resulting from the execution of the first tranche of 
the Homizy S.p.A. capital increase, subscribed by 
third parties;
- the capital gain from the re-measurement 
of the equity investment at fair value, for Euro 1.3 
million, resulting from the listing of the shares of 
Tecma Solutions S.p.A. - in which Abitare In held 
a 10% equity investment at 30 September 2020 - 
on the AIM Italia market.

As a commentary to the figures shown in the 
tables, the following notes are added to describe 
the different aspects of operations that have had 
an impact on these financial statements or will 
have an impact on future developments:
a) the period covered by this Report sees the 
Abitare In Group continuing construction activities 
on the projects under development and their 
marketing, research, prospecting and selection 
of new areas to develop, as well as the start and 
continuation of the administrative processes 
needed to obtain the required authorisations for 
the construction of real estate complexes, and 
the finalisation of the notarial deeds for 65% of 
the real estate units of the Abitare in Maggiolina 
complex;
b) as is well known, this reporting period has 
been affected by the spread of the Covid-19 virus 
which has had a major impact on the national 
and global economy. Following the containment 
measures introduced in March, construction 
activities at the worksites were temporarily 
suspended. However, the Company continued to 
work on the administrative processes for obtaining 
the authorisations needed for the various real 
estate development projects, albeit with longer 
time frames given that the offices of the Public 
Administration are operating at reduced capacity;
c) on 30 October 2019, Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. 
(formerly Nova City s.r.l.) acquired the title of the 
property complex located in the Naviglio Grande 
area of Milan, where the “Palazzo Naviglio” 
residential development will be built, a 76 unit 
apartment (standard-size) complex consisting of a 

building with a contemporary design and very low 
environmental impact. In the period covered by 
this Report, the Palazzo Naviglio project also went 
on the market and achieved extraordinary results 
even during the health emergency;
d) on 31 October 2019, Abitare In S.p.A. 
announced to the market that it has entered the 
rental market through Homizy, the new strategic 
business line focused on developing properties 
that will generate income through co-living 
solutions. The Homizy project will be developed 
by the Group company bearing the same name 
(Homizy S.p.A.), registered in the Register of 
Innovative Startups;
e) on 8 November 2019, MICA s.r.l., a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Abitare In S.p.A., 
signed a preliminary contract to acquire a real 
estate complex in the Naviglio Grande area of 
Milan for an agreed price of Euro 6.5 million, of 
which Euro 0.7 million paid as a down payment. 
The final contract, which was originally scheduled 
for March 2020, has been postponed to January 
2021 in agreement with the owner due to the 
Covid-19 health emergency;
f) on 18 December 2019, when approving 
the draft financial statements at 30 September 
2019, the Board of Directors of Abitare In resolved 
to execute the first tranche of the free share 
capital increase approved by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting on 20 December 2018, to be assigned 
free of charge to employees through the issue of 
16,248 ordinary shares of the Company;
g) on 15 January 2020, the Board of 
Directors also resolved to grant a mandate to 
the Chief Executive Officers to start the process 
of transferring the shares of Abitare In S.p.A. to 
the STAR segment of the MTA Market, which 
has always been one of the Company’s strategic 
objectives;
h) on 21 January 2020, Abitare In 
Development 4 s.r.l., a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Abitare In S.p.A., signed a preliminary agreement 
to acquire a new development area, located in the 
area south of Porta Romana, known as “SouPra” 
(Vigentino). The agreed consideration is Euro 16.1 
million plus a maximum earn-out of an additional 
Euro 6.0 million linked to the results of the real 
estate development transaction that will be 

realised on the site;
i) on 30 January 2020, on approval of the 
financial statements at 30 September 2019, 
the Shareholders’ Meeting of Abitare In S.p.A. 
resolved to increase the number of members of 
the Board of Directors from 4 to 5 and appointed 
Mr Giuseppe Vegas as a new independent 
director;
j) on 9 March 2020, the Board of Directors 
of Homizy S.p.A. resolved to give powers to 
the Chairman of Homizy’s Board of Directors, 
Marco Grillo, and to the Deputy Chairman, 
Luigi Gozzini, to fundraise on the market to 
strengthen Homizy’s capital, also with a view 
to providing it with the resources necessary 
to grasp any new opportunities offered on the 
market to acquire sites for the development of 
new business. The decision was followed by a 
resolution of Homizy’s Shareholders’ Meeting 
on 29 April 2020, which approved a capital 
increase for Homizy for a maximum of Euro 12 
million including the share premium, without 
pre-emption rights and therefore by offering 
it to third parties. The increase is to be carried 
out in cash, even in several tranches, by 30 April 
2021;
k) on 8 May 2020, the first tranche of 
the capital increase was executed through the 
subscription, by 20 new shareholders, of 56,250 
ordinary shares at a per unit subscription price of 
Euro 80, for an overall value of Euro 4.5 million;
l) in the last few days of April, at the end 
of the lockdown imposed by the authorities to 
contain the spread of Covid-19, construction 
work resumed on the real estate projects under 
construction (Abitare in Maggiolina, Milano City 
Village, Trilogy Towers, Palazzo Naviglio, Cadolini 
- “Former Plasmon” area, Olimpia Garden) with 
activities rescheduled after being suspended 
due to the containment measures. During the 
entire period, the Company continued to work 
on obtaining the authorisations needed for the 
various real estate development projects. It 
should be mentioned that the impact caused by 
the suspension of activities has varied according 
to the state of progress of the different sites. 
In fact, worksites in a more advanced stage of 
construction, such as Abitare in Maggiolina, 

suffered more in terms of timing and costs than 
worksites that were launched more recently;
m) on 25 May 2020, Abitare In Development 
7 s.r.l. signed the final contract to purchase the 
real estate complex located in the Corvetto area 
of Milan where work is currently under way 
on the development of the “Olimpia Garden” 
residential project, of which the marketing 
campaign has been very successful, especially 
considering the Covid-19 emergency;
n) at the signing date of the final contract, 
Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l. also signed an 
agreement for a landed property loan with 
Intesa Sanpaolo for Euro 17.0 million to acquire 
the property and complete construction;
o) on 22 June 2020, Milano Progetti s.r.l. - 
owner of the disused real estate complex at via 
Cadolini in Milan (so-called “former Plasmon” 
area) - signed a preliminary agreement with the 
Korian Italia Group to sell to the latter a portion of 
around 17% of the project’s surface area (where 
Korian will develop a senior living project and, 
in part, a residential care home). The preliminary 
agreement provides that Abitare In S.p.A., in 
view of its strong know-how, will manage only 
the administrative process to obtain the relevant 
authorisations, while the buyer will complete 
the design, execution and development of the 
senior living project. In light of the above, the 
final conveyance agreement for the site will be 
entered into subsequent to the obtainment of 
the required authorisations, expected by 31 
December 2021. The agreed consideration is 
Euro 13.0 million, of which Euro 1.0 million to 
be paid as a down payment on completion of 
the first stage of the authorisation process. The 
balance will be paid on the date of the notarial 
deed;
p) on 24 June 2020, upon approval of the 
half-yearly financial report at 31 March 2020, 
the Board of Directors of Abitare In resolved 
to issue the second - and last - tranche of the 
free share capital increase approved by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting on 18 December 2018, 
through the free issue of No. 22,730 ordinary 
shares of the Company in favour of No. 43 
beneficiaries, having the same characteristics as 
the shares currently outstanding.
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CONSOLIDATED	NET	FINANCIAL	POSITION
	Abitare	In	-	
Consolidated

Abitare	In	-	
Consolidated

30/09/20 30/09/20 30/09/19
amounts	in	Euro

A.	Cash	and	bank	accounts (35,480,995)	 (21,690,755)	 (13,790,240)	
B.	Other	cash	and	cash	equivalents
C.	Held-for-trading	securities (1)	 (156,760)	 156,759	
D.	Liquidity	(A)+(B)+(C) (35,480,996)	 (21,847,515)	 (13,633,481)	
E.	Current	financial	receivables
F.	Short-term	payables	to	banks 22,337,465	 959,973	 21,377,492	
G.	Loans	and	borrowings	from	other	lenders
H.	Other	current	financial	payables 68,411	 35,699	 32,712	
I.	Current	Financial	Debt	(F)+(G)+(H) 22,405,876	 995,672	 21,410,204	
J.	Net	Current	Financial	Debt	(D)+(E)+(I) (13,075,120)	 (20,851,843)	 7,776,723	
K.	Non-current	payables	to	banks 38,614,405	 52,350,303	 (13,735,898)	
L.	Bonds	issued
M.	Other	non-current	payables 609,729	 469,615	 140,114	
N.	Non-current	financial	debt	(K)+(L)+(M) 39,224,134	 52,819,918	 (13,595,784)	
O.	Net	Financial	Position	(J)+(N) 26,149,014	 31,968,075	 (5,819,061)	

CONSOLIDATED NET FINANCIAL POSITION  Abitare In - 
Consolidated

Abitare In - 
Consolidated

30/09/20 30/09/20 30/09/19
amounts in Euro

A. Cash and bank accounts (35,480,995) (21,690,755) (13,790,240) 
B. Other cash and cash equivalents
C. Held-for-trading securities (1) (156,760) 156,759 
D. Liquidity (A)+(B)+(C) (35,480,996) (21,847,515) (13,633,481) 
E. Current financial receivables
F. Short-term payables to banks 22,337,465 959,973 21,377,492 
G. Loans and borrowings from other lenders
H. Other current financial payables 68,411 35,699 32,712 
I. Current Financial Debt (F)+(G)+(H) 22,405,876 995,672 21,410,204 
J. Net Current Financial Debt (D)+(E)+(I) (13,075,120) (20,851,843) 7,776,723 
K. Non-current payables to banks 38,614,405 52,350,303 (13,735,898) 
L. Bonds issued
M. Other non-current payables 609,729 469,615 140,114 
N. Non-current financial debt (K)+(L)+(M) 39,224,134 52,819,918 (13,595,784) 
O. Net Financial Position (J)+(N) 26,149,014 31,968,075 (5,819,061) 

	Change	

 Change 

Loan	type	(Euro/000) Borrower	company
Within	one	

year

Beyond	one	
year	and	

within	5	years Beyond	5	years Total	payable
Loan Abitare	In	S.p.A. 321	 769	 																						-					 1,089	
Loan Abitare	In	S.p.A. 8,500	 																						-					 																						-					 8,500	
Loan Abitare	In	S.p.A. 																						-					 5,164	 																						-					 5,164	
Mortgage	loan Abitare	In	Development	3	s.r.l. 182	 869	 1,531	 2,582	
Landed	property	loan Abitare	In	Development	7	s.r.l. 103	 11,783	 																						-					 11,886	
Landed	property	loan Abitare	in	Maggiolina	s.r.l. 5,500	 																						-					 																						-					 5,500	
Landed	property	loan Milano	City	Village	s.r.l. 65	 5,015	 6,159	 11,239	
Landed	property	loan Trilogy	Towers	s.r.l. 3	 676	 723	 1,403	
Landed	property	loan Palazzo	Naviglio	s.r.l. 9	 646	 2,794	 3,449	
Credit	facility	backed	by	landed	property Milano	Progetti	s.r.l. 7,655	 																						-					 																						-					 7,655	
Mortgage	loan MyCity	s.r.l. 																						-					 1,847	 639	 2,485	
TOTAL 22,337	 26,768	 11,846	 60,952	

Investments Amount %	of	investments
Current	liquidity 35,480,995	 18%
Deferred	liquidity 16,675,220	 8%
Inventory 139,058,289	 69%
Total	current	assets 191,214,504	 95%
Intangible	assets 1,264,746	 1%
Property,	plant	and	equipment 6,460,385	 3%
Equity	investments	in	other	companies 2,296,000	 1%
Deferred	tax	assets 883,154	 0%
Total	non-current	assets 10,904,286	 5%
TOTAL	INVESTMENTS 202,118,790	 100%

Sources	of	funding Amount
%	of	sources	of	

funding
Current	liabilities 54,508,038	 27%
Non-current	liabilities 89,267,272	 44%
Total	borrowings 143,775,310	 71%
Share	capital 129,677	 0%
Reserves	and	profit	(loss)	carried	forward 49,016,598	 24%
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,197,205	 5%
Total	equity 58,343,480	 29%
TOTAL	SOURCES	OF	FUNDING 202,118,790	 100%

FINANCIAL ASPECTS OF OPERATIONS

The table below shows the net financial position.

The consolidated Net Financial Position reflects the progress of ongoing projects, the performance of the 
related marketing campaigns, the handover of the real estate units of the Abitare in Maggiolina project, and 
the positive impact of the combined effects of the following factors:
- collection of payments on the sale of real estate units of the Abitare in Maggiolina project, totalling 
Euro 20.7 million;
- decrease in the landed property loan on the Abitare in Maggiolina project due to transfers to 
customers, amounting to Euro 10.2 million;
- collection of customer deposits amounting to Euro 20.2 million;
- Homizy S.p.A. capital increase, amounting to Euro 4.5 million.
Cash and cash equivalents held by the Holding amount to Euro 6.2 million. The remaining amount is held by 
the subsidiaries.

Financial payables to banks break down as follows:

It should be noted that the total landed property loans granted in favour of the Group amount to Euro 126.9 
million, Euro 33.5 million of which have been drawn down.

The item “Other financial payables” mainly includes the financial payable to the leasing company in relation 
to the purchase of the property located at Via Amadeo, 57 (Euro 452 thousand), the financial payable for 
the leaseback agreement entered into with BNL in relation to office equipment (Euro 117 thousand) and the 
financial liability arising from the valuation of the put option provided for in the shareholders’ agreements 
associated with the Homizy capital increase (Euro 104 thousand).

The tables below show the reclassification of the Statement of financial position based on investments and 
sources of funding.
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ABITARE	IN	SPA	-	CONSOLIDATED	FINANCIAL	STATEMENTS	AT	30/09/2019

STRUCTURE	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Equity	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

Equity	+	non-current	liabilities	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY	+	NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

EQUITY	AND	FINANCIAL	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Leverage

INVESTED	CAPITAL/EQUITY

Investment	flexibility	ratio

CURRENT	ASSETS/INVESTED	CAPITAL

Financial	debt	ratio

BORROWINGS/EQUITY

PROFITABILITY	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

ROD

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROD* -572943

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROS

EBIT/NET	SALES

ROI

EBIT/INVESTED	CAPITAL

ROE

NET	PROFIT/EQUITY

*Net	of	commission

15.74% 13.43%

2.44% 1.95%

11.08% 24.25%

4.00% 7.00%

94.61% 94.00%

3.46 2.25

3.37% 2.55%

5.35 5.12

13.54 13.78

3.46 3.25

ABITARE	IN	SPA	-	CONSOLIDATED	FINANCIAL	STATEMENTS	AT	30/09/2019

STRUCTURE	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Equity	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

Equity	+	non-current	liabilities	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY	+	NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

EQUITY	AND	FINANCIAL	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Leverage

INVESTED	CAPITAL/EQUITY

Investment	flexibility	ratio

CURRENT	ASSETS/INVESTED	CAPITAL

Financial	debt	ratio

BORROWINGS/EQUITY

PROFITABILITY	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

ROD

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROD* -572943

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROS

EBIT/NET	SALES

ROI

EBIT/INVESTED	CAPITAL

ROE

NET	PROFIT/EQUITY

*Net	of	commission

15.74% 13.43%

2.44% 1.95%

11.08% 24.25%

4.00% 7.00%

94.61% 94.00%

3.46 2.25

3.37% 2.55%

5.35 5.12

13.54 13.78

3.46 3.25

ABITARE	IN	SPA	-	CONSOLIDATED	FINANCIAL	STATEMENTS	AT	30/09/2019

STRUCTURE	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Equity	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

Equity	+	non-current	liabilities	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY	+	NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

EQUITY	AND	FINANCIAL	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Leverage

INVESTED	CAPITAL/EQUITY

Investment	flexibility	ratio

CURRENT	ASSETS/INVESTED	CAPITAL

Financial	debt	ratio

BORROWINGS/EQUITY

PROFITABILITY	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

ROD

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROD* -572943

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROS

EBIT/NET	SALES

ROI

EBIT/INVESTED	CAPITAL

ROE

NET	PROFIT/EQUITY

*Net	of	commission

15.74% 13.43%

2.44% 1.95%

11.08% 24.25%

4.00% 7.00%

94.61% 94.00%

3.46 2.25

3.37% 2.55%

5.35 5.12

13.54 13.78

3.46 3.25

ABITARE	IN	SPA	-	CONSOLIDATED	FINANCIAL	STATEMENTS	AT	30/09/2020

STRUCTURE	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Equity	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

Equity	+	non-current	liabilities	to	non-current	assets	ratio

EQUITY	+	NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES/NON-CURRENT	ASSETS

EQUITY	AND	FINANCIAL	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

Leverage

INVESTED	CAPITAL/EQUITY

Investment	flexibility	ratio

CURRENT	ASSETS/INVESTED	CAPITAL

Financial	debt	ratio

BORROWINGS/EQUITY

PROFITABILITY	RATIOS 30/09/20 30/09/19

ROD 1,221,000 Stock	grant

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROD* -572943

FINANCIAL	EXPENSES/INTEREST-BEARING	DEBT

ROS

EBIT/NET	SALES

ROI

EBIT/INVESTED	CAPITAL

ROE

NET	PROFIT/EQUITY

*Net	of	commission

17.83% 13.43%

2.44% 1.95%

12.75% 24.25%

4.61% 7.00%

94.61% 94.00%

3.46 2.25

3.37% 2.55%

5.35 5.12

13.54 13.78

3.46 3.25

Investments Amount %	of	investments
Current	liquidity 35,480,995	 18%
Deferred	liquidity 16,675,220	 8%
Inventory 139,058,289	 69%
Total	current	assets 191,214,504	 95%
Intangible	assets 1,264,746	 1%
Property,	plant	and	equipment 6,460,385	 3%
Equity	investments	in	other	companies 2,296,000	 1%
Deferred	tax	assets 883,154	 0%
Total	non-current	assets 10,904,286	 5%
TOTAL	INVESTMENTS 202,118,790	 100%

Sources	of	funding Amount
%	of	sources	of	

funding
Current	liabilities 54,508,038	 27%
Non-current	liabilities 89,267,272	 44%
Total	borrowings 143,775,310	 71%
Share	capital 129,677	 0%
Reserves	and	profit	(loss)	carried	forward 49,016,598	 24%
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year 9,197,205	 5%
Total	equity 58,343,480	 29%
TOTAL	SOURCES	OF	FUNDING 202,118,790	 100%

The item “equity investments in other companies” consists of a 10% equity investment, at 30 September 
2020, in Tecma Solutions S.p.A..

Pursuant to art. 2428 paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code, key financial and non-financial ratios are shown 
below.

ROD*: financial expenses do not include loan fees and the financial expense linked to the measurement of 
the put option provided for in the shareholders’ agreement entered into with third parties in the context of 
the capital increase for the subsidiary Homizy.

Excluding the notional costs resulting from the application of IFRS 2 in relation to the assignment of Stock 
Grants, the ratios would be as follows:
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DESCRIPTION OF THE MAIN RISKS AND 
UNCERTAINTIES TO WHICH THE GROUP IS 
EXPOSED

In conducting its business activity, the Group is 
exposed to risks and uncertainties, caused by 
external factors linked to the macroeconomic 
scenario at overall level or specific to the 
Group’s sectors, and to internal operating risks 
and risks linked to the strategies adopted.
These risks are identified and mitigated on 
a systematic basis so as to allow the timely 
monitoring and control of such risks.
Exposure to the other risks set out in the Italian 
Civil Code is in line with the normal levels of 
risk in the Group’s market, specifically:

Risks linked to the spread of the Covid-19 
pandemic

2020 was the year of the global outbreak 
of the Covid-19 pandemic. Italy was one of 
the first countries to be affected and the 
Italian government immediately put in place 
emergency measures to contain the pandemic. 
These measures had negative impacts on the 
Company’s operations and, consequently, 
on the timing and the costs of its real estate 
projects. In Italy, the lockdown began on 9 
March 2020, but as early as 24 February, the 
regulations introduced to contain the virus 
gradually restricted output at the worksites. 
The Government then announced that the 
lockdown would be gradually lifted starting on 
4 May 2020. Although work had resumed at all 
of the Group’s sites at the date of this Report 
(albeit with some inefficiencies on re-opening, 
such as longer procurement times, alignment 
with the tougher regulations implemented to 
contain the spread of the virus, etc.), at present 
it cannot be ruled out, in light of the ongoing 
uncertainty, that the competent authorities 
may have to adopt new measures that could 
have further negative impacts on the Group’s 
operations. Due to the restrictions in place, 
the process for obtaining authorisations for 
construction works has been hit by delays 
and further delays can be expected in the 

future, mainly due to a slowdown in Public 
Administration services as a result of more 
people working from home. These delays could 
consequently result in delays in the timing of 
the real estate projects.

Risks linked to the Company’s and Group’s 
business activity

The Company’s and Group’s financial 
performance could be negatively affected 
by delays in the completion of the projects, 
mainly arising from the uncertain timing of the 
application process to obtain authorisations 
and permits from the Public Administration. 
Moreover, considering that the execution of 
the works is entrusted to third-party firms, the 
projects may be affected by unexpected costs 
arising from external factors that were not 
budgeted for in the early stage of the works.

Risks linked to the performance of the real 
estate market

The real estate market is affected by cyclical 
trends and by a range of variables, including, 
for example, the performance of the economy 
in general, changes in interest rates, the 
evolution of inflation, tax legislation and 
liquidity available on the market.
In the euro area, real estate growth is moving 
at a moderate pace but gradually speeding up, 
driven by internal demand components. Global 
economic uncertainties, in part influenced by 
geopolitical tensions, are the main factor of 
risk for the economic activity. In the context 
described above, it is difficult to determine 
what impacts will derive from the United 
Kingdom’s exit from the European Union and 
the protectionist trade measures implemented 
by the United States although, at the moment, 
it can be said that financial markets are 
increasingly unstable.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that a company will 
have insufficient funds to operate the business 

and develop its operating activities.
The two key factors that affect liquidity are, on 
the one hand, the resources generated by or 
used in operating and investing activities, and 
on the other hand, the maturities and renewal 
dates of debt or the liquidity of financial 
investments and the market conditions. 
The financial resources raised by listing the 
Group on the AIM Italia market/Mercato 
Alternativo del Capitale, combined with the 
funds generated from the business, especially 
by investee companies, are sufficient to ensure 
the exact completion of the operating activities 
and the planned investments.

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the exposure to potential losses 
arising from a trade counterparty defaulting on 
its obligations.
The credit risk is marginal in the Group’s main 
sector.

Market risk 

Like any company in any sector, the companies 
of the Abitare In Group face the challenge of 
competition in their market, which might cause 
their market share, and consequently their 
turnover, to fall.
For this reason, the management of Abitare 
In S.p.A., and of each investee company, 
is committed to seeking and identifying 
investment opportunities and implementing 
increasingly advanced marketing and 
professional development initiatives that can 
help the Group grow and become one of the 
leading players in its market.

Risks linked to obtaining administrative permits

The construction of properties on sites acquired 
by the individual operating special purpose 
vehicles is subject to obtaining and retaining 
the relevant administrative permits.
In this context, although the sites selected 
by Abitare In are all in built-up areas where 
buildings have been completed in full 

compliance with authorisations issued previously, 
there is a structural risk of delays in the Public 
Administration’s issuance of the appropriate 
authorisations to build real estate complexes 
(building permission, land rehabilitation 
certificates, landscape protection opinion...).
To reduce this risk, the Company requires, 
market conditions permitting, that the purchase 
of the sites is subject to obtaining the required 
building permission or at least a prior opinion. 
In the current scenario of increased competition 
and continuous rises in the prices of sites, most 
purchases occur before such permissions are 
obtained.
Given that delays have become almost systematic 
in the whole of the real estate sector, especially 
in the residential segment, the Company takes 
this into account in the early stages of planning 
in order to minimise the associated impacts as far 
as possible: 
- Delays up to 6/9 months (depending 
on the project): these are considered in the 
budget and in the planning process, as well as in 
contractual obligations towards customers. No 
review of the project’s business plan is necessary.
- Delays between 6/9 months and 18 
months: these inevitably produce a slight increase 
in financial expenses and overheads, but to a 
negligible extent. If the delay becomes known 
after the real estate units have been marketed, 
there will also be an increase in costs due to 
contractual penalties payable to customers, 
which on average amount to 5% per year on 
the down payments and deposits paid, with a 
0.12% per month impact on revenue. There is 
also the risk that the customer may take action 
to terminate the contract. Although no contract 
has been terminated to date, the situation would 
be manageable considering the systematic 
overbooking of the projects and the possibility 
to quickly replace the buyer (increasing also the 
purchase price). 
However, such delays do have an impact 
on relationships with customers and on the 
Company’s reputation. To reduce this impact, 
Abitare In has invested in creating an efficient 
and permanent Customer Care structure and in 
a CRM platform (Salesforce) in order to quickly 
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deal with any issues that may arise. 

Moreover, in terms of economic planning, 
Abitare In is able to manage the different 
timing of the authorisation procedures thanks 
to the size of its pipeline: 17 different projects, 
the start of which can be opportunistically and 
dynamically postponed or brought forward to 
accommodate new requirements.
Again with reference to obtaining 
authorisations, the following risks are 
highlighted:
- Risk of changes to the layout of the 
floor areas and morphological restrictions 
affecting the real estate complex being built, 
which may reduce the project’s commercial 
appeal and, consequently, the profit margin.
- For projects that involve a change 
in use or in the case of amendments to the 
town planning regulations, the risk of having 
to change, and even reduce, the surface area 
that is convertible into residential floor area. 
However, the current situation is actually the 
opposite, with regulations allowing the benefit 
of volume increases for residential projects, up 
to 20% for certain types of property (Lombardy 
Regional Law No. 18/2019).

In conclusion, it should be noted that the 
Company has invested heavily in managing 
in-house those core resources and functions 
that deal with studying and selecting the 
best opportunities (both from an economic 
viewpoint and in terms of the associated 
authorisation process).

Risks linked to the construction of real estate 
complexes

Abitare In does not build the real estate 
developments directly. Construction work is 
contracted out to outside construction firms 
that are not part of its structure. 
Works are entrusted, under contracts, to 
reliable operators of primary standing which 
are already active in the Milanese market. 
To minimise the associated construction 
risks, the contracts provide for a number of 

safeguards to protect the contracting entity, 
including significant penalties for delays in the 
works, payments deferred up to 120 days, bank 
guarantees and 10% withholdings to guarantee 
the proper performance of the works, released 
after 6 to 24 months.

In addition, property construction (especially 
residential property) represents a commodity in 
the market and operators can therefore be easily 
replaced in the case of need. Moreover, thanks 
to the extensive use of technology by Abitare In 
in all stages of the project, from the design to 
the construction of the properties, and thanks 
above all to the use and implementation of the 
BIM (Building Information Modeling) system, 
the Company is able to verify the progress 
of works at each site at any given time and 
promptly manage any problems that may arise.

Furthermore, with a view to strengthening 
the entire production process and reducing 
implementation timing and costs, also improving 
the quality and versatility of the Abitare 
In product, the Company is implementing 
an ambitious long-term project aimed at 
consolidating relations with construction firms, 
as well as with all other key suppliers of strategic 
importance, by signing long-term commercial 
agreements with them.
The key elements of these agreements include:
- Supply volumes,
- Continuity,
- Common language, in terms of 
technology platforms,
- Standardisation of technical solutions,
- Joint development of new products,
- Payment quality: guaranteed payments 
within appropriate time frames.

To date, framework agreements have been 
entered into with several strategic partners such 
as Impresa Percassi, Sciuker Frames, Corazzin, 
Marazzi, Porcelanosa, Florim, Zucchetti, Ideal 
Standard, Samsung, Bticino.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO ART. 2428 NO. 6 
BIS OF THE ITALIAN CIVIL CODE

The Group companies do not have investments 
in financial assets.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES 

During the reporting period, the Group, 
through the parent company, made significant 
investments in Research and Development 
(totalling Euro 489,833) to develop the following 
activities: 
· MODELLO UNO and “BIM”
· VIRTUAL REALITY

TRANSACTIONS WITH SUBSIDIARIES, 
ASSOCIATES, CONTROLLING COMPANIES 
AND AFFILIATES

As provided for in the AIM Italia Issuers’ 
Regulation, the Company has adopted a 
“Related-Party Transactions Procedure”. For 
further information, see the “Investors” section 
of the website www.abitareinspa.com.
For details on these transactions, please refer to 
the notes to the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The following events took place after the 
reporting date:

The handover of the real estate units of the 
Abitare in Maggiolina complex continued and 
has now reached 115 units (92%). Abitare In 
continued work at the construction sites and the 
procedures to obtain authorisations for the sites 
in the pipeline, which includes over 230,000 m2 
of net saleable area across 17 projects located 
in the highest growth areas of city.
On 6 November 2020, the Board of Directors 
of Abitare In also confirmed the continuation 
of the activities necessary to move to the STAR 
segment of the MTA market and consequently 
called the Shareholders’ Meeting to discuss the 
programme and pass the required resolutions.

OUTLOOK

In the current period, Abitare In will continue to 
work both on ongoing (and new) development 
sites and on obtaining the required 
authorisations, whilst also focussing constantly 
on scouting new sites in order to further 
consolidate its position of leadership in Milan. 
The management believes that the slowdowns 
caused by the Public Administration operating 
at a reduced capacity during the Covid-19 
emergency may result, as in the financial year 
just approved, in a delay in the scheduled 
timing of the developments but, in the light 
of this, it is reasonable to assume that there 
will also be a lower housing supply on the 
market, which could lead to a rise in prices 
and therefore allow us to broadly recover - in 
future marketing campaigns - the higher costs 
incurred to implement the more burdensome 
Covid-19 containment measures and manage 
the resulting inefficiencies.
Moreover, in view of Abitare In’s consolidated 
pipeline, the Company is convinced that 
these delays can be made up by managing 
development projects in parallel, made possible 
through the continual optimisation of our 
organisational processes, the implementation 
of technological systems and the significant 
investments in research and development.
With reference to the subsidiary Abitare in 
Maggiolina, the handover of the remaining 
residential units is due to be completed by 
January 2021.

MILAN, 24 November 2020
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on behalf of the Board of 
Directors

the Chairman

Luigi Gozzini

Location: Trilogy Towers, Milan
(virtual photo)
via privata Somalia 1
Neighbourhood: Portello
Milan
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Location: Palazzo Naviglio,
(virtual photo - loggia at night)
via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7
Neighbourhood:
Giambellino Milan
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Statement of financial position 

 30-09-2020 30-09-2019 

Statement of financial position   

Assets   

B) Non-current assets   

I - Intangible assets   
1) start-up and expansion costs 869,283 1,320,722 

2) development costs 904,666 801,446 

3) industrial patents and intellectual property rights 7,752 15,502 

4) concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 421 452 

6) assets under construction and payments on account 25,704 19,325 

7) other 313,906 220,889 

Total intangible assets 2,121,732 2,378,336 

II - Property, plant and equipment   
2) plant and machinery 8,923 7,200 

3) industrial and commercial equipment 16,193 19,050 

4) other assets 773,673 657,858 

Total property, plant and equipment 798,789 684,108 

III - Non-current financial assets   

1) equity investments in   
a) subsidiaries 4,156,658 3,105,658 

d-bis) other companies 1,006,000 1,006,000 

Total equity investments 5,162,658 4,111,658 

2) receivables   

a) from subsidiaries   
beyond next financial year 32,836,127 30,186,797 

Total receivables from subsidiaries 32,836,127 30,186,797 

d-bis) from others   
within next financial year 0 5,914 

Total receivables from others 0 5,914 
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Total receivables 32,836,127 30,192,711 

Total non-current financial assets 37,998,785 34,304,369 

Total non-current assets (B) 40,919,306 37,366,813 

C) Current assets   

II - Receivables   

1) from customers   
within next financial year 1,626 976 

Total receivables from customers 1,626 976 

2) from subsidiaries   
within next financial year 16,550,490 5,415,080 

Total receivables from subsidiaries 16,550,490 5,415,080 

5-bis) tax assets   
within next financial year 171,831 462,450 

Total tax assets 171,831 462,450 

5-ter) prepaid taxes 67,200 0 

5-quater) from others   
within next financial year 809,841 1,274,694 

beyond next financial year 10,000 10,000 

Total receivables from others 819,841 1,284,694 

Total receivables 17,610,988 7,163,200 

III - Current financial assets   
6) other securities 0 156,760 

Total current financial assets 0 156,760 

IV - Cash and cash equivalents   
1) bank and postal accounts 6,180,223 6,940,442 

3) cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 349 605 

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,180,572 6,941,047 

Total current assets (C) 23,791,560 14,261,007 

D) Accrued income and prepaid expenses 521,717 562,088 

Total assets 65,232,583 52,189,908 

Liabilities   

A) Equity   
I - Share capital 129,677 127,728 

II - Share premium reserve 36,989,386 36,989,386 

IV - Legal reserve 39,651 25,547 

VI - Other reserves, separately indicated   
Other sundry reserves 0 (1) 

Total sundry reserves 0 (1) 

Annual Report at 30 September 2020

SEPARATE
Financial Statements

Company name:

General information about the Company

Registered office:

Share capital:

COMPANY DETAILS

Fully paid up share capital:

Chamber of commerce (CCIAA) code:

VAT no.:

Tax code:

Economic Administrative Register (REA) No.:

Legal form:

Main business activity (ATECO):

Company in liquidation:

Company with sole shareholder:

Company subject to management and coordination by 
another entity:

Name of the company or entity that carries out 
management and coordination activities:

Part of a group:

Name of the parent company:

Country of the parent company:

Registered with the cooperatives register under no.:

ABITARE IN S.P.A.

VIA DEGLI OLIVETANI 10/12 20123 MILAN (MI)

163,100

no

Milan

09281610965

09281610965

2080582

JOINT-STOCK COMPANY

702209 Other business consultancy services and 
other administration-management and business 
planning consultancy services
no

no

no

yes

Abitare In S.p.A.

Italy
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2) verso imprese controllate   
esigibili entro l'esercizio successivo 16.550.490 5.415.080 

Totale crediti verso imprese controllate 16.550.490 5.415.080 

5-bis) crediti tributari   
esigibili entro l'esercizio successivo 171.831 462.450 

Totale crediti tributari 171.831 462.450 

5-ter) imposte anticipate 67.200 0 

5-quater) verso altri   
esigibili entro l'esercizio successivo 809.841 1.274.694 

esigibili oltre l'esercizio successivo 10.000 10.000 

Totale crediti verso altri 819.841 1.284.694 

Totale crediti 17.610.988 7.163.200 

III - Attività finanziarie che non costituiscono immobilizzazioni   
6) altri titoli 0 156.760 

Totale attività finanziarie che non costituiscono immobilizzazioni 0 156.760 

IV - Disponibilità liquide   
1) depositi bancari e postali 6.180.223 6.940.442 

3) danaro e valori in cassa 349 605 

Totale disponibilità liquide 6.180.572 6.941.047 

Totale attivo circolante (C) 23.791.560 14.261.007 

D) Ratei e risconti 521.717 562.088 

Totale attivo 65.232.583 52.189.908 

Passivo   

A) Patrimonio netto   
I - Capitale 129.677 127.728 

II - Riserva da soprapprezzo delle azioni 36.989.386 36.989.386 

IV - Riserva legale 39.651 25.547 

VI - Altre riserve, distintamente indicate   
Varie altre riserve 0 (1) 

Totale altre riserve 0 (1) 

VIII - Utili (perdite) portati a nuovo 1.209.886 943.874 

IX - Utile (perdita) dell'esercizio 180.662 282.065 

Totale patrimonio netto 38.549.262 38.368.599 

B) Fondi per rischi e oneri   
1) per trattamento di quiescenza e obblighi simili 190.481 148.926 

Totale fondi per rischi ed oneri 190.481 148.926 

C) Trattamento di fine rapporto di lavoro subordinato 177.517 91.395 

D) Debiti   
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Total receivables 32,836,127 30,192,711 

Total non-current financial assets 37,998,785 34,304,369 

Total non-current assets (B) 40,919,306 37,366,813 

C) Current assets   

II - Receivables   

1) from customers   
within next financial year 1,626 976 

Total receivables from customers 1,626 976 

2) from subsidiaries   
within next financial year 16,550,490 5,415,080 

Total receivables from subsidiaries 16,550,490 5,415,080 

5-bis) tax assets   
within next financial year 171,831 462,450 

Total tax assets 171,831 462,450 

5-ter) prepaid taxes 67,200 0 

5-quater) from others   
within next financial year 809,841 1,274,694 

beyond next financial year 10,000 10,000 

Total receivables from others 819,841 1,284,694 

Total receivables 17,610,988 7,163,200 

III - Current financial assets   
6) other securities 0 156,760 

Total current financial assets 0 156,760 

IV - Cash and cash equivalents   
1) bank and postal accounts 6,180,223 6,940,442 

3) cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 349 605 

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,180,572 6,941,047 

Total current assets (C) 23,791,560 14,261,007 

D) Accrued income and prepaid expenses 521,717 562,088 

Total assets 65,232,583 52,189,908 

Liabilities   

A) Equity   
I - Share capital 129,677 127,728 

II - Share premium reserve 36,989,386 36,989,386 

IV - Legal reserve 39,651 25,547 

VI - Other reserves, separately indicated   
Other sundry reserves 0 (1) 

Total sundry reserves 0 (1) 
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VIII - Profit (loss) carried forward 1,209,886 943,874 

IX - Profit (loss) for the year 180,662 282,065 

Total equity 38,549,262 38,368,599 

B) Provisions for risks and charges   
1) for post-employment benefits and similar obligations 190,481 148,926 

Total provisions for risks and charges 190,481 148,926 

C) Severance indemnity reserve 177,517 91,395 

D) Payables   

4) payables to banks   
within next financial year 8,832,522 543,901 

beyond next financial year 5,932,541 10,535,395 

Total payables to banks 14,765,063 11,079,296 

5) loans and borrowings from other lenders   
within next financial year 0 18,642 

Total loans and borrowings from other lenders 0 18,642 

7) payables to suppliers   
within next financial year 1,019,639 819,128 

Total payables to suppliers 1,019,639 819,128 

9) payables to subsidiaries   
within next financial year 7,184,555 936,974 

Total payables to subsidiaries 7,184,555 936,974 

12) tax liabilities   
within next financial year 2,532,498 102,949 

Total tax liabilities 2,532,498 102,949 

13) payables to social security and welfare institutions   
within next financial year 51,129 33,097 

Total payables to social security and welfare institutions 51,129 33,097 

14) other payables   
within next financial year 564,088 152,014 

beyond next financial year 0 341,682 

Total other payables 564,088 493,696 

Total payables 26,116,972 13,483,782 

E) Accrued expenses and prepaid income 198,351 97,206 

Total liabilities 65,232,583 52,189,908 
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Statement of financial position 

 30-09-2020 30-09-2019 

Statement of financial position   

Assets   

B) Non-current assets   

I - Intangible assets   
1) start-up and expansion costs 869,283 1,320,722 

2) development costs 904,666 801,446 

3) industrial patents and intellectual property rights 7,752 15,502 

4) concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 421 452 

6) assets under construction and payments on account 25,704 19,325 

7) other 313,906 220,889 

Total intangible assets 2,121,732 2,378,336 

II - Property, plant and equipment   
2) plant and machinery 8,923 7,200 

3) industrial and commercial equipment 16,193 19,050 

4) other assets 773,673 657,858 

Total property, plant and equipment 798,789 684,108 

III - Non-current financial assets   

1) equity investments in   
a) subsidiaries 4,156,658 3,105,658 

d-bis) other companies 1,006,000 1,006,000 

Total equity investments 5,162,658 4,111,658 

2) receivables   

a) from subsidiaries   
beyond next financial year 32,836,127 30,186,797 

Total receivables from subsidiaries 32,836,127 30,186,797 

d-bis) from others   
within next financial year 0 5,914 

Total receivables from others 0 5,914 
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Statement of financial position 

 30-09-2020 30-09-2019 

Statement of financial position   

Assets   

B) Non-current assets   

I - Intangible assets   
1) start-up and expansion costs 869,283 1,320,722 

2) development costs 904,666 801,446 

3) industrial patents and intellectual property rights 7,752 15,502 

4) concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 421 452 

6) assets under construction and payments on account 25,704 19,325 

7) other 313,906 220,889 
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II - Property, plant and equipment   
2) plant and machinery 8,923 7,200 

3) industrial and commercial equipment 16,193 19,050 

4) other assets 773,673 657,858 

Total property, plant and equipment 798,789 684,108 

III - Non-current financial assets   

1) equity investments in   
a) subsidiaries 4,156,658 3,105,658 

d-bis) other companies 1,006,000 1,006,000 

Total equity investments 5,162,658 4,111,658 

2) receivables   

a) from subsidiaries   
beyond next financial year 32,836,127 30,186,797 

Total receivables from subsidiaries 32,836,127 30,186,797 

d-bis) from others   
within next financial year 0 5,914 

Total receivables from others 0 5,914 
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Income Statement 

 30-09-2020 30-09-2019 

Income Statement   

A) Production value   
1) revenue from sales and services 8,528,301 5,323,503 

5) other revenue and income   
other 182,332 109,884 

Total other revenue and income 182,332 109,884 

Total production value 8,710,633 5,433,387 

B) Production costs   
6) raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods 148,111 65,329 

7) services 4,164,989 3,058,997 

8) for use of leased assets 825,555 484,187 

9) personnel expenses   
a) wages and salaries 1,776,175 679,414 

b) social security costs 431,041 201,700 

c) severance indemnity reserve 96,514 43,845 

e) other costs 0 2,219 

Total personnel expenses 2,303,730 927,178 

10) amortisation, depreciation and impairment   
a) amortisation of intangible assets 858,657 733,869 

b) depreciation of property, plant and equipment 105,497 88,985 

Total amortisation, depreciation and impairment 964,154 822,854 

14) sundry operating costs 275,565 306,837 

Total production costs 8,682,104 5,665,382 

Difference between production value and costs (A - B) 28,529 (231,995) 

C) Financial income and expenses   

15) income from equity investments   
from subsidiaries 0 1,004,344 

Total income from equity investments 0 1,004,344 

16) other financial income   

a) from receivables recognised as non-current assets   
from subsidiaries 695,141 0 

Total financial income from receivables recognised as non-current assets 695,141 0 

c) from securities recognised as current assets other than equity investments 10,467 185 

d) other income   
other 156 6,177 

Total other income 156 6,177 
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Income Statement 
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Income Statement   
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Total other financial income 705,764 6,362 

17) interest and other financial expenses   
to subsidiaries 0 156,321 

other 383,490 127,281 

Total interest and other financial expenses 383,490 283,602 

17-bis) exchange rate gains/(losses) 0 (14) 

Total financial income and expenses (15 + 16 - 17 + - 17-bis) 322,274 727,090 

D) Adjustments to financial assets and liabilities   

18) revaluation   
c) of securities recognised as current assets other than equity investments 0 11,940 

Total revaluation 0 11,940 

Total adjustments to financial assets and liabilities (18 - 19) 0 11,940 

Profit (loss) before tax (A - B + - C + - D) 350,803 507,035 

20) Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes   
current taxes 237,341 224,970 

deferred and prepaid taxes (67,200) 0 

Total current, deferred and prepaid income taxes 170,141 224,970 

21) Profit (loss) for the year 180,662 282,065 

 
 

Statement of cash flows, indirect method 

 30-09-2020 30-09-2019 

Statement of cash flows, indirect method   

A) Cash flows from operating activities (indirect method)   
Profit (loss) for the year 180,662 282,065 

Income taxes 170,141 224,970 

Interest expense/(income) (322,274) (727,104) 

1) Profit (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and capital gains/losses on the 
sale of assets 28,529 (220,069) 

Adjustments for non-monetary items that do not have a balancing entry under net working capital   
Accruals to provisions 41,555 43,029 

Amortisation/depreciation of non-current assets 964,154 822,854 

Other increases/(decreases) for non-monetary items 96,514 40,210 

Total adjustments for non-monetary items that do not have a balancing entry under net working 
capital 1,102,223 906,093 

2) Cash flows before changes in net working capital 1,130,752 686,024 

Changes in net working capital   
Decrease/(increase) in receivables from customers (650) 13,951 

Increase/(decrease) in payables to suppliers 200,511 1,761 

INCOME STATEMENT
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Total other financial income 705,764 6,362 

17) interest and other financial expenses   
to subsidiaries 0 156,321 

other 383,490 127,281 

Total interest and other financial expenses 383,490 283,602 

17-bis) exchange rate gains/(losses) 0 (14) 
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D) Adjustments to financial assets and liabilities   

18) revaluation   
c) of securities recognised as current assets other than equity investments 0 11,940 

Total revaluation 0 11,940 

Total adjustments to financial assets and liabilities (18 - 19) 0 11,940 

Profit (loss) before tax (A - B + - C + - D) 350,803 507,035 

20) Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes   
current taxes 237,341 224,970 

deferred and prepaid taxes (67,200) 0 

Total current, deferred and prepaid income taxes 170,141 224,970 

21) Profit (loss) for the year 180,662 282,065 

 
 

Statement of cash flows, indirect method 

 30-09-2020 30-09-2019 

Statement of cash flows, indirect method   

A) Cash flows from operating activities (indirect method)   
Profit (loss) for the year 180,662 282,065 

Income taxes 170,141 224,970 

Interest expense/(income) (322,274) (727,104) 

1) Profit (loss) for the year before income taxes, interest, dividends and capital gains/losses on the 
sale of assets 28,529 (220,069) 

Adjustments for non-monetary items that do not have a balancing entry under net working capital   
Accruals to provisions 41,555 43,029 

Amortisation/depreciation of non-current assets 964,154 822,854 

Other increases/(decreases) for non-monetary items 96,514 40,210 

Total adjustments for non-monetary items that do not have a balancing entry under net working 
capital 1,102,223 906,093 

2) Cash flows before changes in net working capital 1,130,752 686,024 

Changes in net working capital   
Decrease/(increase) in receivables from customers (650) 13,951 

Increase/(decrease) in payables to suppliers 200,511 1,761 
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Decrease/(increase) in accrued income and prepaid expenses 40,371 (430,619) 

Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and prepaid income 101,145 97,206 

Other decreases/(Other increases) in net working capital (3,358,875) 2,363,074 

Total changes in net working capital (3,017,498) 2,045,373 

3) Cash flows after changes in net working capital (1,886,746) 2,731,397 

Other adjustments   
Interest received/(paid) 322,274 727,104 

(Income taxes paid) 1,507,150 (109,849) 

Other receipts/(payments) (10,392) (16,990) 

Total other adjustments 1,819,032 600,265 

Cash flows from operating activities (A) (67,714) 3,331,662 

B) Cash flows from investing activities   

Property, plant and equipment   
(Investments) (220,178) (333,797) 

Intangible assets   
(Investments) (602,053) (779,312) 

Non-current financial assets   
(Investments) (3,694,416) (14,243,859) 

Current financial assets   
(Investments) 156,760 (51,970) 

Cash flows from investing activities (B) (4,359,887) (15,408,938) 

C) Cash flows from financing activities   

Borrowings   
Increase/(Decrease) in short-term payables to banks 8,288,621 537,032 

Loans raised (4,621,496) 10,545,967 

Equity   
Share capital increase against consideration 1,949 - 

(Dividends and interim dividends paid) (1,948) 2 

Cash flows from financing activities (C) 3,667,126 11,083,001 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) (760,475) (994,275) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   
Bank and postal accounts 6,940,442 7,935,294 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 28 

Total cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6,941,047 7,935,322 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year   
Bank and postal accounts 6,180,223 6,940,442 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 349 605 

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6,180,572 6,941,047 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, INDIRECT METHOD
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(virtual photo)
via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7
Neighbourhood: Giambellino
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Structure and content of the financial statements

The financial statements at 30/09/2020, which 
include the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Income Statement, the Statement of Cash Flows 
and the Notes to the Financial Statements, are 
consistent with the duly kept accounting records 
and have been drawn up in compliance with 
the provisions of articles 2423 and 2423-bis of 
the Italian Civil Code and with the accounting 
standards and accounting recommendations issued 
by the Italian Accounting Body (Organismo Italiano 
di Contabilità - O.I.C.).
The financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.
The structure of the financial statements is in line 
with the requirements of articles 2424 and 2425 
of the Italian Civil Code, based on the premises 
set out in art. 2423-ter therein, and the Notes to 
the Financial Statements are consistent with the 
requirements of articles 2427 and 2427-bis and 
with any other relevant provisions.
All the parts included in this document have been 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 
Company’s earnings, cash flows and financial 
position, providing, where necessary, additional 
information to this end.

Pursuant to art. 2423-ter of the Italian Civil Code, 
the previous year’s figures are shown for each item.
See the Directors' Report for further information on 
the Company’s financial performance and related-
party transactions.

Accounting standards

The following accounting treatments have been 
applied in these financial statements in accordance 
with art. 2423-bis of the Italian Civil Code:
· items are measured in accordance with 
the principle of prudence and on a going concern 
basis, taking also into account the materiality of the 
related transaction or contract;
· only profits actually realised in the reporting 
period are recognised;
· income and expenses pertaining to the 
period are recognised regardless of when they are 
received/paid;
· risks and losses pertaining to the period 
are taken into account, even if they became known 
after the reporting date;
· heterogeneous elements of individual 
items of the financial statements are measured and 
recognised separately.
The measurement criteria set out in art. 2426 of

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
basis of preparation

the Italian Civil Code have been applied in the same 
way as those adopted in the previous reporting 
period. The amounts stated in the financial 
statements and these Notes are shown in Euro.

Measurement criteria adopted

These financial statements were drawn up in 
accordance with the measurement criteria set out 
in art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at purchase 
or in-house development cost, including directly 
attributable ancillary costs.
The amounts are stated net of amortisation, which 
is calculated systematically at the rates indicated 
below over the asset’s residual useful life. 

Description Rates used or criteria applied

Start-up and 
expansion costs

20%

Development costs 20%

Industrial patents and intel-
lectual property rights

Other intangible 
assets

33.33%

20%

Concessions, licences, trademarks
and similar rights 5.56%

Description Rates used

Plant and machinery 30%

Other assets

- Electronic office equipment

20%

15%
Furniture and fixtures

Cars and motorcycles

10%

25%

Amortisation rates have not changed from the previous 
reporting period. In accordance with point 5) of art. 
2426, no dividends have been distributed in excess 
of the available reserve amount required to cover the 
amount of non-amortised start-up, expansion and 
development costs.
If the value of an intangible asset at the reporting date 
is permanently lower than the cost as determined 
above, the asset is recognised at such lower value. This 
new value is not maintained in subsequent reporting 
periods if the reason for the adjustment no longer 
applies, except for goodwill.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at 
purchase cost. The amount recognised includes 
ancillary costs and directly attributable costs.
The amounts are stated net of depreciation, which 
is calculated systematically at the rates indicated 
below over the asset’s residual useful life, taking 
into account the use, purpose and economic-
technical lifespan of the asset. 

Depreciation rates have not changed from the 
previous reporting period.
If the value of an asset at the reporting date is 
permanently lower than the cost as determined 
above, the asset is recognised at such lower value. 
This new value is not maintained in subsequent 
reporting periods if the reason for the adjustment no 
longer applies. Costs are revalued in accordance with 
revaluation laws. In any event, the resulting value will 
not exceed the market value.

Non-current financial assets

Non-current financial assets, consisting of equity 
investments in subsidiaries, are measured in 
accordance with the cost method, inclusive of 
ancillary costs. The carrying amount is determined 
on the basis of the purchase or subscription price or 
the value given to the assets contributed.
The cost as determined above is reduced if there are 
impairment losses. The value of the equity investment 
is reinstated up to the acquisition cost if the reasons 
for the impairment no longer apply.
The value as determined above does not exceed the 
value that would have been determined in accordance 
with the criteria set out in art. 2426, point 4 of the 
Italian Civil Code.
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Equity investments that are not expected to be 
held for a long time in the Company’s portfolio are 
recognised as current financial assets.
Equity investments in companies other than 
subsidiaries and/or associates are recognised at 
purchase cost or at a lower value in the case of 
impairment.
Receivables recognised as non-current financial 
assets are measured at amortised cost, taking 
into account the time factor and their estimated 
realisable value. 
The amortised cost criterion is not applied since the 
effective interest rate is not significantly different 
from the market rate, or the effects of applying 
such criterion would be immaterial relative to the 
criterion adopted.

Current securities and financial assets

Inventory and current securities and financial assets 
are recognised at the lower of their purchase price, 
inclusive of directly attributable ancillary costs, and 
their estimated realisable value based on market 
trends.

Receivables

Receivables are recognised at their estimated 
realisable value.
The amortised cost criterion is not applied since 
the effects would be immaterial, pursuant to art. 
2426, paragraph 4 of the Italian Civil Code, relative 
to the criterion adopted.

Cash and cash equivalents

This item includes cash and cash equivalents held, 
in Euro and foreign currencies, tax stamps and cash 
held in accounts with credit institutions, all stated 
at nominal value and translated into the national 
currency if in foreign currency.

Accruals and prepayments

Accruals and prepayments are determined on an 
accrual basis.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions have been made to cover losses or 
liabilities of an established nature, the existence of 
which is certain or probable, but whose amount or 
timing is uncertain at the reporting date.
Such provisions are measured in accordance with 
the principle of prudence and on an accrual basis, 
and no provisions for generic risks were set aside 
without economic justification.

Severance Indemnity Reserve (TFR)

TFR reflects the actual amount payable by the 
Company to each employee at the end of their 
employment relationship and is determined in 
accordance with current legislation, in particular, 
art. 2120 of the Italian Civil Code, and pursuant 
to national collective bargaining agreements and 
company employment contracts.
The related liabilities are subject to revaluation on 
the basis of indices.

Payables

Payables are shown at nominal value, less bonuses, 
discounts and rebates, and include, where applicable, 
interest accrued and payable at the reporting date.
Payables falling due after 12 months are recognised 
at amortised cost, taking into account the time 
factor. Such criterion applies to payables arising 
after 1 January 2016, as permitted under OIC 19.
The amortised cost criterion is not applied since the 
effects would be immaterial, pursuant to art. 2423, 
paragraph 4 of the Italian Civil Code, relative to the 
criterion adopted.

Revenue and cost recognition

Revenue and income are recognised net of returns, 
discounts and rebates, and net of taxes directly 
related to the sale of products and the provision of 
services.

In particular:
· revenue from services is recognised when 
the services are supplied and in accordance with 
the related agreements. Revenue from contract 
work in progress is recognised proportionate to the 
progress of the work;
· revenue from sales is recognised when 
ownership is transferred, which normally coincides 
with the date of delivery or shipping of the goods;
· costs are recognised on an accrual basis;
· accruals to provisions for risks and charges 
are recognised by nature, where possible, in the 
relevant category of the income statement;
· financial income and expenses are 
recognised on an accrual basis.

Dividends

Dividends are accounted for on an accrual basis, 
when the right to collect the dividends arises, 
pursuant to OIC 21.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year are set aside on an accrual 
basis and are determined in accordance with 
current legislation and on the basis of estimated 
taxable income. In the statement of financial 
position, the amounts payable are recognised under 
“Tax liabilities” and the amounts receivable are 
recognised under “Tax assets”.
With reference to the recognition of the tax effects 
of timing differences between the recognition 
of income items in the Financial Statements and 
the time these become subject to taxation, the 
following is specified.
Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the 
taxable temporary differences, at the tax rate that 
is expected to be in force at the time when such 
temporary differences will produce an increase in 
the tax base.
In accordance with the principle of prudence, 
deferred tax assets are calculated on deductible 
temporary differences at the tax rate that is expected 
to be in force at the time when such differences will 
produce a decrease in the tax base, according to 
the principle of reasonable certainty that sufficient 
future taxable income will be available against which 

the aforementioned changes can be reabsorbed.
The value of deferred tax assets is reviewed annually 
to verify that there is still reasonable certainty that 
sufficient future taxable income will be available 
against which the entire value of the deferred tax 
assets can be recovered.
The value of deferred tax assets and liabilities is also 
recalculated when the tax rates initially considered 
change.

Tax consolidation option - consolidating company

In its capacity as the consolidating company, the 
Company has exercised the tax consolidation option 
together with the following subsidiaries:
· Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l.;
· Milano Progetti s.r.l. (formerly Abitare In 
Development s.r.l.);
· Milano City Village (formerly Abitare In 
Development 2 s.r.l.);
· Abitare In Development 3 s.r.l.;
· Trilogy Towers s.r.l. (formerly Milano Sviluppi 
s.r.l.);
· Mycity s.r.l.;
· Palazzo Naviglio (formerly Nova city s.r.l.);
· Homizy S.p.A.;
· Hommi s.r.l.;
· Housenow s.r.l.;
· Mivivi s.r.l.;
· Mica s.r.l. (from 16/10/2020, Porta Naviglio 
Grande s.r.l.);
· Milano Living s.r.l.;
· Abitare In Development 4 s.r.l.;
· Abitare In Development 5 s.r.l.;
· Abitare In Development 6 s.r.l.;
· Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l.;
· Savona 105 s.r.l. (formerly Abitare In 
Development 8 s.r.l.);
· Smartcity s.r.l.;
· Volaplana s.r.l.;
· Alibranda s.r.l.
Under this option, corporate income tax (IRES) is 
determined with the tax base being equal to the 
algebraic sum of all positive and negative taxable 
amounts of the individual companies.
The financial relationships between the 
consolidating company and the subsidiaries listed 
above, and their reciprocal rights and obligations, 
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Financial position 

Description Prior year Change Current year 

a) Short-term assets    
Bank accounts 6,940,442 -760,219 6,180,223 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 -256 349 

Current shares and bonds 156,760 -156,760 0 

Financial receivables due within 12 months 1,004,344 1,395,141 2,399,485 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
CURRENT SECURITIES 8,102,151 477,906 8,580,057 

b) Short-term liabilities    
Payables to banks (within 12 months) 543,901 8,276,717 8,820,618 

Loans and borrowings from other lenders 
(within 12 months) 18,642 -6,738 11,904 

Other short-term liabilities 0 4,620,000 4,620,000 

SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL PAYABLES 562,543 12,889,979 13,452,522 

SHORT-TERM NET FINANCIAL POSITION 7,539,608 -12,412,073 -4,872,465 

c) Medium/long-term assets    
Financial receivables due beyond 12 
months 0 0 0 

TOTAL MEDIUM/LONG-TERM ASSETS 0 0 0 

d) Medium/long-term liabilities    
Payables to banks (beyond 12 months) 10,535,395 -4,602,854 5,932,541 

TOTAL MEDIUM/LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 10,535,395 -4,602,854 5,932,541 

MEDIUM/LONG-TERM NET FINANCIAL 
POSITION -10,535,395 4,602,854 -5,932,541 

NET FINANCIAL POSITION -2,995,787 -7,809,219 -10,805,006 

 

Notes to the financial statements, assets 

Non-current assets 

Intangible assets 

 

 

Item Opening balance Increases Decreases Closing balance 

Start-up and expansion costs 1,320,722 0 451,439 869,283 

Research, development and 
advertising costs 801,446 103,220 0 904,666 

Industrial patents and intellectual 
property rights 15,502 0 7,750 7,752 

are defined in the consolidation contract.
As provided in the National Accounting Standards, 
the amount of tax payable is recognised under “Tax 
liabilities”.
The same “Tax liabilities” item includes current IRES 
determined on the basis of the estimated positive 
and negative taxable amounts of those subsidiaries 
that have joined the National Tax Consolidation 
scheme. The corresponding receivables of the 
consolidating company from the Group companies 
for the current tax due on the positive taxable 
amounts transferred in the context of the National 
Tax Consolidation scheme, are recognised as a 
balancing entry to the tax liabilities.
The payable for offset amounts owed to subsidiaries 
with negative taxable amount is recognised under 
“Payables to subsidiaries”.
Current, deferred and prepaid IRAP tax (regional 
business tax) is determined independently by each 
company.
In its capacity as the consolidating company, as of 1 
January 2018, the Company has also joined the VAT 
consolidation scheme together with the subsidiary 
Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. and, as of 1 January 
2020, with the subsidiaries Milano City Village s.r.l. 
and Trilogy Towers s.r.l..

OTHER INFORMATION

Reclassifications in the financial statements

With a view to highlighting, in an organised and structured manner, the most significant 
changes in the items of the financial statements, the Company’s statement of financial position 
and income statement are provided below.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Location: Palazzo Naviglio,
(virtual photo - garden)

via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7
Neighbourhood: Giambellino

Milan
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Notes to the financial statements, assets 

Non-current assets 

Intangible assets 

 

 

Item Opening balance Increases Decreases Closing balance 

Start-up and expansion costs 1,320,722 0 451,439 869,283 

Research, development and 
advertising costs 801,446 103,220 0 904,666 

Industrial patents and intellectual 
property rights 15,502 0 7,750 7,752 
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Concessions, licences, 
trademarks and similar rights 452 0 31 421 

Assets under construction and 
payments on account 19,325 6,379 0 25,704 

Other intangible assets 220,889 93,017 0 313,906 

Total 2,378,336 202,616 459,220 2,121,732 

Changes in intangible assets 

 

 
Start-up 

and 
expansion 

costs 

Development 
costs 

Industrial 
patents and 
intellectual 

property 
rights 

Concessions, 
licences, 

trademarks and 
similar rights 

Intangible assets 
under 

construction and 
payments on 

account 

Other 
intangible 

assets 

Total 
intangible 

assets 

Opening balance        

Cost 2,257,193 1,096,223 23,252 565 19,325 292,689 3,689,247 

Amortisation 
(accumulated 
amortisation) 

936,471 294,777 7,750 113 - 71,800 1,310,911 

Carrying 
amount 1,320,722 801,446 15,502 452 19,325 220,889 2,378,336 

Changes in the 
period        

Increases for 
acquisitions - 403,081 - - 6,379 192,594 602,054 

Amortisation in 
the year 451,438 299,861 7,750 31 - 99,577 858,657 

Total changes (451,439) 103,220 (7,750) (31) 6,379 93,017 (256,604) 

Closing balance        

Cost 2,257,193 1,499,304 23,252 565 25,704 485,283 4,291,301 

Amortisation 
(accumulated 
amortisation) 

1,387,909 594,638 15,500 144 - 171,377 2,169,568 

Carrying 
amount 869,283 904,666 7,752 421 25,704 313,906 2,121,732 
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Changes in the 
period        

Increases for 
acquisitions - 403,081 - - 6,379 192,594 602,054 

Amortisation in 
the year 451,438 299,861 7,750 31 - 99,577 858,657 

Total changes (451,439) 103,220 (7,750) (31) 6,379 93,017 (256,604) 

Closing balance        

Cost 2,257,193 1,499,304 23,252 565 25,704 485,283 4,291,301 

Amortisation 
(accumulated 
amortisation) 

1,387,909 594,638 15,500 144 - 171,377 2,169,568 

Carrying 
amount 869,283 904,666 7,752 421 25,704 313,906 2,121,732 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets

The breakdown of intangible assets and the changes in the reporting period are highlighted in the table below.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Assets

At 30/09/2020, intangible assets amount to Euro 2,121,732 (Euro 2,378,336 at the end of the previous period), 
net of amortisation.

Changes in intangible assets

The table below shows changes in intangible assets (pursuant to art. 2427, point 2 of the Italian Civil Code).
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Property, plant and equipment 

Changes in property, plant and equipment 

 

 Plant and 
machinery 

Industrial and 
commercial equipment 

Other property, plant 
and equipment 

Total property, plant 
and equipment 

Opening balance     
Cost 14,300 19,050 759,826 793,176 

Depreciation (accumulated 
depreciation) 7,100 - 101,968 109,068 

Carrying amount 7,200 19,050 657,858 684,108 

Changes in the period     
Increases for acquisitions 5,393 - 332,040 337,433 

Decreases (in carrying amount) 
for sales and disposals - - 139,369 139,369 

Depreciation in the year 5,099 1,428 98,969 105,496 

Total changes 1,723 (2,857) 115,815 114,681 

Closing balance     
Cost 19,693 19,050 952,497 991,240 

Depreciation (accumulated 
depreciation) 10,770 2,858 178,824 192,452 

Carrying amount 8,923 16,193 773,673 798,789 

 
 

 

Description Furniture and 
fixtures 

Electronic office 
equipment 

Cars and 
motorcycles Other assets Rounding Total Other non-

current assets 

Historical cost 583,891 173,803 2,131 0 1 759,826 

Opening balance of 
accumulated depreciation 60,964 40,736 266 0 2 101,968 

Rounding       
Opening balance 522,927 133,067 1,865 0 -1 657,858 

Acquisitions in the period 307,842 16,058 686 7,454  332,040 

Sales/decreases in the 
period: Historical cost 66,001 73,368 0 0  139,369 

Sales/decreases in the 
period: accumulated 
depreciation 

6,871 15,242 0 0  22,113 

Depreciation in the year 76,685 21,230 309 745 0 98,969 

Rounding      0 

Closing balance 694,954 69,769 2,242 6,709 -1 773,673 
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Start-up and expansion costs

Start-up and expansion costs refer to the capitalisa-
tion of costs incurred to incorporate the Company, 
to list it at the stock exchange and to complete 
the subsequent share capital increases, for a net 
amount of Euro 869,283 at the reporting date (Euro 
1,320,722 at the end of the previous period).

Development costs

The net balance amounts to Euro 904,666 (Euro 
801,446 at the end of the previous period) and refers 
to costs incurred to perform the following activities:
· MODELLO UNO and “BIM”
· VIRTUAL REALITY
In this respect, it should be noted that the Company 
is registered with the special Innovative SMEs 
section of the Chamber of Commerce of Milan, 
Monza Brianza and Lodi.

Patents and intellectual property rights

The net balance amounts to Euro 7,752 (Euro 
15,502 at the end of the previous period) and mainly 
includes Company software.

Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights

The net balance amounts to Euro 421 (Euro 452 at 
the end of the previous reporting period) and mainly 
refers to costs incurred to register the “Abitare In” 
trademark.

Intangible assets under construction and payments 
on account

The net balance amounts to Euro 25,704 (Euro 
19,325 at the end of the previous reporting period) 
and refers to costs incurred to develop new real 
estate projects yet to be commenced at the reporting 
date.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes in property, plant and equipment

The table below highlights the items that contributed to the measurement of the net carrying amount (art. 
2427, point 2 of the Italian Civil Code).

The table below shows a breakdown of “Other property, plant and equipment” and the changes in each item.

Other intangible assets

The net balance amounts to Euro 313,906 (Euro 
220,889 at the end of the previous reporting 
period) and refers to multi-year costs for software 
management consultancy services linked to the 
customer base of the Abitare In Group.

Location: Palazzo Naviglio,
(virtual photo)

via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7
Neighbourhood: Giambellino

Milan
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Finance leases 

 

 Amount 

Total value of assets under finance lease at the end of the period 658,950 

Depreciation pertaining to the period 20,700 

Present value of lease payments not past due at the end of the period 509,865 

Financial expenses pertaining to the period based on the effective interest rate 5,609 

 
 

Non-current financial assets 

 

Items Opening balance Increases Closing balance 

Equity investments in:    
a) Subsidiaries 3,105,658 1,051,000 4,156,658 

d-bis) Other companies 1,006,000 0 1,006,000 

Receivables from:    
a) Subsidiaries 30,186,797 2,649,330 32,836,127 

d-bis) Others 5,914 -5,914 0 

Total 34,304,369 3,694,416 37,998,785 

Changes in equity investments, other securities and financial derivatives classified 
as non-current assets 

 

 Equity investments in 
subsidiaries 

Equity investments in other 
companies 

Total Equity 
investments 

Opening balance    
Cost 3,105,658 1,006,000 4,111,658 

Carrying amount 3,105,658 1,006,000 4,111,658 

Changes in the period    
Increases for 
acquisitions 1,051,000 - 1,051,000 

Total changes 1,051,000 - 1,051,000 

Closing balance    
Cost 4,156,658 1,006,000 5,162,658 

Carrying amount 4,156,658 1,006,000 5,162,658 
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Change in and due dates of long-term receivables 

 

 Opening 
balance 

Changes in the 
period 

Closing 
balance 

Portion falling due 
within next financial 

year 

Portion falling due 
beyond next financial 

year 

Long-term receivables 
from subsidiaries 30,186,797 2,649,330 32,836,127 - 32,836,127 

Long-term receivables 
from others 5,914 (5,914) 0 0 - 

Total long-term 
receivables 30,192,711 2,643,416 32,836,127 - 32,836,127 

 
 

Information on equity investments in subsidiaries classified as non-current assets 

 

Company name 
City (if in 
Italy) or 
country 

Tax code (for 
Italian 

companies) 
Share/quota 

capital in Euro 
Equity 

investment 
held (Euro) 

Equity 
investment 

held (%) 

Carrying amount or 
corresponding 

receivable 

Abitare in 
Maggiolina s.r.l. Milan 05377590962 100,000 10,024,653 100.00% 1,981,658 

Abitare In 
Development 3 

s.r.l. 
Milan 10198750969 10,000 30,102 100.00% 205,000 

Abitare In 
Development 4 

s.r.l. 
Milan 10803990968 10,000 11,768 100.00% 10,000 

Abitare In 
Development 5 

s.r.l. 
Milan 10804010964 10,000 10,493 100.00% 10,000 

Abitare In 
Development 6 

s.r.l. 
Milan 10804030962 10,000 10,841 100.00% 10,000 

Abitare In 
Development 7 

s.r.l. 
Milan 10808150964 10,000 10,033 100.00% 150,000 

Savona 105 s.r.l. Milan 10808210966 10,000 12,253 100.00% 50,000 

Milano Progetti 
s.r.l. Milan 09766410964 10,000 25,727 100.00% 620,000 

Milano Living 
s.r.l. Milan 10775730962 10,000 11,119 100.00% 10,000 

Milano City 
Village s.r.l. Milan 09945290964 10,000 21,451 100.00% 622,000 

Homizy S.p.A. Milan 10754520962 10,000 4,451,805 100.00% 86,000 

Mica s.r.l. Milan 10970100961 10,000 10,695 100.00% 10,000 

Mivivi s.r.l. Milan 10775720963 10,000 10,760 100.00% 10,000 

MyCity s.r.l. Milan 10288300964 10,000 11,803 100.00% 22,000 

Palazzo Naviglio 
s.r.l. Milan 10581580965 10,000 17,102 100.00% 140,000 

Finance leases

The following information is provided pursuant to art. 2427, point 22) of the Italian Civil Code with regard 
to finance leases that transfer the prevailing risks and rewards of the underlying assets to the Company.

The Company has entered into a lease agreement to purchase a property in Milan, to be used as a warehouse/
workshop. The key terms and conditions of the lease are as follows:
· price of asset: Euro 690,000
· term of lease: 144 months
· lease interest rate: 2.001%
· initial payment: Euro 172,500
· monthly payments: Euro 3,643
· purchase option: Euro 69,000

Non-current financial assets

Non-current financial assets consist of equity investments, financial receivables, securities and financial de-
rivatives, as shown in the table below.

Information and tables are provided below in relation to each item.

Changes in equity investments, other securities and financial derivatives classified as non-current assets

Equity investments classified as non-current assets reflect the Company’s long-term strategic investments. 
Their value at 30/09/2020 totals Euro 5,162,658 (Euro 4,111,658 at the end of the previous reporting 
period).
The table below highlights the items that contributed to the measurement of the net carrying amount (art. 
2427, point 2 of the Italian Civil Code).

Change in and due dates of long-term receivables

The table below shows the composition and breakdown of long-term receivables (art. 2427, point 2 of the 
Italian Civil Code) and the amounts with due dates beyond 5 years (art. 2427, point 6 of the Italian Civil 
Code).

Financial receivables refer to interest-bearing loans granted to subsidiaries to carry out preparatory 
activities conducive to purchasing the real estate development sites. These amounts include interest at 
market rates.
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Change in and due dates of long-term receivables 
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Smartcity s.r.l. Milan 10970170964 10,000 10,424 100.00% 10,000 

Trilogy Towers 
s.r.l. Milan 10288320962 10,000 13,617 100.00% 190,000 

Alibranda s.r.l. Milan 11138470965 10,000 11,203 100.00% 10,000 

Volaplana s.r.l. Milan 11138460966 10,000 11,218 100.00% 10,000 

Total      4,156,658 

 
 

Current assets 

Receivables classified as current assets 

Change in and due dates of receivables classified as current assets 

 

 Opening 
balance 

Change in the 
period 

Closing 
balance 

Portion falling due 
within next financial 

year 

Portion falling due 
beyond next financial 

year 

Receivables from customers 
classified as current assets 976 650 1,626 1,626 - 

Receivables from subsidiaries 
classified as current assets 5,415,080 11,135,410 16,550,490 16,550,490 - 

Tax assets classified as 
current assets 462,450 (290,619) 171,831 171,831 - 

Deferred tax assets classified 
as current assets 0 67,200 67,200   

Receivables from others 
classified as current assets 1,284,694 (464,853) 819,841 809,841 10,000 

Total receivables classified as 
current assets 7,163,200 10,447,788 17,610,988 17,533,788 10,000 

 
 

Receivables from subsidiaries 

Description Prior year Change Current year 

Non-interest bearing short-term loan 
granted to AIM  0 700,000 700,000 

Trade receivables 5,390,231 6,710,207 12,100,438 

CNM Receivables (from national and 
global consolidation) 24,849 2,025,718 2,050,567 

Financial receivables 0 1,699,485 1,699,485 

Total receivables from subsidiaries 5,415,080 11,135,410 16,550,490 

Tax assets 

Description Prior year Change Current year 

VAT receivable 273,764 -273,764 0 

Other tax assets 188,686 -16,855 171,831 

Total 462,450 -290,619 171,831 
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Total receivables from subsidiaries 5,415,080 11,135,410 16,550,490 
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Description Prior year Change Current year 

VAT receivable 273,764 -273,764 0 

Other tax assets 188,686 -16,855 171,831 

Total 462,450 -290,619 171,831 

Information on equity investments in subsidiaries classified as non-current assets

Equity investments in subsidiaries are recognised at acquisition or subscription cost.
Pursuant to art. 2427, point 5 of the Italian Civil Code, information is provided in relation to equity 
investments in subsidiaries, held directly or indirectly, classified as non-current financial assets.

Current assets
Receivables classified as current assets
Change in and due dates of receivables classified as current assets

The table below shows the breakdown, the change in and the due dates of receivables classified as current 
assets (art. 2427, points 4 and 6 of the Italian Civil Code).

Receivables from subsidiaries

Trade receivables refer to consultancy, feasibility study and planning services supplied to subsidiaries in 
relation to real estate development projects.
CNM receivables are receivables resulting from participation in the tax consolidation.
Financial receivables consist entirely of interest income on interest-bearing loans to Group companies.

Pursuant to art. 2426, point 3) of the Italian Civil Code, the recognition of equity investments at a value 
above the share of equity held is justified by the higher value of the companies resulting from the real 
estate projects still in the start-up phase, from which positive flows are expected over the long term.
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Smartcity s.r.l. Milan 10970170964 10,000 10,424 100.00% 10,000 

Trilogy Towers 
s.r.l. Milan 10288320962 10,000 13,617 100.00% 190,000 

Alibranda s.r.l. Milan 11138470965 10,000 11,203 100.00% 10,000 

Volaplana s.r.l. Milan 11138460966 10,000 11,218 100.00% 10,000 

Total      4,156,658 

 
 

Current assets 

Receivables classified as current assets 

Change in and due dates of receivables classified as current assets 

 

 Opening 
balance 

Change in the 
period 

Closing 
balance 

Portion falling due 
within next financial 

year 

Portion falling due 
beyond next financial 

year 

Receivables from customers 
classified as current assets 976 650 1,626 1,626 - 

Receivables from subsidiaries 
classified as current assets 5,415,080 11,135,410 16,550,490 16,550,490 - 

Tax assets classified as 
current assets 462,450 (290,619) 171,831 171,831 - 

Deferred tax assets classified 
as current assets 0 67,200 67,200   

Receivables from others 
classified as current assets 1,284,694 (464,853) 819,841 809,841 10,000 

Total receivables classified as 
current assets 7,163,200 10,447,788 17,610,988 17,533,788 10,000 

 
 

Receivables from subsidiaries 

Description Prior year Change Current year 

Non-interest bearing short-term loan 
granted to AIM  0 700,000 700,000 

Trade receivables 5,390,231 6,710,207 12,100,438 

CNM Receivables (from national and 
global consolidation) 24,849 2,025,718 2,050,567 

Financial receivables 0 1,699,485 1,699,485 

Total receivables from subsidiaries 5,415,080 11,135,410 16,550,490 

Tax assets 

Description Prior year Change Current year 

VAT receivable 273,764 -273,764 0 

Other tax assets 188,686 -16,855 171,831 

Total 462,450 -290,619 171,831 
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Other receivables 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Receivables from others within 
the next financial year 1,274,694 809,841 -464,853 

- advances to suppliers 300,000 84,867 -215,133 

Other receivables 974,964 724,974 -249,990 

b) Receivables from others beyond 
one year 10,000 10,000 0 

Cash security deposits 10,000 10,000 0 

Total other receivables 1,284,694 819,841 -464,853 

Current financial assets 

Changes in current financial assets 

 

Other securities 

 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Total including allowance for impairment 186,205 0 -186,205 

- Allowance for impairment of other 
securities 29,445 0 -29,445 

Total 156,760 0 -156,760 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Bank and postal accounts 6,940,442 (760,219) 6,180,223 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 (256) 349 

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,941,047 (760,475) 6,180,572 

 
 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 

 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

Total accrued income and prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

 
 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Prepaid expenses: 562,088 521,717 -40,371 

- on insurance policies 5,135 94 -5,041 

- on rents 5,134 0 -5,134 

Separate Financial Statements Page 13 of 22 
	

Other receivables 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Receivables from others within 
the next financial year 1,274,694 809,841 -464,853 

- advances to suppliers 300,000 84,867 -215,133 

Other receivables 974,964 724,974 -249,990 

b) Receivables from others beyond 
one year 10,000 10,000 0 

Cash security deposits 10,000 10,000 0 

Total other receivables 1,284,694 819,841 -464,853 

Current financial assets 

Changes in current financial assets 

 

Other securities 

 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Total including allowance for impairment 186,205 0 -186,205 

- Allowance for impairment of other 
securities 29,445 0 -29,445 

Total 156,760 0 -156,760 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Bank and postal accounts 6,940,442 (760,219) 6,180,223 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 (256) 349 

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,941,047 (760,475) 6,180,572 

 
 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 

 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

Total accrued income and prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

 
 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Prepaid expenses: 562,088 521,717 -40,371 

- on insurance policies 5,135 94 -5,041 

- on rents 5,134 0 -5,134 

Separate Financial Statements Page 13 of 22 
	

Other receivables 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Receivables from others within 
the next financial year 1,274,694 809,841 -464,853 

- advances to suppliers 300,000 84,867 -215,133 

Other receivables 974,964 724,974 -249,990 

b) Receivables from others beyond 
one year 10,000 10,000 0 

Cash security deposits 10,000 10,000 0 

Total other receivables 1,284,694 819,841 -464,853 

Current financial assets 

Changes in current financial assets 

 

Other securities 

 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Total including allowance for impairment 186,205 0 -186,205 

- Allowance for impairment of other 
securities 29,445 0 -29,445 

Total 156,760 0 -156,760 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Bank and postal accounts 6,940,442 (760,219) 6,180,223 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 (256) 349 

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,941,047 (760,475) 6,180,572 

 
 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 

 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

Total accrued income and prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

 
 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Prepaid expenses: 562,088 521,717 -40,371 

- on insurance policies 5,135 94 -5,041 

- on rents 5,134 0 -5,134 

Separate Financial Statements Page 13 of 22 
	

Other receivables 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Receivables from others within 
the next financial year 1,274,694 809,841 -464,853 

- advances to suppliers 300,000 84,867 -215,133 

Other receivables 974,964 724,974 -249,990 

b) Receivables from others beyond 
one year 10,000 10,000 0 

Cash security deposits 10,000 10,000 0 

Total other receivables 1,284,694 819,841 -464,853 

Current financial assets 

Changes in current financial assets 

 

Other securities 

 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Total including allowance for impairment 186,205 0 -186,205 

- Allowance for impairment of other 
securities 29,445 0 -29,445 

Total 156,760 0 -156,760 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Bank and postal accounts 6,940,442 (760,219) 6,180,223 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 (256) 349 

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,941,047 (760,475) 6,180,572 

 
 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 

 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

Total accrued income and prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

 
 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Prepaid expenses: 562,088 521,717 -40,371 

- on insurance policies 5,135 94 -5,041 

- on rents 5,134 0 -5,134 

Separate Financial Statements Page 13 of 22 
	

Other receivables 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Receivables from others within 
the next financial year 1,274,694 809,841 -464,853 

- advances to suppliers 300,000 84,867 -215,133 

Other receivables 974,964 724,974 -249,990 

b) Receivables from others beyond 
one year 10,000 10,000 0 

Cash security deposits 10,000 10,000 0 

Total other receivables 1,284,694 819,841 -464,853 

Current financial assets 

Changes in current financial assets 

 

Other securities 

 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Total including allowance for impairment 186,205 0 -186,205 

- Allowance for impairment of other 
securities 29,445 0 -29,445 

Total 156,760 0 -156,760 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Bank and postal accounts 6,940,442 (760,219) 6,180,223 

Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 (256) 349 

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,941,047 (760,475) 6,180,572 

 
 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 

 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

Total accrued income and prepaid expenses 562,088 (40,371) 521,717 

 
 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Prepaid expenses: 562,088 521,717 -40,371 

- on insurance policies 5,135 94 -5,041 

- on rents 5,134 0 -5,134 

Separate Financial Statements Page 14 of 22 
	

- regular consultancy services 67,579 32,411 -35,168 

- software and user licence costs 73,949 24,334 -49,615 

- Leases 171,666 144,450 -27,216 

- other 238,625 320,428 81,803 

Accrued income:    
- other 0 0 0 

Total 562,088 521,717 -40,371 

 

Capitalised financial expenses 

 

Notes to the financial statements, liabilities and equity 

Equity 

Changes in equity items 

 

 Opening balance 
Other changes 

Profit (loss) for the year Closing balance 
Increases 

Share capital 127,728 1,949  129,677 

Share premium reserve 36,989,386 -  36,989,386 

Legal reserve 25,547 14,104  39,651 

Other reserves     

Other sundry reserves (1) 1  0 

Total sundry reserves (1) 1  0 

Profit (loss) carried forward 943,874 266,012  1,209,886 

Profit (loss) for the year 282,065 282,065 180,662 180,662 

Loss covered in the period - (564,131)  - 

Total equity 38,368,599 - 180,662 38,549,262 

 
 

Availability and use of equity 

 

 Amount Origin/type Possible uses Portion available 

Share capital 129,677 C B 129,677 

Share premium reserve 36,989,386 C A B C 36,989,386 

Legal reserve 39,651 U B 39,651 

Tax assets

Other receivables

The item “Other receivables” mainly includes:
· Euro 470,000, referring to the cost incurred for the purchase without recourse, from Banco BPM, of 
the receivable from Immobiliare Tacito of a nominal amount of Euro 11,000,000. The receivable is secured 
by a mortgage on the property situated in Milan, viale Tacito;
· Euro 254,974 referring to a receivable from Abitare in Poste s.r.l..

Current financial assets

Changes in current financial assets

Other securities

The table below shows the breakdown of the item “Other securities” and the changes compared to the 
previous reporting period (art. 2427, point 4 of the Italian Civil Code).

The securities recognised in the prior year were all sold in the period ended 30/09/2020, generating a 
capital gain of Euro 10,487.

Cash and cash equivalents

The balance as shown below reflects the amount and any changes in cash and cash equivalents at the 
reporting date (art. 2427, point 4 of the Italian Civil Code).

Accrued income and prepaid expenses

The breakdown of this item and the changes in the period are as follows (art. 2427, point 7 of the Italian 
Civil Code):

Other tax assets refer to Research & Development tax relief (Euro 163,342) and to other tax assets for the 
remaining part.
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Other reserves     

Other sundry reserves 0   - 

Total sundry reserves 0   - 

Profit carried forward 1,209,886 U A B C 1,209,886 

Total 38,368,600   38,368,600 

Non-distributable portion    1,943,187 

Remaining distributable portion    36,425,413 

 
 

 

Provisions for risks and charges 

 

 Provision for post-employment benefits and similar obligations Total provisions for risks and charges 

Opening balance 148,926 148,926 

Changes in the period   
Other changes 41,555 41,555 

Total changes 41,555 41,555 

Closing balance 190,481 190,481 

 

Severance indemnity reserve (TFR) 

 

 Severance indemnity reserve (TFR) 

Opening balance 91,395 

Changes in the period  
Increase in the year 96,514 

Other changes (10,392) 

Total changes 86,122 

Closing balance 177,517 

 
 

Payables 

Change in and due dates of payables 

 

 Opening 
balance 

Change in the 
period 

Closing 
balance 

Portion falling due 
within next financial 

year 

Portion falling due 
beyond next financial 

year 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Liabilities and Equity
EQUITY

Capitalised financial expenses

No capitalisation of financial expenses among the assets recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
was implemented in the reporting period (art. 2427, point 8 of the Italian Civil Code).

Availability and use of equity

Specifically, details are provided of reserves recognised under Equity, with a breakdown by origin or type, 
possible uses and distribution limits, and their use in prior periods (art. 2427, point 7-bis of the Italian Civil 
Code):
Key to “Origin/type” column: C = Equity reserve; U = Retained profits.

Changes in equity items

Equity amounts to Euro 38,549,261 at the reporting date, with the following changes in the period (art. 
2427, point 4 of the Italian Civil Code).

Key: A = capital increases; B = loss coverage; C = distribution to shareholders; D = other requirements under the 
articles of association; E = other uses.

At 30/09/2020 the share capital was fully subscribed and paid up.

Provisions for risks and charges

The breakdown of this item and the changes in the individual items (art. 2427, point 4 of the Italian Civil Code) 
are shown in the following table.

Provisions for risks and charges consist entirely of the directors’ severance indemnity reserve.

205 206/ Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 Abitare In S.p.A. / Annual Report - 2020 /



Separate Financial Statements Page 15 of 22 
	

Other reserves     
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Payables to banks 11,079,296 3,685,767 14,765,063 8,832,522 5,932,541 

Loans and borrowings from 
other lenders 18,642 (18,642) 0 0 - 

Payables to suppliers 819,128 200,511 1,019,639 1,019,639 - 

Payables to subsidiaries 936,974 6,247,581 7,184,555 7,184,555 - 

Tax liabilities 102,949 2,429,549 2,532,498 2,532,498 - 

Payables to social security 
and welfare institutions 33,097 18,032 51,129 51,129 - 

Other payables 493,696 70,392 564,088 564,088 0 

Total payables 13,483,782 12,633,190 26,116,972 20,184,431 5,932,541 

 
 

Payables to banks 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Payables to banks due within the 
next financial year 543,901 8,832,522 8,288,621 

Overdrawn current accounts  6,793 6,793 

Loans/other financing 531,218 8,825,691 8,294,473 

Other payables:    
- other  12,683 38 -12,645 

b) Payables to banks beyond next 
financial year 10,535,395 5,932,541 -4,602,854 

Loans/other financing 10,535,395 5,932,541 -4,602,854 

Other payables:    
Total payables to banks  11,079,296 14,765,063 3,685,767 

Payables to subsidiaries 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Trade payables 912,128 1,626,068 713,940 

Group VAT payable 0 415,996 415,996 

Tax consolidation payables 24,846 522,491 497,645 

Payable to Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. 0 4,620,000 4,620,000 

Total payables to subsidiaries 936,974 7,184,555 6,247,581 

Tax liabilities 

Description Prior year Change  Current year 

IRES tax liabilities 39,789 1,756,018 1,795,807 

IRAP tax liabilities 24,805 -11,527 13,278 

Municipal taxes and duties 1,095 -1,095 0 

VAT payable 0 672,188 672,188 

Employee withholding taxes 22,723 5,173 27,896 

Professional/collaborator withholding taxes 13,273 6,432 19,705 

Additional municipal tax 354 276 630 
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Payables to social security 
and welfare institutions 33,097 18,032 51,129 51,129 - 

Other payables 493,696 70,392 564,088 564,088 0 

Total payables 13,483,782 12,633,190 26,116,972 20,184,431 5,932,541 

 
 

Payables to banks 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Payables to banks due within the 
next financial year 543,901 8,832,522 8,288,621 

Overdrawn current accounts  6,793 6,793 

Loans/other financing 531,218 8,825,691 8,294,473 

Other payables:    
- other  12,683 38 -12,645 

b) Payables to banks beyond next 
financial year 10,535,395 5,932,541 -4,602,854 

Loans/other financing 10,535,395 5,932,541 -4,602,854 

Other payables:    
Total payables to banks  11,079,296 14,765,063 3,685,767 

Payables to subsidiaries 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Trade payables 912,128 1,626,068 713,940 

Group VAT payable 0 415,996 415,996 

Tax consolidation payables 24,846 522,491 497,645 

Payable to Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. 0 4,620,000 4,620,000 

Total payables to subsidiaries 936,974 7,184,555 6,247,581 

Tax liabilities 

Description Prior year Change  Current year 

IRES tax liabilities 39,789 1,756,018 1,795,807 

IRAP tax liabilities 24,805 -11,527 13,278 

Municipal taxes and duties 1,095 -1,095 0 

VAT payable 0 672,188 672,188 

Employee withholding taxes 22,723 5,173 27,896 

Professional/collaborator withholding taxes 13,273 6,432 19,705 

Additional municipal tax 354 276 630 

Severance indemnity reserve (TFR)

The reserve reflects the total payable by the Company to employees at 30/09/2020, less any advances paid. 
The breakdown and uses are detailed in the table below (art. 2427, point 4 of the Italian Civil Code).

PAYABLES

Change in and due dates of payables

The breakdown of payables, the changes in the individual items and their due dates are shown in the table 
below (art. 2427, point 4 of the Italian Civil Code).

Payables to banks

Payables to banks on loans and other financing mainly include:
· Loan from Banca Intesa S.p.A., for Euro 10,000,000, with an outstanding balance of Euro 8,500,000 
to be repaid in a single instalment on 14/12/2020;
· Unsecured loan from BPER Banca S.p.A., for Euro 5,200,000, entered into on 23/09/2020, to be 
repaid in quarterly instalments from 30/09/2020, end date 30/09/2025. The loan agreement provides 
for the bank’s right to terminate the agreement in case of Abitare In’s non-satisfaction of the following 
parameters: (i) NFP/Equity ratio of 1.75 with reference to its consolidated financial statements, starting from 
the consolidated financial statements at 30 September 2020, and (ii) NFP/Equity ratio of 0.75 with reference 
to its separate financial statements, starting from the separate financial statements at 30 September 2020. 
At 30 September 2020 the financial covenants had been fully satisfied;
· Loan from Banca Mediocredito Italiano S.p.A., for Euro 1,300,000, with an outstanding balance of 
Euro 1,089,400 to be repaid in quarterly instalments, end date 30/06/2023.

Payables to subsidiaries

The payable to Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. refers to excess liquidity of the subsidiary held by the parent 
company.
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Tax liabilities 102,949 2,429,549 2,532,498 2,532,498 - 

Payables to social security 
and welfare institutions 33,097 18,032 51,129 51,129 - 
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Payable to Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. 0 4,620,000 4,620,000 

Total payables to subsidiaries 936,974 7,184,555 6,247,581 

Tax liabilities 

Description Prior year Change  Current year 

IRES tax liabilities 39,789 1,756,018 1,795,807 
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Additional regional tax 876 221 1,097 

Substitute taxes 34 -34 0 

Other tax liabilities 0 1,897 1,897 

Total tax liabilities 102,949 2,429,549 2,532,498 

Payables to social security and welfare institutions 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Payable to INPS (Italian Social Security 
Institution) 30,541 39,382 8,841 

Payables to INAIL (Italian Institution 
Against Accidents at Work) 357 0 -357 

Other payables to social security and 
welfare institutions 2,198 11,747 9,549 

Rounding 1 0 -1 

Total payables to social security and 
welfare institutions 33,097 51,129 18,032 

Other payables 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

a) Other payables due within the next financial 
year 152,014 564,088 412,074 

Payables to employees/collaborators 122,301 548,749 426,448 

Payables to directors and statutory auditors 13,793 698 -13,095 

Other payables:    
- other 15,920 14,641 -1,279 

b) Other payables beyond next financial year 341,682 0 -341,682 

- other 341,682 0 -341,682 

Total other payables 493,696 564,088 70,392 

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 

 

 Opening balance Change in the period Closing balance 

Accrued expenses 14,895 (2,091) 12,804 

Prepaid income 82,311 103,236 185,547 

Total accrued expenses and prepaid income 97,206 101,145 198,351 

 
 

Description Prior year Current year Change 

Prepaid income: 82,311 185,547 103,236 

- R&D tax relief 82,311 103,237 20,926 

- other 0 82,310 0 

Accrued expenses: 14,895 12,804 -2,091 

- on interest expense 14,774 30 -14,744 
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- on rents 0 1,732 1,732 

- on insurance 0 318 318 

- on cleaning services 0 3,714 3,714 

- on press office 0 4,167 4,167 

- other 121 2,843 2,722 

Total 97,206 198,351 101,145 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements, income statement 

Production value 

 

 

Description Prior year Current year Change % change 

Revenue from sales and services 5,323,503 8,528,301 3,204,798 60.20 

Other revenue and income 109,884 182,332 72,448 65.93 

Total 5,433,387 8,710,633 3,277,246  
 

Breakdown of revenue from sales and services by type 

 

Type of business activity Current year value 

Services rendered 8,528,301 

Total 8,528,301 

 
 

Production costs 

 

Description Prior year Current year Change % change 

Raw materials, consumables, 
supplies and goods 65,329 148,111 82,782 126.72 

Services 3,058,997 4,164,989 1,105,992 36.16 

For use of leased assets 484,187 825,555 341,368 70.50 

Personnel expenses:     
a) wages and salaries 679,414 1,776,175 1,096,761 161.43 

b) social security costs 201,700 431,041 229,341 113.70 

c) severance indemnity reserve 43,845 96,514 52,669 120.13 

e) other costs 2,219  -2,219 -100.00 

Amortisation, depreciation and 
impairment:     

a) intangible assets 733,869 858,657 124,788 17.00 

Tax liabilities

Payables to social security and welfare institutions

Other payables

Payables due to employees/collaborators mainly include salaries, bonuses, holiday leave and additional 
monthly wages.
The breakdown of payables by geographical area is omitted insofar as it is immaterial.

Accrued expenses and prepaid income

The breakdown of this item and the changes in the period are as follows (art. 2427, point 7 of the Italian 
Civil Code).
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b) property, plant and equipment 88,985 105,497 16,512 18.56 

Sundry operating costs 306,837 275,565 -31,272 -10.19 

Total 5,665,382 8,682,104 3,016,722  
 

Financial income and expenses 

Breakdown of income from equity investments 

 

 Income other than dividends 

From subsidiaries 695,141 

From others 10,623 

Total 705,764 

 
 

Breakdown of interest and other financial expenses by type of payable 

 

 Interest and other financial expenses 

Payables to banks 382,108 

Other 1,382 

Total 383,490 

 
 

Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes 

 

Income taxes for the year 

 

Description Prior year Change % change Current year 

Current taxes:     
IRES tax 153,972 8,440 5.48 162,412 

IRAP tax 70,998 3,931 5.54 74,929 

Prepaid taxes 0 -67,200 0 -67,200 

Total 224,970 -54,829  170,141 

 

Tax reconciliation - IRES 

 

Description Amount Income taxes 
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- on rents 0 1,732 1,732 

- on insurance 0 318 318 

- on cleaning services 0 3,714 3,714 

- on press office 0 4,167 4,167 

- other 121 2,843 2,722 

Total 97,206 198,351 101,145 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements, income statement 
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Revenue from sales and services 5,323,503 8,528,301 3,204,798 60.20 
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Production costs 
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Raw materials, consumables, 
supplies and goods 65,329 148,111 82,782 126.72 
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For use of leased assets 484,187 825,555 341,368 70.50 

Personnel expenses:     
a) wages and salaries 679,414 1,776,175 1,096,761 161.43 
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c) severance indemnity reserve 43,845 96,514 52,669 120.13 
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Amortisation, depreciation and 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Income Statement

Production value

Information is provided on the breakdown of production value and on the changes in the individual items 
compared to the prior period:

Breakdown of revenue from sales and services by type

Pursuant to point 10) of art. 2427, a breakdown of revenue from sales and services by type is provided 
below.

Revenue from services refer to consultancy, feasibility study and planning services supplied by the Company 
to investee companies in relation to real estate development projects.
The breakdown of revenue by geographical area is omitted insofar as it is immaterial.

Production costs

The table below shows the breakdown of the item “Production costs” and any changes in the period.

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Breakdown of income from equity investments

Pursuant to point 11) of art. 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, information is provided concerning income from 
equity investments other than dividends.

Breakdown of interest and other financial expenses by type of payable

Pursuant to point 12) of art. 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, information is provided concerning the amount 
of interest and other financial expenses related to bonds, payables to banks and other payables.
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Profit (loss) before tax 468,303  
Theoretical tax liability (%) 24% 112,393 

Increases   

- IMU tax 3,018  

- car expenses 15,583  

- contingent liabilities 49,728  

- telephone expenses 7,495  

- fines and penalties 37  

- other increases 59,510  

- accrual of employee bonuses 280,000  

Total increases 415,371  

Decreases   

- IRAP deducted 47,676  

- contingent assets 95,481  

- research & development tax relief 60,105  

- other decreases 1,509  

- ACE (aid to economic growth) 2,188  

Total decreases 206,959  

   

IRES tax base 676,716  

Current IRES tax for the year  162,412 

Tax reconciliation - IRAP 

 

Description Amount Income taxes 

IRAP tax base (A - B + b9 + b10 lett. c) and d) + b12 + b13) 2,449,759  
Theoretical tax liability (%) 3.90 104,140 

Increases   

- interest on lease payments 5,609  

- IMU tax 1,509  
- cost of project-based employment contracts and temporary 
workers 327,792  

- contingent liabilities 22,993  

- Other items 41,182  
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- telephone expenses 7,495  

- fines and penalties 37  

- other increases 59,510  

- accrual of employee bonuses 280,000  

Total increases 415,371  

Decreases   

- IRAP deducted 47,676  

- contingent assets 95,481  

- research & development tax relief 60,105  

- other decreases 1,509  

- ACE (aid to economic growth) 2,188  

Total decreases 206,959  

   

IRES tax base 676,716  

Current IRES tax for the year  162,412 

Tax reconciliation - IRAP 

 

Description Amount Income taxes 

IRAP tax base (A - B + b9 + b10 lett. c) and d) + b12 + b13) 2,449,759  
Theoretical tax liability (%) 3.90 104,140 

Increases   

- interest on lease payments 5,609  

- IMU tax 1,509  
- cost of project-based employment contracts and temporary 
workers 327,792  

- contingent liabilities 22,993  

- Other items 41,182  
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Total increases 399,085  

Tax decreases   

- Contingent assets 95,481  

- Research & Development tax relief 60,105  

Total decreases 155,568  

Deductions:   

- Personnel deductions 1,685,652  

Total deductions 1,685,652  

   

- Interest income and similar income 705,764  

- Interest expense and similar expenses  -368,150  

Total 337,614  

   

IRAP tax base 1,345,217  

Current IRAP tax for the year  74,929 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements, other information 

Number of employees 

 

 Average number 

Executives 3 

Office workers 27 

Total employees 30 

 
 

Remuneration, advances and loans granted to directors and statutory auditors and 
commitments undertaken on their behalf 

 

 Directors Statutory Auditors 

Remuneration 265,420 24,840 

 
 

Fees paid to the independent auditor/auditing firm 

 

Tax reconciliation - IRES

The table below provides the information required by accounting standard No. 25 and shows the reconcili-
ation between the tax liability recognised and the theoretical tax liability.

CURRENT, DEFERRED AND PREPAID INCOME TAXES

Income taxes for the year
The breakdown of the item “Income taxes for the year” is shown in the table below:

Tax reconciliation - IRAP

The table below provides the information required by accounting standard No. 25 and shows the reconciliation 
between the tax liability recognised and the theoretical tax liability.
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 Amount 

Statutory audit of the annual accounts 17,533 

Total fees due to the independent auditor/auditing firm 17,533 

 
 

Classes of shares issued by the Company 

 

Description Opening balance, 
number 

Opening balance, nominal 
value 

Closing balance, 
number 

Closing balance, nominal 
value 

Ordinary 
shares 2,554,560 127,728 2,593,538 129,677 

Total 2,554,560 127,728 2,593,538 129,677 

 
 

 

 

Allocation of the profit for the year 

Pursuant to point 22-septies of art. 2427, a proposal is made to the Shareholders’ Meeting called 

to approve the financial statements to allocate the profit for the year as follows: 

Description Amount 

Profit for the year:  
- to be carried forward 180,662 

Total 180,662 
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Allocation of the profit for the year 

Pursuant to point 22-septies of art. 2427, a proposal is made to the Shareholders’ Meeting called 

to approve the financial statements to allocate the profit for the year as follows: 

Description Amount 

Profit for the year:  
- to be carried forward 180,662 

Total 180,662 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
other information

Number of employees

Pursuant to point 15) of art. 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, information is provided in relation to the 
number of employees at 30/09/2020. 

Remuneration, advances and loans granted to directors and statutory auditors and commitments 
undertaken on their behalf

The table below shows remuneration, advances and loans granted to directors and statutory auditors, and 
the commitments undertaken on their behalf at 30/09/2020, as required in point 16 of art. 2427 of the 
Italian Civil Code.

Fees paid to the independent auditor/auditing firm

Pursuant to point 16-bis of art. 2427, information is provided concerning the fees due to the independent 
auditor (auditing firm) BDO ITALIA S.P.A. for the services rendered, which include the statutory audit and 
other services.

Classes of shares issued by the Company

As provided in point 17 of art. 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, the table below shows the breakdown of share 
capital by share type and the number and nominal value of shares subscribed in the period.

Commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities not reported in the statement of financial position

Pursuant to point 9 of art. 2427 of the Italian Civil Code, information is provided below in relation to com-
mitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities not reported in the statement of financial position:
· capitalisation commitment in favour of Banca Popolare di Milano as guarantee for the loan which 
the bank has granted to Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. to build the Abitare in Maggiolina complex;
· surety to guarantee the fulfilment of the obligations undertaken by Milano Progetti s.r.l. in connection 
with the landed property loan agreement entered into with Intesa Sanpaolo;
· surety to guarantee the fulfilment of the obligations undertaken by Abitare In Development 3 s.r.l. 
in connection with the mortgage agreement entered into by the latter with Banca Reale S.p.A.;
· surety in favour of BPM to secure the loan granted by the latter to Milano City Village s.r.l. and capi-
talisation commitment, again in favour of BPM, as guarantee for the loan granted to Milano City Village s.r.l.;
· surety in favour of UBI to secure the loan granted by the latter to Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. and capital-
isation commitment, again in favour of UBI, as guarantee for the loan granted to Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l; 
· co-obligation commitment as assurance of the fulfilment of the obligations undertaken by Milano 
City Village s.r.l. in the context of an agreement entered into with Reale Mutua Assicurazioni for the provision 
of sureties on real estate under construction;
· the quotas held in the company Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l. were pledged in favour of a bank to 
secure a loan granted to the parent company.
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Allocation of the profit for the year 

Pursuant to point 22-septies of art. 2427, a proposal is made to the Shareholders’ Meeting called 

to approve the financial statements to allocate the profit for the year as follows: 

Description Amount 

Profit for the year:  
- to be carried forward 180,662 

Total 180,662 

 

Statement of compliance of the financial statements

I, the undersigned, Luigi Gozzini, in my capacity as a Director, aware of the criminal liability for false or 
misleading statements pursuant to art. 76 of Italian Presidential Decree 445/2000, hereby confirm, pursuant 
to art. 47 thereto, that the electronic XBRL file containing the Statement of Financial Position, the Income 
Statement, the Statement of Cash Flows and these Notes to the Financial Statements is consistent with the 
corresponding documents held on file by the Company.

on behalf of the Board of Directors
the Chairman

Luigi Gozzini
_______________________________

Information on assets and funding allocated to a specific transaction

Pursuant to articles 2447-bis and 2447-decies of the Italian Civil Code, notice is given that the Company 
has not allocated assets or funding to a specific transaction in the period.

Information on related-party transactions

Pursuant to point 22-bis of art. 2427, notice is given that related-party transactions in the period were 
carried out at arm’s length. See the Directors' Report for further details.

Information on agreements not reported in the statement of financial position

Pursuant to point 22-ter of art. 2427, it is hereby confirmed that no agreements producing material risks 
or rewards, for which disclosure is required to reflect the Company’s financial position, earnings and cash 
flows, have been omitted from the Statement of Financial Position.

Information on events after the reporting date

Pursuant to art. 2427 no. 22 quater) of the Italian Civil Code, notice is given that no significant events 
occurred after the reporting date.

Information on financial derivatives pursuant to art. 2427-bis of the Italian Civil Code

Pursuant to paragraph 1, point 1) of art. 2427 bis of the Italian Civil Code, it is confirmed that the Company 
does not use financial derivatives.

Information concerning start-ups, including social start-ups, and innovative SMEs

Pursuant to art. 4 of Italian Decree Law 3/2015, it is hereby confirmed that costs incurred for research and 
development, amounting to Euro 489,833, exceed 3% of the higher of production value (Euro 8,710,633) 
and production costs (Euro 8,682,105).

PROPOSAL CONCERNING PROFIT ALLOCATION OR LOSS COVERAGE

Allocation of the profit for the year

Pursuant to point 22-septies of art. 2427, a proposal is made to the Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the financial statements to allocate the profit for the year as follows:
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Location: Palazzo Naviglio 
(virtual photo - loggia at night)
via Privata Rosalba Carriera 7
Neighbourhood: Giambellino
Milan
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Description Prior year Change Current year
Called-up share capital 
Non-current assets 37,366,813 3,552,493 40,919,306 
Current assets 14,261,007 9,530,553 23,791,560 
Accrued income and prepaid expenses 562,088 -40,371 521,717 
TOTAL ASSETS 52,189,908 13,042,675 65,232,583 
Equity: 38,368,599 180,663 38,549,262 
- of which profit (loss) for the year 282,065 -101,403 180,662 
Provisions for risks and charges 148,926 41,555 190,481 
Severance indemnity reserve (TFR) 91,395 86,122 177,517 
Short-term payables 2.606,705 17,577,726 20,184,431 
Long-term payables 10.877,077 -4,944,536 5,932,541 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 97,206 101,145 198,351 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 52,189,908 13,042,675 65,232,583 

Description Prior 
year 

% of 
revenue 

Current 
year

% of 
revenue 

Revenue from operating activities 5,323,503 8,528,301 
Change in inventory of work in progress, semi-finished and
finished products and increase in non-current assets
Purchases and changes in inventory of raw materials, consumables, 
supplies and goods 65,329 1.23 148,111 1.74 

Cost of services and use of leased assets 3,543,184 66.56 4,990,544 58.52 
ADDED VALUE 1,714,990 32.22 3,389,646 39.75 
Revenue from non-operating activities 109,884 2.06 182,332 2.14 
Personnel expenses 927,178 17.42 2,303,730 27.01 
Other operating expenses 306,837 5.76 275,565 3.23 
EBITDA 590,859 11.10 992,683 11.64 
Depreciation/amortisation, impairment and other provisions 822,854 15.46 964,154 11.31 
EBIT -231,995 -4.36 28,529 0.33 
Financial income and expenses and adjustments to financial assets
and liabilities 739,030 13.88 322,274 3.78 

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 507,035 9.52 350,803 4.11 
Income taxes 224,970 4.23 170,141 2.00 
Profit (loss) for the year 282,065 5.30 180,662 2.12 

Dear Shareholders,

This Directors’ report, accompanying the financial statements at 30/09/2020, was prepared pursuant to art. 
2428 of the Italian Civil Code to give a fair, balanced and comprehensive view of the current situation of 
the Company, its performance and operating result and the business activities carried out during the year. 
Information is also given concerning the risks to which the Company is exposed.

COMPANY’S BUSINESS ACTIVITY

The Company supplies consultancy and technical, administrative and commercial management services to 
the member companies of the “Abitare In” Group, which is active in the development of residential property, 
mainly in the metropolitan area of the city of Milan. To date, the development of the residential complex in 
the “Maggiolina” neighbourhood of Milan has been completed, through the subsidiary Abitare in Maggiolina 
s.r.l.. The “Milano City Village”, “Trilogy Towers”, “Palazzo Naviglio” and “Olimpia Garden” projects are currently 
under development. The marketing of the “Savona 105” project has been launched.

COMPANY FINANCIAL POSITION AND PERFORMANCE

The reporting period ended with a profit of Euro 180,662.

The tables below provide a summary of the Company’s financial position and performance in the reporting 
period, with emphasis on the factors described above:

Annual Report at 30 September 2020

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
accompanying the Financial Statements at 

30.09.2020

As a commentary to the figures shown in 
the tables, the following notes are added to 
describe the different aspects of operations 
that have had an impact on these financial 
statements or will have an impact on future 
developments:
a) the period covered by this Report sees 
the Abitare In Group continuing construction 
activities on the projects under development 
and their marketing, research, prospecting 
and selection of new areas to develop, as 
well as the start and continuation of the 
administrative processes needed to obtain the 
required authorisations for the construction of 
real estate complexes, and the finalisation of 
the notarial deeds for 65% of the real estate 
units of the Abitare in Maggiolina complex;
b) as is well known, this reporting 
period has been affected by the spread of 
the Covid-19 virus which has had a major 
impact on the national and global economy. 
Following the containment measures 
introduced in March, construction activities 
at the worksites were temporarily suspended. 
However, the Company continued to work 
on the administrative processes for obtaining 
the authorisations needed for the various 

real estate development projects, albeit with 
longer time frames given that the offices of the 
Public Administration are operating at reduced 
capacity;
c) on 30 October 2019, Palazzo Naviglio 
s.r.l. (formerly Nova City s.r.l.) acquired the title 
of the property complex located in the Naviglio 
Grande area of Milan, where the “Palazzo 
Naviglio” residential development will be built, 
a 76 unit apartment (standard-size) complex 
consisting of a building with a contemporary 
design and very low environmental impact. In 
the period covered by this Report, the Palazzo 
Naviglio project also went on the market and 
achieved extraordinary results even during the 
health emergency;
d) on 31 October 2019, Abitare In S.p.A. 
announced to the market that it has entered 
the rental market through Homizy, the new 
strategic business line focused on developing 
properties that will generate income through 
co-living solutions. The Homizy project will be 
developed by the Group company bearing the 
same name (Homizy S.p.A.), registered in the 
Register of Innovative Startups;
e) on 8 November 2019, MICA s.r.l., a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Abitare In S.p.A., 
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Description Prior year Change Current year
a) Short-term assets
Bank accounts 6,940,442 -760,219 6,180,223
Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents 605 -256 349
Current shares and bonds 156,760 -156,760
Financial receivables due within 12 months 1,004,344 1,395,141 2,399,485
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND CURRENT
SECURITIES 8,102,151 477,906 8,580,057

b) Short-term liabilities
Payables to banks (within 12 months) 543,901 8,276,717 8,820,618
Loans and borrowings from other lenders (within 12 months) 18,642 -6,738 11,904
Other short-term liabilities 0 4,620,000 4,620,000
SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL PAYABLES 562,543 12,889,979 13,452,522
SHORT-TERM NET FINANCIAL POSITION 7,539,608 -12,412,073 -4,872,465
c) Medium/long-term assets
TOTAL MEDIUM/LONG-TERM ASSETS 0 0 0
d) Medium/long-term liabilities
Payables to banks (beyond 12 months) 10,535,395 -4,602,854 5,932,541
TOTAL MEDIUM/LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 10,535,395 -4,602,854 5,932,541
MEDIUM/LONG-TERM NET FINANCIAL POSITION 10,535,395 -4,602,854 5,932,541
NET FINANCIAL POSITION 2,995,787 -7,809,219 10,805,006

o) on 22 June 2020, Milano Progetti s.r.l. - 
owner of the disused real estate complex at via 
Cadolini in Milan (so-called “former Plasmon” 
area) - signed a preliminary agreement with 
the Korian Italia Group to sell to the latter a 
portion of around 17% of the project’s surface 
area (where Korian will develop a senior living 
project and, in part, a residential care home). 
The preliminary agreement provides that Abitare 
In S.p.A., in view of its strong know-how, will 
manage only the administrative process to obtain 
the relevant authorisations, while the buyer will 
complete the design, execution and development 
of the senior living project. In light of the above, 
the final conveyance agreement for the site will 
be entered into subsequent to the obtainment 
of the required authorisations, expected by 31 
December 2021. The agreed consideration is 
Euro 13.0 million, of which Euro 1.0 million to 

signed a preliminary contract to acquire a 
real estate complex in the Naviglio Grande 
area of Milan for an agreed price of Euro 6.5 
million, of which Euro 0.7 million paid as a 
down payment. The final contract, which was 
originally scheduled for March 2020, has been 
postponed to January 2021 in agreement 
with the owner due to the Covid-19 health 
emergency;
f) on 18 December 2019, when approving 
the draft financial statements at 30 September 
2019, the Board of Directors of Abitare In 
resolved to execute the first tranche of the 
free share capital increase approved by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting on 20 December 2018, 
to be assigned free of charge to employees 
through the issue of 16,248 ordinary shares of 
the Company;
g) on 15 January 2020, the Board of 
Directors also resolved to grant a mandate 
to the Chief Executive Officers to start the 
process of transferring the shares of Abitare In 
S.p.A. to the STAR segment of the MTA Market, 
which has always been one of the Company’s 
strategic objectives;
h) on 21 January 2020, Abitare In 
Development 4 s.r.l., a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Abitare In S.p.A., signed a preliminary 
agreement to acquire a new development 
area, located in the area south of Porta 
Romana, known as “SouPra” (Vigentino). The 
agreed consideration is Euro 16.1 million plus 
a maximum earn-out of an additional Euro 6.0 
million linked to the results of the real estate 
development transaction that will be realised 
on the site;
i) on 30 January 2020, on approval of 
the financial statements at 30 September 
2019, the Shareholders’ Meeting of Abitare 
In S.p.A. resolved to increase the number of 
members of the Board of Directors from 4 to 
5 and appointed Mr Giuseppe Vegas as a new 
independent director;
j) on 9 March 2020, the Board of 
Directors of Homizy S.p.A. resolved to give 
powers to the Chairman of Homizy’s Board 
of Directors, Marco Grillo, and to the Deputy 
Chairman, Luigi Gozzini, to fundraise on the 

FINANCIAL ASPECTS OF OPERATIONS

The table below shows the Net Financial Position.

market to strengthen Homizy’s capital, also with a 
view to providing it with the resources necessary 
to grasp any new opportunities offered on the 
market to acquire sites for the development of new 
business. The decision was followed by a resolution 
of Homizy’s Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 
2020, which approved a capital increase for Homizy 
for a maximum of Euro 12 million including the share 
premium, without pre-emption rights and therefore 
by offering it to third parties. The increase is to be 
carried out in cash, even in several tranches, by 30 
April 2021;
k) on 8 May 2020, the first tranche of the capital 
increase was executed through the subscription, by 
20 new shareholders, of 56,250 ordinary shares at a 
per unit subscription price of Euro 80, for an overall 
value of Euro 4.5 million;
I) in the last few days of April, at the end of the 
lockdown imposed by the authorities to contain the 
spread of Covid-19, construction work resumed on 
the real estate projects under construction (Abitare 
in Maggiolina, Milano City Village, Trilogy Towers, 
Palazzo Naviglio, Cadolini - “Former Plasmon” area, 
Olimpia Garden) with activities rescheduled after 
being suspended due to the containment measures. 
During the entire period, the Company continued 
to work on obtaining the authorisations needed 
for the various real estate development projects. 
It should be mentioned that the impact caused by 
the suspension of activities has varied according to 
the state of progress of the different sites. In fact, 
worksites in a more advanced stage of construction, 
such as Abitare in Maggiolina, suffered more in 
terms of timing and costs than worksites that were 
launched more recently;
m) on 25 May 2020, Abitare In Development 
7 s.r.l. signed the final contract to purchase the 
real estate complex located in the Corvetto area 
of Milan where work is currently under way on the 
development of the “Olimpia Garden” residential 
project, of which the marketing campaign has been 
very successful, especially considering the Covid-19 
emergency;
n) at the signing date of the final contract, Abitare 
In Development 7 s.r.l. also signed an agreement for 
a landed property loan with Intesa Sanpaolo for Euro 
17.0 million to acquire the property and complete 
construction;

be paid as a down payment on completion of 
the first stage of the authorisation process. The 
balance will be paid on the date of the notarial 
deed;
p) on 24 June 2020, upon approval of the 
half-yearly financial report at 31 March 2020, 
the Board of Directors of Abitare In resolved 
to issue the second - and last - tranche of the 
free share capital increase approved by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting on 18 December 2018, 
through the free issue of No. 22,730 ordinary 
shares of the Company in favour of No. 43 
beneficiaries, having the same characteristics 
as the shares currently outstanding.
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Investments Amount % of investments

Current liquidity 6,180,572 9.47 
Deferred liquidity 18,132,705 27.80 
Total current assets 24,313,277 37.27 
Intangible assets 2,121,732 3.25 
Property, plant and equipment 798,789 1.22 
Non-current financial assets 37,998,785 58.25 
Total non-current assets 40,919,306 62.73 
TOTAL INVESTMENTS 65,232,583 100.00 

Sources of funding Amount % of investments

Current liabilities 20,382,782 31.25 
Non-current liabilities 6,300,539 9.66
Total borrowings 26,683,321 40.90
Share capital 129,677 0.20 
Reserves and profit (loss) carried forward 38,238,923 58.62 
Profit (loss) for the year 180,662 0.28 
Total equity 38,549,262 59.10 
TOTAL SOURCES OF FUNDING 65,232,583 100.00 

Structure ratios Meaning Prior year Current year
Equity	to	non-current	assets	ratio 1.03														 0.94														

Equity
--------------------------

Non-current	assets	in	the	period

The	ratio	measures	the	ability	of	the	company’s	financial	
structure	to	cover	long-term	investments	using	its	equity.

Equity	+	non-current	liabilities	to	non-current	assets	ratio 1.32														 1.10														
Equity	+	Non-current	liabilities

--------------------------
Non-current	assets	in	the	period

The	ratio	measures	the	ability	of	the	company’s	financial	
structure	to	cover	long-term	investments	using	long-term	
sources	of	funding.

Equity and financial ratios Meaning Prior year Current year
Leverage	(financial	dependence) 1.36														 1.69														

Invested	capital
--------------------------

Equity
The	ratio	measures	the	use	of	debt	to	cover	invested	capital

Investment	flexibility	ratio 28.40												 37.27												

Current	assets
--------------------------
Invested	capital

This	ratio	is	used	to	define	the	breakdown	of	investments	in	
percentage	terms,	which	is	essentially	dependent	on	the	type	of	
business	activity	conducted	by	the	company	and	the	level	of	
flexibility	of	the	company’s	structure.	The	more	flexible	the	
structure	of	investments,	the	more	flexible	the	company	will	be	
in	adjusting	to	changing	market	conditions.

Financial	debt	ratio 0.36														 0.69														
Borrowings

--------------------------
Equity

This	ratio	reflects	the	level	of	equilibrium	of	financial	sources.

Profitability ratios Meaning Prior year Current year
Return	on	debt	(ROD) 1.15														 2.60														

Financial	expenses	for	the	year
--------------------------

Interest-bearing	debt	for	the	year

This	ratio	measures	the	remuneration	(%)	paid	to	external	
lenders,	based	on	the	interest	expense	accrued	in	the	period	on	
interest-bearing	debt

Return	on	sales	(ROS) 4.36-														 0.33														
EBIT	for	the	year

--------------------------
Net	sales	for	the	year

This	ratio	measures	the	operational	efficiency	(%)	of	current	
operating	activities	relative	to	sales.

Return	on	investment	(ROI) 0.44-														 0.04														
EBIT	

--------------------------
Invested	capital	for	the	year

This	ratio	provides	a	summary	measure	(%)	of	the	efficiency	of	
current	operating	activities	and	the	company’s	self-financing	
ability	regardless	of	its	financial	structure.

Return	on	Equity	(ROE) 0.74														 0.47														
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year
--------------------------

Equity

This	ratio	provides	a	summary	measure	(%)	of	the	overall	
efficiency	of	the	company	management	at	overall	level	and	the	
ability	to	make	a	return	on	equity.

Structure ratios Meaning Prior year Current year
Equity	to	non-current	assets	ratio 1.03														 0.94														

Equity
--------------------------

Non-current	assets	in	the	period

The	ratio	measures	the	ability	of	the	company’s	financial	
structure	to	cover	long-term	investments	using	its	equity.

Equity	+	non-current	liabilities	to	non-current	assets	ratio 1.32														 1.10														
Equity	+	Non-current	liabilities

--------------------------
Non-current	assets	in	the	period

The	ratio	measures	the	ability	of	the	company’s	financial	
structure	to	cover	long-term	investments	using	long-term	
sources	of	funding.

Equity and financial ratios Meaning Prior year Current year
Leverage	(financial	dependence) 1.36														 1.69														

Invested	capital
--------------------------

Equity
The	ratio	measures	the	use	of	debt	to	cover	invested	capital

Investment	flexibility	ratio 28.40												 37.27												

Current	assets
--------------------------
Invested	capital

This	ratio	is	used	to	define	the	breakdown	of	investments	in	
percentage	terms,	which	is	essentially	dependent	on	the	type	of	
business	activity	conducted	by	the	company	and	the	level	of	
flexibility	of	the	company’s	structure.	The	more	flexible	the	
structure	of	investments,	the	more	flexible	the	company	will	be	
in	adjusting	to	changing	market	conditions.

Financial	debt	ratio 0.36														 0.69														
Borrowings

--------------------------
Equity

This	ratio	reflects	the	level	of	equilibrium	of	financial	sources.

Profitability ratios Meaning Prior year Current year
Return	on	debt	(ROD) 1.15														 2.60														

Financial	expenses	for	the	year
--------------------------

Interest-bearing	debt	for	the	year

This	ratio	measures	the	remuneration	(%)	paid	to	external	
lenders,	based	on	the	interest	expense	accrued	in	the	period	on	
interest-bearing	debt

Return	on	sales	(ROS) 4.36-														 0.33														
EBIT	for	the	year

--------------------------
Net	sales	for	the	year

This	ratio	measures	the	operational	efficiency	(%)	of	current	
operating	activities	relative	to	sales.

Return	on	investment	(ROI) 0.44-														 0.04														
EBIT	

--------------------------
Invested	capital	for	the	year

This	ratio	provides	a	summary	measure	(%)	of	the	efficiency	of	
current	operating	activities	and	the	company’s	self-financing	
ability	regardless	of	its	financial	structure.

Return	on	Equity	(ROE) 0.74														 0.47														
Profit	(loss)	for	the	year
--------------------------

Equity

This	ratio	provides	a	summary	measure	(%)	of	the	overall	
efficiency	of	the	company	management	at	overall	level	and	the	
ability	to	make	a	return	on	equity.

The tables below show the reclassification of the Statement of financial position based on investments and 
sources of funding.

Pursuant to art. 2428 paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil Code, key financial and non-financial ratios are shown 
below.
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Location: Savona 105
(virtual photo - architectural detail)

via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona

Milan

DESCRIPTION OF THE MAIN RISKS AND UN-
CERTAINTIES TO WHICH THE COMPANY IS 
EXPOSED

In conducting its business activity, the Company 
is exposed to risks and uncertainties, caused by 
external factors linked to the macroeconomic 
scenario at overall level or specific to the Company’s 
sectors, and to internal operating risks and risks 
linked to the strategies adopted.

These risks are identified and mitigated on a 
systematic basis so as to allow the timely monitoring 
and control of such risks.

Although the Company has a centralised risk 
management procedure in place, the identification, 
monitoring and mitigation of these risks is carried 
out by the functions concerned in order to measure 
more effectively the impact that each risk has 
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and thus to reduce the occurrence of such 
risks and/or mitigate their impacts depending on 
the key factor (controllable or not by the Company).

Risks linked to the performance of the real estate 
market

The real estate market is affected by cyclical trends 
and by a range of variables, including, for example, 
the performance of the economy in general, 
changes in interest rates, the evolution of inflation, 
tax legislation and liquidity available on the market.
In the euro area, real estate growth is moving at a 
moderate pace but gradually speeding up, driven 
by internal demand components. Global economic 
uncertainties, in part influenced by geopolitical 
tensions, are the main factor of risk for the 
economic activity. In the context described above, 
it is difficult to determine what impacts will derive 
from the United Kingdom’s exit from the European 
Union and the protectionist trade measures 
implemented by the United States although, at the 
moment, it can be said that financial markets are 
increasingly unstable.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that a company will 
have insufficient funds to operate the business and 
develop its operating activities.
The two key factors that affect the Company’s 
liquidity are, on the one hand, the resources 
generated by or used in operating and investing 
activities, and on the other hand, the maturities and 
renewal dates of debt or the liquidity of financial 
investments and the market conditions. 
The financial resources raised by listing the Company 
on the AIM Italia market/Mercato Alternativo del 
Capitale, combined with the funds generated from 
the business, especially by investee companies, are 
sufficient to ensure the exact completion of the 
operating activities and the planned investments.

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the exposure to potential losses 
arising from a trade counterparty defaulting on its 
obligations.
The Company operates primarily through investee 
companies and this risk is therefore marginal 
considering its size.

Market risk 

In light of the type of business activity conducted, 
the Company is not directly exposed to the market 
risk, unlike its investee companies. Like any company 
in any sector, the companies of the “Abitare In” 
Group face the challenge of competition in their 
market, which might cause their market share, and 
consequently their turnover, to fall.
For this reason, the management of Abitare In S.p.A., 
and of each investee company, is committed to 
seeking and identifying investment opportunities 
and implementing increasingly advanced marketing 
and professional development initiatives that can 
help the Group grow and become one of the leading 
players in its market.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO ART. 2428 NO. 6 BIS 
OF THE ITALIAN CIVIL CODE

The Company does not have investments in financial 
assets.

COMPANY’S FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY AND POLICIES

The Company pursues the objective of containing 
financial risks through use of derivatives for hedging 
purposes and through a control system that is 
managed by the Administration Department and 
monitored by the Internal Audit Function.
The Company's financial risk hedging policy consists 
of hedging exchange rate risks on purchases and 
sales and hedging the risk of fluctuations in the price 
of raw materials by entering into non-speculative 
financial derivative contracts. Credit risks are 
hedged through periodic verification of customer 
reliability and the insurance schemes protecting 
trade receivables.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES 

During the reporting period, the Company made 
significant investments in Research and Development 
(totalling Euro 489,833) to develop the following 
activities: 
· MODELLO UNO and “BIM”
· VIRTUAL REALITY

In this respect, it should be noted that in May 2018, 
the Company registered with the special Innovative 
SMEs section of the Chamber of Commerce of Milan, 
Monza Brianza and Lodi.
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Item AID3	s.r.l. AID4	s.r.l. AID5	s.r.l. AID6	s.r.l. AID7	s.r.l. SV	105	s.r.l. AIM	s.r.l. MCV	s.r.l.
Revenue 78 137,034 78 8,606 2,239,682 2,097,412 195,892 961,169
Expenses 360,078 149,034 13,078 18,606 126,800 142,321 74,392 61,169
Interest	income	on	loans 23,958 33,584 8,482 26,908 42,113 57,384 -													 134,873
Trade	receivables 48,575 565,468 112 14,015 2,819,432 2,162,156 936,387 88,187
Financial	receivables 1,213,518 2,557,825 71,527 1,247,739 2,009,526 2,762,997 700,000 6,586,046
CNM	Receivables	(from	
national	and	global	
consolidation)

35,457 5,747 1,220 4,183 22,833 11,513 1,790,065 66,339

Trade	payables 151,007 -														 -													 -																				 -																	 -																	 -													 247,530
Financial	payables -																	 15,500 16,500 14,000 8,106 5,000 4,620,000 -																	

CNM	payables	(for	
national	and	global	
consolidation)

51,309 5,644 1,561 4,235 31,001 13,209 75,932 118,071

Item MyC	s.r.l. MI	s.r.l. ML	s.r.l. MP	s.r.l. TT	s.r.l. PN	s.r.l. SMC	s.r.l. MV	s.r.l.
Revenue 6,681 388,400					 -													 78																					 390,286									 1,994,700					 -													 87,360										
Expenses 6,681 145,400					 12,000							 78																					 22,516											 100,200									 6,000									 92,360										
Interest	income	on	loans 38,528											 13,729								 9,966									 212,006											 44,825											 35,969											 3																	 11,245										
Trade	receivables 144,068 421,897					 10,124							 2,967,152								 620,117									 945,994									 51,548							 87,394										
Financial	receivables 1,903,370					 838,729					 531,966					 10,518,829					 1,998,614					 1,667,850					 3																	 624,538								
CNM	Receivables	(from	
national	and	global	
consolidation)

22,284											 2,038										 2,221									 37,961													 27,790											 11,051											 500												 1,876													

Trade	payables -																	 -														 -													 20,595													 301,729									 -																	 -													 -																	
Financial	payables -																	 57,000								 15,500							 -																				 -																	 15,000											 6,000									 9,000													

CNM	payables	(for	
national	and	global	
consolidation)

13,501 2,411										 2,392									 79,959													 47,293											 25,033											 466												 1,990													

Item AL	s.r.l. VL	s.r.l. HO	S.p.A. HM	s.r.l. HN	s.r.l. Total
Revenue 156 78 78 -																				 -																	 8,507,769
Expenses 156 78 78 -																				 2,500 1,333,526
Interest	income	on	loans -																	 -														 1,567 -																				 -																	 695,141
Trade	receivables 160,500 422 56,820 34 34 12,100,438
Financial	receivables -																	 -														 2,035 -																				 -																	 35,235,113
CNM	Receivables	(from	
national	and	global	
consolidation)

-																	 -														 7,915 -																				 74 2,051,067

Trade	payables -																	 -														 -													 -																				 -																	 720,861
Financial	payables -																	 -														 1,157,098 -																				 2,500 5,941,203
CNM	payables	(for	
national	and	global	
consolidation)

207
202													 47,535							 540																			

-																	 522,491

TRANSACTIONS WITH SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES, CONTROLLING COMPANIES AND AFFILIATES

During the year, the Company carried out a number of business and financial transactions with the companies 
of the Group.
A summary of transactions carried out in the period is provided below.

The following related-party transactions were 
carried out in the reporting period:

- On 22 October 2019 the Company 
approved the signing of a comfort letter in favour 
of the subsidiary Nova City s.r.l. (now Palazzo 
Naviglio s.r.l.) to guarantee the amount granted 
to the subsidiary by UBI Banca under a landed 
property loan to acquire the property on which the 
Palazzo Naviglio real estate project will be built.
- On 21 January 2020 the Company approved 
the signing of a second comfort letter in favour of 
the subsidiary Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l. (formerly Nova 
City s.r.l.) to guarantee the amount granted to the 
subsidiary by UBI Banca under a landed property 
loan to acquire the property on which the Palazzo 
Naviglio real estate project will be built.
- On 18 March 2020 the Board of Directors 
of Abitare In S.p.A. approved the signing of the 
service agreement with Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l..
- On 12 June 2020 the Board of Directors 
approved the signing of a capitalisation commitment 
in favour of Banca Intesa, as guarantee for the 
landed property loan taken out by Abitare In 
Development 7 s.r.l. and also approved the pledge, 
again in favour of Banca Intesa, of the entire equity 
investment in Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l. to 
guarantee the fulfilment of the obligations under 
the landed property loan granted by it to AID7 
s.r.l..
No related-party transactions were carried out 
outside the Group.

INFORMATION ON MANAGEMENT AND 
COORDINATION ACTIVITIES

Pursuant to articles 2497 ff. of the Italian Civil 
Code, notice is given that the Company exercises 
management and coordination for the following 
companies:

• Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l.;
• Abitare in Development 3 s.r.l.;
• Abitare in Development 4 s.r.l.;
• Abitare in Development 5 s.r.l.;
• Abitare in Development 6 s.r.l.;
• Abitare in Development 7 s.r.l.;
• Savona 105 s.r.l. (formerly AID8 s.r.l.);
• Alibranda s.r.l.;

• Milano Progetti s.r.l.;
• Milano Living s.r.l.;
• Milano City Village s.r.l.;
• Homizy S.p.A.;
• Hommi s.r.l.;
• Housenow s.r.l.;
• Mica s.r.l.;
• Mivivi s.r.l.;
• Mycity s.r.l.;
• Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l.;
• Smartcity s.r.l.;
• Trilogy Towers s.r.l.;
• Volaplana s.r.l..

TREASURY SHARES AND SHARES/QUOTAS OF 
CONTROLLING COMPANIES

Pursuant to points 3) and 4), paragraph 2 of art. 
2428 of the Italian Civil Code, the Company 
confirms that it has not held treasury shares in the 
reporting period. 

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Pursuant to art. 2427 no. 22 quater) of the Italian 
Civil Code, notice is given that the following events 
occurred after the reporting date:

The handover of the real estate units of the 
Abitare in Maggiolina complex continued and 
has now reached 115 units (92%). Abitare In 
continued work at the construction sites and the 
procedures to obtain authorisations for the sites 
in the pipeline, which includes over 230,000 m2 of 
net saleable area across 17 projects located in the 
highest growth areas of city.
On 6 November 2020, the Board of Directors of 
Abitare In also confirmed the continuation of the 
activities necessary to move to the STAR segment 
of the MTA market and consequently called the 
Shareholders’ Meeting to discuss the programme 
and pass the required resolutions.

OUTLOOK

Based on the information available, performance 
in the current period is expected to be in line with 
the previous year.
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ALLOCATION OF THE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

A proposal is made to the Shareholders’ Meeting 
called to approve the financial statements to carry 
forward the profit for year, amounting to Euro 
180,662.

on behalf of the Board of Directors
the Chairman

Luigi Gozzini
_______________________________

Location: Savona 105,
(virtual photo - entrance lobby)

via Savona 105
Neighbourhood: Tortona

Milan
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Annual Report at 30 September 2020

REPORTS

  

 

 

Board of Statutory Auditors’ Report 1 

 

ABITARE IN S.P.A. 
 
Registered office: VIA DEGLI OLIVETANI 10/12 MILAN (MI) 
Registered at the Milan Companies’ Register  
Tax code and registration number: 09281610965 
Milan Economic Administrative Register (REA) No.: 2080582 - Milan Province 
Subscribed and paid up Share Capital Euro 129,677 
VAT No.: 09281610965  

Board of Statutory Auditors’ Report 
accompanying the Consolidated 
Financial Statements at 30.09.2020 
Dear Shareholders, 

We have examined the Consolidated Financial Statements at 30 September 2020 of ABITARE IN S.p.A., as 

prepared by the Directors and approved by the Board of Directors on 24/11/2020.  

The Board of Statutory Auditors does not audit the accounts since this task has been assigned to the auditing firm 

BDO Italia S.p.A.. Consequently, our examination of the Consolidated Financial Statements is aimed solely at 

verifying the consolidation criteria and compliance with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code. 

The Board of Directors has defined the scope of consolidation, which, from the period ended 30/09/2020, has 

been extended to investee companies over which the parent company exercises formal and substantial control, in 

compliance with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code. The scope of consolidation therefore includes the 

following companies: 

- Abitare in Maggiolina s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli 

Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 100,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Abitare In Development 3 s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli 

Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;  

- Milano City Village s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli 

Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;  

- Milano Progetti s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 

10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.;  
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- Alibranda s.r.l., with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000; 

- Volaplana s.r.l., with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000; 

The Company applies the international accounting standards IAS/IFRS in the consolidated financial statements, 

on a voluntary basis.  

The subsidiaries prepare separate financial statements in accordance with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code 

and in compliance with the National Accounting Standards. The Company has therefore aligned those standards 

with the IAS/IFRS to ensure consistency with the accounting standards adopted by the Group. 

A summary of the Consolidated Financial Statements at 30/09/2020 is provided below (amounts in Euro/000): 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

ASSETS 30.09.20 

Property, plant and equipment 6,460,386 

Intangible assets  

Equity investments in other companies 

Deferred tax assets 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Inventory 

1,264,744 

2,296,000 

883,153 

10,904,283 

139,058,289 

Trade receivables 585,837 

Other current assets 

Current tax assets 

Current financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

14,386,768 

1,702,618 

- 

35,480,995 

191,214,507 

TOTAL ASSETS 202,118,790 

Share capital  129,677 

Reserves 37,163,534 

Profit (loss) carried forward 11,354,847 

Profit (loss) for the year 9,197,205 
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- MyCity s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 

- Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Trilogy Towers s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 

10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Abitare In Development 4 s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli 

Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Abitare In Development 5 s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli 

Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Abitare In Development 6 s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli 

Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Abitare In Development 7 s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli 

Olivetani 10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Savona 105 s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 

10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Homizy S.p.A., a single shareholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 

- Share Capital Euro 10,000.=. – 88.44% owned by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Hommi s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 

- Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A. through Homizy S.p.A.; 

- Housenow s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 

- Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A. through Homizy S.p.A.; 

- Mica s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - 

Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Milano Living s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 

10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Mivivi s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 - 

Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Palazzo Naviglio s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 

10/12 - Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

- Smartcity s.r.l., a single quotaholder company with registered office in Milan at via degli Olivetani 10/12 

- Quota Capital Euro 10,000.=. – wholly-owned (100%) by Abitare In S.p.A.; 

Compared with the previous year, the following companies are now included in the scope of consolidation: 
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EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 

OWNERS OF THE PARENT 

57,845,263 

TOTAL EQUITY 58,343,480 

Non-current financial liabilities 39,224,134 

Employee benefits 246,904 

Other non-current liabilities  481,445 

Down payments and deposits 45,256,329 

Deferred tax liabilities 4,058,460 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 89,267,272 

Current financial liabilities 22,405,876 

Trade payables 12,499,970 

Other current liabilities 5,621,730 

Down payments and deposits 12,131,074 

Current tax liabilities 1,849,389 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 54,508,039 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 202,118,790 

INCOME STATEMENT 

Total revenue 73,076,333 

Total operating expenses 64,981,624 

EBIT  8,094,709 

Financial income and expenses 3,115,969 

EBT   11,210,678 

Income taxes for the year  -2,028,550 

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 9,182,128 
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We have verified the correct definition of the scope of consolidation, the indication of the consolidation 

principles, the correct application of IAS/IFRS and the preparation of the documents required under IAS 1, 

namely: a statement of financial position as at the end of the period, a statement of profit and loss and other 

comprehensive income for the period, a statement of changes in equity for the period, a statement of cash flows 

for the period, notes to the financial statements and comparative information with respect to the previous year. 

We believe that the Consolidated Financial Statements at 30/09/2020, comprised of the documents above, give a 

true and fair view of the Group’s earnings, cash flows and financial position for the reporting period. Furthermore, 

the Directors’ Report provides additional information on the Group’s operations in the period ended 30/09/2020. 

We have also verified that the independent auditor appointed by the Company has issued an opinion on the 

Consolidated Financial Statements at 30/09/2020 and has not identified any issues or raised objections to the 

approval of the said financial statements. 

We can also confirm that there have been no departures from the provisions governing basis of preparation, 

mandatory financial statements and measurement criteria. 

We are therefore in favour of approving the Consolidated Financial Statements at 30.09.2020, which closed with 

a profit of Euro 9,182,128.= for the Group. 

Milan, 7 December 2020 

The Board of Statutory Auditors    

 (Ivano Passoni) 

 

(Marco Dorizzi) 

 

(Matteo Ceravolo) 
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ABITARE IN S.P.A. 
 
Registered office: VIA DEGLI OLIVETANI 10/12 MILAN (MI) 
Registered at the Milan Companies’ Register  
Tax code and registration number: 09281610965 
Milan Economic Administrative Register (REA) No.: 2080582 - Milan Province 
Subscribed and paid up Share Capital Euro 129,677 
VAT No.: 09281610965  

Board of Statutory Auditors’ Report 
Separate Financial Statements at 30/09/2020 
 
 
Dear Shareholders, given that, pursuant to the current Articles of Association, the Company’s Board of Statutory Auditors 
is only required to perform legal and administrative supervisory duties, having the auditing firm BDO Italia S.p.A. been 
appointed to conduct the statutory audit of the Company’s accounts, this report gives an account of the activities completed 
with regard to legal supervision.  

Report for the shareholders’ meeting pursuant to art. 2429, paragraph 
2 of the Italian Civil Code - Administrative supervision 

In the period ended 30/09/2020, our work was based on laws in force and the Rules of Conduct for Boards of Statutory 
Auditors issued by the National Council of Chartered Accountants and Accounting Experts, in compliance with which we 
carried out a self-assessment, with a positive outcome, for each member of the Board of Statutory Auditors.  
 

Supervisory activities pursuant to art. 2403 ff. of the Italian Civil Code 
The draft Separate Financial Statements at 30/09/2020, which the Board of Directors has submitted for our examination 
pursuant to art. 2429 of the Italian Civil Code, have been drawn up in compliance with the national accounting standards 
and include: 
• Statement of Financial Position 
• Income Statement 
• Statement of Cash Flows 
• Notes to the Financial Statements 
The Company made a profit of Euro 180,662 in the period, as reflected in the following summary data. 

Statement of Financial Position 

Description 2020 2019 Change 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 40,919,306 37,366,813 3,552,493 
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Description 2020 2019 Change 

CURRENT ASSETS 23,791,560 14,261,007 9,530,553 

ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES 521,717 562,088 40.371- 

TOTAL ASSETS 65,232,583 52,189,908 13,042,675 

 

Description 2020 2019 Change 

EQUITY 38,549,262 38,368,599 180,663 

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 190,481 148,926 41,555 

SEVERANCE INDEMNITY RESERVE (TFR) 177,517 91,395 86,122 

PAYABLES 26,116,972 13,483,782 12,633,190 

ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES 198,351 97,206 101,145 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 65,232,583 52,189,908 13,042,675 

 

Income Statement 

Description 2020 2019 Change 

PRODUCTION VALUE 8,710,633 5,433,387 3,277,246 

REVENUE FROM SALES AND SERVICES 8,528,301 5,323,503 3,204,798 

PRODUCTION COSTS 8,682,104 5,665,382 3,016,722 

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PRODUCTION VALUE AND COSTS (A - B) 28,529 231.995- 260,524 

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (A-B+-C+-D) 350,803 507,035 156.232- 

CURRENT, DEFERRED AND PREPAID INCOME TAXES 170,141 224,970 54.829- 

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 180,662 282,065 101.403- 

 
 
During the reporting period, we monitored compliance with the laws in force and the Articles of Association and the 
observance of the principles of sound management. 
The following comments are made with regard to the monitoring activity:  

● the basis of preparation of the financial statements at 30/09/2020 is consistent with that adopted in the financial 
statements of the prior year. 

● We have monitored compliance with the laws in force and the Memorandum of Association, as well as the 
observance of the principles of sound management. 

● We have attended the Shareholders’ Meetings and the meetings of the Board of Directors and, based on the 
information available, we have not found evidence of any violations of the law or the Articles of Association, or 
any transactions which were manifestly imprudent, risky, in potential conflict of interest or in contrast with the 
resolutions passed by the Shareholders’ Meeting or such as to compromise the integrity of the Company’s assets.  

● We have obtained from the Board of Directors, also during the meetings held, information on the Company’s 
overall performance and outlook, in particular concerning the impacts of the COVID-19 health emergency in the 
first months of 2020, on the risk factors and significant uncertainties relating to business continuity, including the 
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business plans prepared to deal with such risks and uncertainties, and on the most significant transactions, in terms 
of size or characteristics, executed by the Company and its subsidiaries. Based on the information obtained, we 
have no particular comments to make. 

● We have acquired knowledge of and monitored the adequacy of the organisational structure and its functioning, 
and the measures adopted by the Board of Directors to deal with the COVID-19 emergency, also by gathering 
information from the heads of the relevant functions. In this regard, we have no particular comments to make. 

● We have knowledge of and have monitored, to the extent of our responsibilities, the adequacy and functioning of 
the administrative and accounting system and its reliability in terms of fairly representing operations. To this end, 
we have gathered information from the heads of the relevant functions and examined company documents. In this 
regard, we have no particular comments to make. 

● We have not found evidence of any atypical or unusual transactions, including transactions with Group companies 
and related parties. 

● No complaints pursuant to art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code or claims have been received from third parties. 

●          During the period, no legally required opinions have been issued by the Board of Statutory Auditors.  

● In the course of the supervisory activity, and on the basis of the information obtained, no omissions, reprehensible 
conduct, irregularities or significant matters that would require reporting or mention in this report were noted. 

● In view of the above, the Board of Statutory Auditors believes that, at overall level, the results for the period are 
in line with the forecasts and forward-looking assessments made by the Board of Directors. 
 

Comments on the Financial Statements 
Following the in-depth examination of the Financial Statements at 30/09/2020, the following comments are made:  

● pursuant to art. 2426, paragraph 5, of the Italian Civil Code, the Board of Statutory Auditors acknowledges that, 
with its consent, start-up and expansion costs with a useful life of more than one year are recognised under assets 
in the Statement of Financial Position. 

● Pursuant to art. 2426, paragraph 5, of the Italian Civil Code, the Board of Statutory Auditors acknowledges that, 
with its consent, development costs with a useful life of more than one year are recognised under assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

● Pursuant to art. 2426, paragraph 6, of the Italian Civil Code, the Board of Statutory Auditors confirms that no set-
up costs have been recognised under assets in the Statement of Financial Position. 

● We have verified compliance with the laws in force, in terms of both the structure and formal/non-formal content 
of the Financial Statements. 

● We have also verified the observance of the law in the drafting of the Directors’ Report. 

● In drawing up the Financial Statements, the Board of Directors has not made use of the exemptions provided for 
in art. 2423, paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Italian Civil Code with regard to the preparation of financial statements. 

● The financial statements are consistent with the business events in the period and with the information that has 
come to our attention in the performance of our functions. 

● We also confirm that we have verified the measurement criteria pursuant to art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code and 
that our supervisory duties have been fulfilled with the aim of preserving the integrity of the Company’s assets. 

● We acknowledge that the Company’s independent auditor has issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial 
Statements at 30/09/2020. 
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Comments and proposals concerning the approval of the Financial Statements 
In consideration of the above and taking into account the information received from the Company, there are no objections 
to the approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting of the Financial Statements at 30/09/2020, as presented by the Board of 
Directors.  
There are no comments on the Board of Directors’ proposal concerning the allocation of the profit for the year.  
 
 
Milan, 7/12/2020  
 
The Board of Statutory Auditors    
(Ivano Passoni) 
 
 
(Marco Dorizzi) 
 
 
(Matteo Ceravolo) 
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Relazione della società di revisione indipendente 
redatta ai fini del regolamento emittenti AIM Italia 
 
Agli azionisti della  
Abitare In S.p.A. 
 
 
Relazione sulla revisione contabile del bilancio consolidato 

Giudizio 

Abbiamo svolto la revisione contabile del bilancio consolidato del Gruppo Abitare In S.p.A. (il Gruppo), 
costituito dalla situazione patrimoniale-finanziaria consolidata al 30 settembre 2020, dal conto 
economico consolidato, dal conto economico complessivo consolidato, dal prospetto delle variazioni del 
patrimonio netto consolidato, dal rendiconto finanziario consolidato  
dalle altre note esplicative al bilancio che includono anche la sintesi dei più significativi principi contabili 
applicati. 

A nostro giudizio, il bilancio consolidato fornisce una rappresentazione veritiera e corretta della 
situazione patrimoniale e finanziaria del Gruppo al 30 settembre 2020, del risultato economico e dei 

Standard  

 

Elementi alla base del giudizio 

Abbiamo svolto la revisione contabile in conformità ai principi di revisione internazionali (ISA Italia). Le 
nostre responsabilità ai sensi di tali principi sono ulteriormente descritte nella sezione Responsabilità 
della società di revisione per la revisione contabile del bilancio consolidato della presente relazione. 
Siamo indipendenti rispetto alla Società Abitare In S.p.A. in conformità alle norme e ai principi in materia 
di etica e di visione contabile del bilancio. 
Riteniamo di aver acquisito elementi probativi sufficienti ed appropriati su cui basare il nostro giudizio.  

Altri aspetti 

La presente relazione non è emessa ai sensi di legge, stante il fatto che gli amministratori della 
capogruppo Abitare In S.p.A. hanno predisposto a titolo volontario il bilancio consolidato ai fini del 
regolamento emittenti AIM Italia. 

Responsabilità degli amministratori e del collegio sindacale per il bilancio consolidato 

Gli amministratori sono responsabili per la redazione del bilancio consolidato che fornisca una 
rappresentazione veritiera e corretta in conformità alle norme italiane che ne disciplinano i criteri di 
redazione e, nei termini previsti dalla legge, per quella parte del controllo interno dagli stessi ritenuta 
necessaria per consentire la redazione di un bilancio che non contenga errori significativi dovuti a frodi o a 
comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali. 

Gli amministratori sono responsabili per la valutazione della capacità della Gruppo di continuare ad 
consolidato

Gli amministratori utilizzano il presupposto della continuità aziendale nella redazione del bilancio 
consolidato a meno che abbiano valutato che sussistono le condizioni per la liquidazione della capogruppo 
Abitare In S.p.A.  

Il collegio sindacale ha la responsabilità della vigilanza, nei termini previsti dalla legge, sul processo di 
 Gruppo. 
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Responsabilità della società di revisione per la revisione contabile del bilancio consolidato 

consolidato nel suo 
complesso non contenga errori significativi, dovuti a frodi o a comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali, e 

un livello elevato di sicurezza che, tuttavia, non fornisce la garanzia che una revisione contabile svolta in 
conformità ai principi di revisione internazionali (ISA Italia) individui sempre un errore significativo, 
qualora esistente. Gli errori possono derivare da frodi o da comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali e sono 
considerati significativi qualora ci si possa ragionevolmente attendere che essi, singolarmente o nel loro 
insieme, siano in grado di influenzare le decisioni economiche prese dagli utilizzatori sulla base del 
bilancio consolidato. 

ormità ai principi di revisione internazionali (ISA Italia), 
abbiamo esercitato il giudizio professionale e abbiamo mantenuto lo scetticismo professionale per tutta la 
durata della revisione contabile. Inoltre: 

 abbiamo identificato e valutato i rischi di errori significativi nel bilancio consolidato, dovuti a frodi 
o a comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali; abbiamo definito e svolto procedure di revisione in 
risposta a tali rischi; abbiamo acquisito elementi probativi sufficienti ed appropriati su cui basare 
il nostro giudizio. Il rischio di non individuare un errore significativo dovuto a frodi è più elevato 
rispetto al rischio di non individuare un errore significativo derivante da comportamenti o eventi 
non i
intenzionali, rappresentazioni fuorvianti o forzature del controllo interno; 

 abbiamo acquisito una comprensione del controllo interno rilevante ai fini della revisione 
contabile allo scopo di definire procedure di revisione appropriate nelle circostanze e non per 

 Gruppo;  

 abbiamo valutato l'appropriatezza dei principi contabili utilizzati nonché la ragionevolezza delle 
stime contabili effettuate dagli amministratori, inclusa la relativa informativa; 

 siamo giunti ad una conclusione sull'appropriatezza dell'utilizzo da parte degli amministratori del 
presupposto della continuità aziendale e, in base agli 
esistenza di una incertezza significativa riguardo a eventi o circostanze che possono far sorgere 
dubbi significativi sulla capacità del Gruppo 
funzionamento. In presenza di un'incertezza significativa, siamo tenuti a richiamare l'attenzione 
nella relazione di revisione sulla relativa informativa di bilancio, ovvero, qualora tale informativa 
sia inadeguata, a riflettere tale circostanza nella formulazione del nostro giudizio. Le nostre 
conclusioni sono basate sugli elementi probativi acquisiti fino alla data della presente relazione. 
Tuttavia, eventi o circostanze successivi possono comportare che il Gruppo cessi di operare come 

 

 abbiamo valutato la presentazione, la struttura e il contenuto del bilancio consolidato nel suo 
complesso, inclusa l'informativa, e se il bilancio consolidato rappresenti le operazioni e gli eventi 
sottostanti in modo da fornire una corretta rappresentazione. 

Abbiamo comunicato ai responsabili delle attività di governance, identificati ad un livello appropriato 
come richiesto dagli ISA Italia, tra gli altri aspetti, la portata e la tempistica pianificate per la revisione 
contabile e i risultati significativi emersi, incluse le eventuali carenze significative nel controllo interno 
identificate nel corso della revisione contabile. 

 

Milano, 7 dicembre 2020 
 

BDO Italia S.p.A. 
 
 

Manuel Coppola 
                                                                                                                                Socio 

 

 

MCP/VDL/cpt - RC058152020BD0600 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Abitare In S.p.A. 

Relazione della società di revisione 

D.Lgs. 27 gennaio 2010, n. 39  

30 settembre 2020 
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Relazione della società di revisione indipendente 
ai se art. 14 del D.Lgs. 27 gennaio 2010, n. 39  
 
 
Agli azionisti della  
Abitare In S.p.A. 
 
 
 

 

Giudizio 

Abitare In S.p.A. (la Società) costituito 
dallo stato patrimoniale al 30 settembre 2020, dal conto economico, dal rendiconto finanziario per 

 

situazione patrimoniale e finanziaria della Società al 30 settembre 2020, del risultato economico e dei 

criteri di redazione. 

 

Elementi alla base del giudizio 

Abbiamo svolto la revisione contabile in conformità ai principi di revisione internazionali (ISA Italia). Le 
nostre responsabilità ai sensi di tali principi sono ulteriormente descritte nella sezione Responsabilità 
della società di revisione per la revisio della presente relazione. 
Siamo indipendenti rispetto alla Società in conformità alle norme e ai principi in materia di etica e di 

o. Riteniamo di aver 
acquisito elementi probativi sufficienti ed appropriati su cui basare il nostro giudizio. 

 

 

Gli amministratori sono responsabili per la redazione 
rappresentazione veritiera e corretta in conformità alle norme italiane che ne disciplinano i criteri di 
redazione e, nei termini previsti dalla legge, per quella parte del controllo interno dagli stessi ritenuta 
necessaria per consentire la redazione di un bilancio che non contenga errori significativi dovuti a frodi o a 
comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali. 

Gli amministratori sono responsabili per la valutazione della capacità della Società di continuare ad 
ope

Gli amministratori utilizzano il presupposto della continuità aziendale nella redazione del bilancio 

 

Il collegio sindacale ha la responsabilità della vigilanza, nei termini previsti dalla legge, sul processo di 
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complesso non contenga errori significativi, dovuti a frodi o a comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali, e 

un livello elevato di sicurezza che, tuttavia, non fornisce la garanzia che una revisione contabile svolta in 
conformità ai principi di revisione internazionali (ISA Italia) individui sempre un errore significativo, 
qualora esistente. Gli errori possono derivare da frodi o da comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali e sono 
considerati significativi qualora ci si possa ragionevolmente attendere che essi, singolarmente o nel loro 
insieme, siano in grado di influenzare le decisioni economiche prese dagli utilizzatori sulla base del 

 

ito della revisione contabile svolta in conformità ai principi di revisione internazionali (ISA Italia), 
abbiamo esercitato il giudizio professionale e abbiamo mantenuto lo scetticismo professionale per tutta la 
durata della revisione contabile. Inoltre: 

 a
o a comportamenti o eventi non intenzionali; abbiamo definito e svolto procedure di revisione in 
risposta a tali rischi; abbiamo acquisito elementi probativi sufficienti ed appropriati su cui basare 
il nostro giudizio. Il rischio di non individuare un errore significativo dovuto a frodi è più elevato 
rispetto al rischio di non individuare un errore significativo derivante da comportamenti o eventi 
non in
intenzionali, rappresentazioni fuorvianti o forzature del controllo interno; 

 abbiamo acquisito una comprensione del controllo interno rilevante ai fini della revisione 
contabile allo scopo di definire procedure di revisione appropriate nelle circostanze e non per 

 

 abbiamo valutato l'appropriatezza dei principi contabili utilizzati nonché la ragionevolezza delle 
stime contabili effettuate dagli amministratori, inclusa la relativa informativa; 

 siamo giunti ad una conclusione sull'appropriatezza dell'utilizzo da parte degli amministratori del 
presupposto della continuità aziendale e, in base agl
esistenza di una incertezza significativa riguardo a eventi o circostanze che possono far sorgere 

funzionamento. In presenza di un'incertezza significativa, siamo tenuti a richiamare l'attenzione 
nella relazione di revisione sulla relativa informativa di bilancio, ovvero, qualora tale informativa 
sia inadeguata, a riflettere tale circostanza nella formulazione del nostro giudizio. Le nostre 
conclusioni sono basate sugli elementi probativi acquisiti fino alla data della presente relazione. 
Tuttavia, eventi o circostanze successivi possono comportare che la Società cessi di operare come 

 

 abbiamo v

sottostanti in modo da fornire una corretta rappresentazione. 

Abbiamo comunicato ai responsabili delle attività di governance, identificati ad un livello appropriato 
come richiesto dagli ISA Italia, tra gli altri aspetti, la portata e la tempistica pianificate per la revisione 
contabile e i risultati significativi emersi, incluse le eventuali carenze significative nel controllo interno 
identificate nel corso della revisione contabile. 
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Relazione su altre disposizioni di legge e regolamentari 

ttera e), del D.Lgs. 39/10  

Gli amministratori della Abitare In S.p.A. sono responsabili per la predisposizione della relazione sulla 
gestione della Abitare In S.p.A. al 30 settembre 2020, incluse la sua coerenza con il relativo bilancio 

legge. 

Abbiamo svolto le procedure indicate nel principio di revisione (SA Italia) n. 720B al fine di esprimere un 
Abitare In S.p.A. al 30 

settembre 2020 e sulla conformità della stessa alle norme di legge, nonché di rilasciare una dichiarazione 
su eventuali errori significativi. 

Abitare In S.p.A. al 
30 settembre 2020 ed è redatta in conformità alle norme di legge. 

rso 
 

 
Milano, 7 dicembre 2020 
 
 

BDO Italia S.p.A. 
 
 

Manuel Coppola 
Socio 
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